
 

1 
 

 
 

North West London Joint Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

Tuesday 12 September 2023 at 10.00 am 
Committee Rooms 3/4, Hornton Street Town Hall, London, W8 7BH 

 
 
This meeting will be hosted by the  Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea. Please see 
the main agenda pack below for further information. 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



N o t i c e  o f  M e e t i n g 
North West London Joint Health Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee 
Tuesday, 12 September 2023 at 10.00 am  

Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea 
Link to livestream broadcast: 
youtube.com/kensingtonandchelsea 

Contact: Emily Beard 

Tel: 07790 979247 

E-mail: emily.beard@rbkc.gov.uk 

Website: www.rbkc.gov.uk 

Issue Date: Monday, 4 September 2023 

 

Chief Executive – Maxine Holdsworth   
 

 

 

Membership: Cllr Ketan Sheth (Chair), Cllr Daniel Crawford (Vice-Chair), Cllr Nick Denys, 
Cllr Chetna Halai, Cllr Lucy Knight, Cllr Natalia Perez, Cllr Angela Piddock, Cllr Marina 
Sharma and Cllr Claire Vollum 
 

FILMING, BROADCASTING AND BLOGGING – Please note that this meeting is 
open to the press and public and will be broadcast via the Council's website. 
Additionally members of the press and public may film, tweet, blog etc. from those 
parts of the meeting room allocated as public seating.  It is important, however, that 
councillors can discuss and take decisions without disruption so any activity of a 
manifestly disruptive nature will not be permitted.  Generally the public seating areas, 
especially those further back, are not ‘in shot’, however the Council cannot guarantee 
that any part of the room or any seat cannot or will not be filmed and as such, by 
entering the meeting room, you are consenting to being filmed. 

 
 

 
Agenda 

72 SECONDS' SILENCE 
 
There will be 72 seconds’ silence to remember those who lost their lives in the 
Grenfell tragedy. 

 
  Pages 

  
1.   Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members  

 

 

 
2.   Declarations of Interest  

 

 

 
3.   Minutes of the previous meeting  3 - 10 

Page 1Page 1

Agenda Item 1

http://www.youtube.com/kensingtonandchelsea
http://www.rbkc.gov.uk/


 

 

 
 
4.   Matters Arising  

 

 

 
5.   Proposals for Consultation on the North West London wider 

review of Palliative Care  

 

11 - 196 

 
6.   Consultation Proposals on the Future of the Gordon Hospital  

 

197 - 
202 

 
7.   North West London Mental Health Strategy  

 

203 - 
206 

 
8.   London Joint Health Overview Scrutiny Committee 

Recommendations Tracker  

 

207 - 
232 

 
9.   Any other urgent business  

 

 

 
The next ordinary meeting of the North West London Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee will take place at 
10.00 am on Tuesday, 5 December 2023 

 

Page 2Page 2



 

 

Minutes 
 
NORTH WEST LONDON JOINT HEALTH 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
18 July 2023 
 
Meeting held at Committee Room 6 - Civic Centre, 
High Street, Uxbridge UB8 1UW 
 

 

 Committee Members Present:  
Councillor Ketan Sheth (Chair) (Brent), Councillor Natalia Perez (Vice-Chair) 
(Hammersmith & Fulham), Councillor Nick Denys (Hillingdon), Councillor Chetna Halai 
(Harrow), Councillor Lucy Knight (RB Kensington & Chelsea), 
Councillor Angela Piddock (Westminster), Councillor Marina Sharma (Hounslow), 
Councillor Claire Vollum (Richmond upon Thames) and Councillor Ben Wesson 
(Ealing) 
 
Also Present: 
Sarah Bellman, Assistant Director Communications and Engagement, North West 
London Integrated Care System (NWL ICS) 
Dr Bob Klaber, Director of Strategy, Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 
Joe Nguyen, SRO Musculoskeletal Services / Borough Director (Westminster), North 
West London Integrated Care System (NWL ICS) 
Rob Hurd (virtual), Chief Executive, North West London Integrated Care System (NWL 
ICS) 
 
Officers Present:  
Sudheesh Bhasi (Harrow), James Diamond (RB Kensington & Chelsea), Linda Hunting 
(Westminster), George Kockelbergh (Brent), Nikki O'Halloran (Hillingdon), Tom Pickup 
(Brent) and Sandra Taylor (Hillingdon) 
  

1.     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND CLARIFICATION OF ALTERNATE MEMBERS  
(Agenda Item 1) 
 

 There had been no apologies for absence. 
  

2.     ELECTION OF CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR  (Agenda Item 2) 
 

 RESOLVED:  That:  
1. Councillor Ketan Sheth be elected as Chair of the North West London Joint 

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the 2023/2024 municipal year;  
2. Councillor Natalia Perez be elected as the Vice Chair of the North West 

London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the 2023/2024 
municipal year; and  

3. the Committee's thanks be passed to the previous Vice Chair, Dan 
Crawford, for his years of service to the Committee.   

  
3.     DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  (Agenda Item 3) 

 
 Councillor Ketan Sheth declared a non-pecuniary interest in the agenda, as he was a 

governor at Central and North West London NHS Foundation Trust, and remained in 
the room during the consideration thereof.   

Page 3

Agenda Item 3

Page 3



 

 
Councillor Ben Wesson declared a non-pecuniary interest in the agenda, as he was 
employed by the Nursing and Midwifery Council, and remained in the room during the 
consideration thereof.   
  

4.     MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  (Agenda Item 4) 
 

 RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 8 March 2023 be agreed as 
a correct record.   
  

5.     MATTERS ARISING (IF ANY)  (Agenda Item 5) 
 

 There were no matters arising.   
  

6.     NORTH WEST LONDON STRATEGY FOR PROVISION OF ACUTE BEDS  (Agenda 
Item 6) 
 

 Mr Rob Hurd, Chief Executive at North West London Integrated Care System (NWL 
ICS), apologised for not being able to attend the meeting in person.  The NWL Joint 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) had requested a report on the NWL 
ICS strategy for the provision of acute beds and the impact that the Government's 
decision to postpone delivery of three 'new' hospitals in NWL would have on this.  It 
was noted that the objective had been to increase care for patients in their own homes 
where appropriate rather than increase the number of hospital beds to address 
inappropriate demand.  Mr Hurd advised that the ICS needed to get maximum impact 
from spend so would be following evidence and adopting appropriate models of care.   
 
It was recognised that the number of beds was measurable but that it was more 
important to look at the bigger picture to identify what action needed to be taken to 
improve the situation for patients.  The overall strategy was not to continue with the 
current acute bed situation in NWL but to respond to varying demand pressures as 
they arose throughout the year.  System capacity remained a major challenge so the 
Hillingdon Hospital rebuild was a cause for celebration.   
 
Dr Bob Klaber, Director of Strategy, Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust (ICH), 
advised that ICH had worked closely with the Department for Health and Social Care 
and the New Hospitals Programme (NHP) team.  There had been some issues raised 
in relation to capacity as most hospitals were currently often running at capacity. 
 
It wasn't possible to talk about demand and capacity without talking about need and it 
was important that new hospitals were built at the right size to meet the need.  To this 
end, the Greater London Authority (GLA) figures and predictions for future size had 
been used to ensure that new hospitals met future needs.  These had been the same 
figures used by local authorities for planning (rather than using Office for National 
Statistics data).  Dr Klaber suggested that needs had to be addressed to be able to 
tackle the inequalities that existed in NWL. 
 
The Government had recently made an announcement about the NHP which had been 
positive for Hillingdon.  However, there was still lots of work to be done in relation to the 
rebuild of St Mary's Hospital major trauma centre as one ward had already been closed 
and the longer timescales made it difficult to run the hospital effectively.  Charing Cross 
and Hammersmith had been combined as one scheme with the associated funding 
pushed back beyond 2030 but this was likely to be a phased rebuild which would make 
funding a little easier.   

Page 4Page 4



 

 
Insofar at St Mary's Hospital was concerned, concern was expressed about the impact 
that no action would have on inner London.  Dr Klaber noted that if the hospital was not 
rebuilt, it increased the risk of catastrophic failure.  A 24 bed ward had already been 
temporarily closed so funding needed to be brought forward from 2030.  It was 
anticipated that there would be slippage on other schemes that had been included in 
the Programme so St Mary's just needed to continue to work in partnership and be 
ready to take advantage of any opportunity that arose from this.   
 
Dr Klaber noted that ICH undertook more research than other Trusts but needed to 
take a new approach to funding.  As such, consideration was being given to the 
possibility of securing part of the funding for the project from the Government and 
raising the remainder from land sales.  Previously, consideration had only been given 
to full public funding but there was now a willingness and openness to working through 
alternative ways of funding the project to get the best outcome for local residents.  It 
would be important to not just focus on the exciting things that were going to happen 
(but which were still a few years away from realisation) and instead look at changing 
the models of care to improve the service.   
 
Same Day Emergency Care (SDEC) had been developed as care that had previously 
taken three days could now be done at home with remote monitoring.  This type of 
good work had started to happen now at scale.  However, it was noted that multi 
morbidity was also starting to become more of an issue.  As individuals now had more 
complicated health issues than they had had fifteen years ago, it was critical that this 
was dealt with urgently.  Resources such as community mental health services and 
technology could be used to reach out in a helpful way.   
 
Mr Hurd advised that vertical and horizontal integration was needed and that Hillingdon 
Health and Care Partners had been leading the way on this by bringing partners 
together and working jointly with the local authority.  Work needed to be undertaken 
across the acute sector and should not be to the detriment of any of the partners.  The 
ICS model looked to procure pathways and standardise services to secure the best 
deals.  It was agreed that further information on vertical and horizontal integration 
would be provided at a future meeting.   
 
Concern was expressed in relation to acute beds regularly being at 100% capacity 
rather than at the 92% target and it was queried how the ICS planned to reduce the 
total beds used and free up capacity without exacerbating health inequalities.  Mr Hurd 
advised that 92% bed occupancy was a target and that there would be variation 
throughout the year.  The ICS strategy was not to increase the number of beds but to 
increase space in alternative appropriate care settings to create a sustainable position 
to achieve the 92% target during the winter peak period.   
 
To increase ongoing resilience at particularly challenged hospital sites, NHS England 
had released £26m of capital funding for new wards in NWL.  Mr Hurd advised that 
some of this winter pressures funding had been used in February to provide extra bed 
capacity at Northwick Park Hospital to be used when necessary.  Dr Klaber advised 
that partners were working together like never before and that the work was better 
done up front.  As such, the commitment was to deliver care as close to home as 
possible.   
 
Mr Hurd stated that a pilot in relation to London Ambulance Service waiting times had 
been initiated which had improved turn around times.  He reiterated that increasing the 
number of beds would not be the answer to the increased demand and that new 

Page 5Page 5



 

models of care were needed.  Good progress had been made over the last year in 
relation the use of bed stock and it was anticipated that this would continue to improve.  
Mr Hurd advised that he would provide regular updates to Harrow.   
 
In terms of delayed discharge, Mr Hurd advised that Hillingdon had made good 
progress as a result of effective partnership working and the development of bridging 
services such as Discharge to Assess.  Local work continued across NWL to 
understand the causes of delays to patient discharge so that a forensic approach to 
addressing these could be taken.  Dr Klaber noted that it was all about relationships 
with local communities and that the NHS was not typically very good at this - the NHS 
would often talk about patient flow, discharge, etc, when it was residents that were at 
the heart of the matter.   
 
Concern was expressed about the risk assessments in relation proposals such as 
undertaking planned treatments, that would previously have included an overnight stay, 
as day cases.  Dr Klaber advised that each case would be determined on its own 
merits and in consultation with the patient and their family.   
 
Concern was expressed that there had been some issues at Hammersmith Hospital 
which had not yet been resolved and which could result in a reduction in capacity.  Dr 
Klaber advised that relationships were critical in dealing with big population-based 
issues and that Member insights were appreciated as they helped the NHS to work 
smarter.  The situation was challenging as the hospital was still delivering high quality 
care but could not continue as it was.   
 
Over the next few years, NWL ICS was going to need to work closely with the voluntary 
sector, local authorities and other partners to achieve improvement to service delivery.  
It would also be important to get the Hillingdon Hospital redevelopment completed.   
 
RESOLVED:  That: 

1. further information on vertical and horizontal integration be provided at a 
future meeting;  

2. Mr Hurd provide regular updates to Harrow in relation to the achievement 
of the 92% bed capacity target at Northwick Park Hospital;  

3. the Committee be provided with an update on the progress of the 
implementation of the NWL ICS strategy for the provision of acute beds; 
and  

4. the discussion be noted.   
  

7.     STANDARDISATION OF ADULT & PAEDIATRIC OPHTHALMOLOGY SERVICES 
ACROSS NORTH WEST LONDON - UPDATE FOR JHOSC  (Agenda Item 7) 
 

 Mr Rob Hurd, Chief Executive at North West London Integrated Care System (NWL 
ICS), advised that the current practice for the provision of adult and paediatric 
ophthalmology services across NWL was currently confusing so needed to be 
standardised to make it easier for local residents and communities to navigate.  The 
service also needed to be aligned with the new procurement process that had been put 
in place.  A programme of engagement had already been put in place but the 
Committee's feedback on monitoring and engagement would be welcomed.   
 
It was noted that paediatric ophthalmology would move immediately into acute 
hospitals which would provide patients with choice as to which hospital they preferred.  
During the procurement process, there would be a need to push the standardisation of 
services and new models of care.   

Page 6Page 6



 

 
Members queried how the proposed changes would help in the short and long term.  Dr 
Bob Klaber, Director of Strategy, Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust (ICH), advised 
that the reopening of the Western Eye Hospital (WEH) had been very helpful and 
important in giving the staff a real boost.  The WEH emergency service had been 
responsive to urgent issues but there were vertical integration issues in that it was not 
possible to have paediatric ophthalmologists at every hospital.  As such, this needed to 
be linked across to specialist expertise and then back across to the paediatricians.   
 
With regard to ensuring quality of care at the patient's first point of contact, Mr Hurd 
stated that standardisation of care was important.  Clear and measurable pathway 
milestones needed to be put in place and expectations needed to be managed by 
providing criteria about what would be done and the standardisation of onward 
referrals, etc.  As this standardised approach was currently not in place, there 
appeared to be a lack of clarity between GPs and ophthalmologists.   
 
Ms Sarah Bellman, Deputy Director of Communications and Engagement at NWL ICS, 
advised that the survey questions had asked which NWL borough the respondent lived 
in and had listed all eight boroughs (i.e., there had been no 'Other' option available).  
As there were some respondents that had not responded to that particular question, 
they were classed as 'Other'.  There were some boroughs that had not been identified 
by respondents as their place of residence.   
 
Fourteen face-to-face engagement events had been held covering every NWL borough 
and there had been 101 respondents to the online survey.  As no respondents had 
identified themselves as being from Hammersmith and Fulham, further work had been 
undertaken in that area.  Analysis of the borough and its demographics had been 
undertaken so that targeted work could then take place.  Ms Bellman advised that she 
would share this work with the Committee and noted that there was always more that 
could be done.   
 
Ms Bellman stated that there would be different phases of engagement which would 
respond to the service design that was happening and feed into the procurement 
process.  Consideration was now being given to where more in depth engagement 
needed to take place.   
 
Mr Rob Hurd noted that artificial intelligence (AI) was a huge area and that 
standardisation would be helpful for a research and innovation programme.  Much 
could be learnt from AI and algorithms.   
 
It was noted that a lot of work had been undertaken in the community and it was 
therefore queried what best practice could be replicated in NWL.  Mr Hurd advised that 
best practice had been built into the model so that it was Right First Time (RFT).  It was 
important to improve locally based on national and international experience. The new 
RFT model had been informed by work undertaken elsewhere and would be monitored 
through standardised pathways and measurements as part of the contract 
management process through the acute programme of care. 
 
Members queried the NWL performance against national benchmarks and requested 
more information in relation to health inequalities.  Mr Hurd confirmed that NWL had 
been benchmarked nationally and that he would provide the Committee with baseline 
data on the current performance.  He was unsure how far the data could be broken 
down in terms of London and regions but would provide whatever he had.  Currently, 
performance was not at a good standard so, although the model would form part of the 

Page 7Page 7



 

answer to address health inequalities, the ICS would need to reach out to communities.  
In terms of exactly how bad the situation was, Mr Hurd advised that he would need a 
quantified assessment of adult and paediatric ophthalmology services.   
 
Ms Bellman noted that people were unaware of what support was available to them, 
especially given the cost of living pressures, so the availability of support needed to be 
promoted to those that could access it.  In terms of next steps, the analysis had been 
undertaken and the team now needed to explore things further.  A lot of preparatory 
work was underway and consideration needed to be given to what further engagement 
work was needed.  Ms Bellman asked the Committee to let her know if there were any 
issues that they thought ought to be included in their discussions.  Without the local 
authorities' communication teams, it would not have been possible to reach into the 
community as far as they had.   
 
RESOLVED:  That:  

1. Ms Bellman share the results of the targeted work that had been 
undertaken in Hammersmith and Fulham;  

2. Mr Hurd provide the Committee with baseline data on the current 
performance in NWL (broken down to NWL and London level if possible); 
and  

3. the discussion be noted.   
  

8.     DEVELOPMENT OF MUSCULOSKELETAL SERVICES ACROSS NORTH WEST 
LONDON - UPDATE FOR JHOSC  (Agenda Item 8) 
 

 Mr Joe Nguyen, SRO Musculoskeletal Services at North West London Integrated Care 
System (NWL ICS), advised that he had been working across the eight NWL boroughs 
to look at standardising musculoskeletal (MSK) services.  Working over such a large 
area was deemed by some to be ambitious but the project was only in year one of a 
five-year programme.  During this initial year, work had been undertaken to understand 
the variations in delivery and to look at the inequalities agenda.   
 
It was noted that around 30% of residents had MSK issues which resulted in the 
second highest levels of absence from work.  Mr Nguyen advised that an MSK group 
made up of patients and clinicians had been running for about eight years.   
 
MSK services tended to be a bit of a checklist so consideration needed to be given to 
looking at what mattered to people with a personalisation agenda.  Everyone had their 
own goals in relation to their condition and this needed to be addressed.  Acute 
interventions also needed to be addressed, there needed to be alignment between 
spend and prevalence and support needed to be provided to help people return to 
work.  Residents did not currently feel that they were being understood and waiting 
times varied significantly across the eight boroughs.   
 
The key changes that were being proposed were a common offer, a single point of 
access and staff development.  As part of the engagement activity, Mr Nguyen was 
reaching into the community to establish why people were not accessing services.   
 
It was anticipated that, by 2025, 9.1m people would have a long term condition and that 
3/10 of those aged 45+ would be MSK related.  As such, Members queried whether the 
proposed changes would be future proof.  Mr Hurd recognised that this was a 
fundamental demographic timebomb so needed to be links between an elective 
orthopaedic centre and a standardised approach to MSK.  As there was not an infinite 
pot of money or unlimited staff, future proofed change would need to be achieved 

Page 8Page 8



 

through better working.  Mr Nguyen advised that they had been working with the 
Primary Care Networks and other teams as they needed to set goals and develop a 
holistic model.   
 
Members queried how better joined working could be encouraged between 
Hammersmith & Fulham and Bretford whilst also improving access.  Mr Nguyen 
advised that the diagnostic offer was being reviewed as part of this process and it was 
important that clinics improved too.  The timeliness of diagnostics was very important 
and would also be included.   
 
It was queried how the service model would impact on service provision as, even 
though the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea (RBKC) had been leading the 
way, residents were still having to wait 6-8 months for an appointment.  Mr Nguyen 
noted that there had been lots of issues in RBKC in relation to waiting time 
discrepancies.  Consideration was being given to complaints that had been received 
about the service as part of the process so Mr Nguyen would be happy to speak to 
Members about specific issues that they were aware of.   
 
Members asked how the new service would improve the situation for the whole of NWL 
in the next 6-12 months.  Mr Nguyen advised that five contracts would be expiring in 
the next few months which would provide a commissioning opportunity for the new 
service model to be introduced and get rid of some of the current variation in service 
provision.  Mr Hurd advised that he would provide the Committee with baseline access 
information and detail of how it was proposed the situation be moved forward from 
there.  It was agreed that this needed to be linked to access times for diagnostics.   
 
Mr Nguyen stated that part of the work that was being undertaken was to develop 
partnerships with others and gain community support but that this was still being 
scoped out.  He would find out if anticipatory pathways were being included for those 
that had functional disabilities.   
 
Members queried what the report meant with regard to "de-transactionalising" when it 
stated "opportunity for productivity through 'de-transactionalising' MSK care in primary 
& community on on-ward referrals to acute care".  Mr Nguyen advised that there were 
different ways to access MSK services and that effort was being made to streamline 
the pathway and have a single point of access.  Mr Hurd advised that the phrase meant 
that there was a danger that all effort would be focussed on reducing waiting lists rather 
than focussing on clinical solutions and treatment.   
 
It was recognised that language was a barrier to some people accessing services.  Mr 
Nguyen advised that, during this first year of the five year journey, they were reaching 
out to these groups and would also be looking at lifestyle factors.  Phase two of the 
project would include engagement work and consideration needed to be given to how 
this would work best for patients.   
 
Ms Sarah Bellman, Deputy Director of Communications and Engagement at NWL ICS, 
advised that the engagement and implementation undertaken to date had not been 
representative of the entire population at this stage and that phase one had been built 
on elective orthopaedic, asking patients what they thought about MSK issues.  Phase 
two would look at the detail and what needed to be explored further.  The next stage 
would see the ICB going out to talk to those people who were not currently using the 
services about the community services that were available.  Similarly to diabetes where 
a lot of work was undertaken to ensure lifestyle advice was relevant to different groups, 
a broader approach would be needed for MSK.   

Page 9Page 9



 

 
RESOLVED:  That:  

1. Mr Hurd provide the Committee with baseline access and diagnostics 
information and detail of how it was proposed the situation be moved 
forward from there;  

2. Mr Nguyen establish whether anticipatory pathways were being included 
for those with functional disabilities; and  

3. the discussion be noted.     
  

9.     NORTH WEST LONDON JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
2023-24 WORK PROGRAMME  (Agenda Item 9) 
 

 The Chair noted that some Members of the Committee had already contacted 
him with suggestions for inclusion on the Committee's Work Programme.  As 
this was a live document, Members were welcome to request additional items 
offline.   
 
RESOLVED:  That the 2023-24 Work Programme be noted.   

  
10.     NORTH WEST LONDON JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER  (Agenda Item 10) 
 

 Consideration was given to the Recommendations Tracker report.  
 
RESOLVED:  That the report be noted. 
  

11.     ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS  (Agenda Item 11) 
 

 The Chair noted that this would be Mr George Kockelbergh's last meeting as the 
primary scrutiny advisor for the North West London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (NWL JHOSC).  On behalf of the JHOSC, he thanked Mr Kockelbergh for 
the incredible support that he had provided him as well as the support he had provided 
local authority and NHS colleagues and wished him well in his new role.   
 
RESOLVED:  That the vote of thanks to Mr George Kockelbergh be noted. 
  

  
The meeting, which commenced at 10.00 am, closed at 12.00 pm. 
 

  
These are the minutes of the above meeting.  For more information on any of the 
resolutions please contact Nikki O'Halloran on nohalloran@hillingdon.gov.uk.  
Circulation of these minutes is to Councillors, Officers, the Press and Members of the 
Public. 

 

Page 10Page 10



  
 
 
 
 

North West London Joint Health Overview Scrutiny Committee 
(JHOSC) 

 
12 September 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NW London adult community-based specialist palliative and end-of-life care 
review programme 
 
This paper aims to: 
 

 Provide a comprehensive update on the progress made by the programme 
team since our last presentation to the NW London JHOSC on 14 September 
2022.  

 Seek your support and gather your opinions on engaging on our new model of 
care before officially launching the engagement process in due course.  

 
As key stakeholders, we highly value your ongoing involvement and collaboration in 
this programme.  
 
www.nwlondon.nhs.uk/cspc   

Page 11

Agenda Item 5

Page 11

http://www.nwlondon.nhs.uk/cspc


Summary of service improvements for North West London residents with 
the proposed new model care for community-based specialist palliative 
care services for Adults 
 
The proposed NW London Community Specialist Palliative Care model of care for 
adults (18+) would deliver for all North West London residents for the first time: 
 
Care in your home: 

 Community specialist palliative care SPC Team: 
 7-day working hours (8 am - 8 pm) – a change from 9am - 5pm with 

some services which worked only 5 days a week.  
 Increased support to care homes – common core level of training 

and support 
 Hospice at Home: 

 Supporting up to 24-hour care at home (including overnight sitting) 
in close collaboration with usual community care teams. This is 
currently not being supported across all existing services.  

 Expansion of services to additional boroughs currently without this 
service: Hammersmith & Fulham, Ealing, and Hounslow. 

 24/7 specialist telephone advice line – a common core offer including 
support for known and unknown patients. 

 
Community inpatient care: 

 Increased number of beds, which includes dedicated enhanced end-of-life 
care nursing home beds across all of NW London for patients who do not 
require a hospice bed but cannot stay at home due to their needs, do not 
wish to stay at home, and do not want to or meet the need to be in a 
hospital.  

 Existing hospice inpatient unit beds to support our patients with the most 
complex specialist palliative care need. 

 
Hospice outpatient and well-being services: 
 

 Hospice outpatient MDT clinic and well-being services – a common core 
offer for the services this encompasses, including lymphoedema, 
bereavement, and psychological support services: 

 Expansion of lymphoedema services for non-cancer patients in Harrow, 
addressing the current gap in provision 

 Dedicated bereavement and psychological support services with common 
core offer– whilst all our services currently offer bereavement and 
psychological support this varies in offer and accessibility.  

 
The proposed model of care aims to offer more personalised and culturally 
sensitive care to address the diverse needs of the entire NW London population.  
The model seeks to achieve this through a number of design principles and 
enablers which support tailoring services to individual preferences, cultural 
competence training for staff, and actively collaborating with local organisations 
and partners. 
 

Page 12Page 12



The ultimate goal is to ensure fair access to high-quality community-based 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care for all North West London residents, while 
creating a supportive and inclusive environment throughout all aspects of care 
and services.  

 
Proposed new model of care for community-based specialist palliative care 
 

 
Our vision and aims 
 
North West London residents and their families, carers and those important to 
them have equal access to high quality community-based specialist palliative and 
end-of-life care and support, that is coordinated, and which from diagnosis 
through to bereavement reflects their individual needs and preferences. 
 
We want to make sure service provision is sustainable and that we can continue 
to deliver the same level of high quality care in the future.   
 
 

 
Since NHS North West London attended the NW London JHOSC on 14 September 
2022, the NW London community-based specialist palliative care new model of care 
working group, has been diligently working to co-produce and agree the new model 
of care for adults' (18+) community-based specialist palliative care. The model of 
care working group includes residents of seven out of eight boroughs (excluding 
Hounslow). Starting from May 2022, the model of care working group has met 38 
times and successfully concluded their discussions on 6 June 2023.  
 
The engagement approach and the work of the model of care working group have 
been recognised as best practice by the North West London Integrated Care Board 
(ICB). The feedback from the working group members about their participation, the 
approach taken, the transparency of the programme team, and the outputs of the 
working group has been overwhelmingly positive.  
 
For instance, one of the 12 patient representatives on the group, who is also a 
clinician working in NW London, expressed that being part of the group and 
engaging in the discussions has significantly enhanced her understanding of 
palliative and end-of-life care. This knowledge has directly influenced and improved 
her practice, leading to better outcomes for the patients she has supported at end-of-
life. 
 
  

Page 13Page 13



North West London’s new community-based specialist palliative care model of 
care for adults (18+) 
 
The proposed new model of care encompasses several core service lines designed 
to make sure we can improve equity and accessibility. These are underpinned by a 
number of key principles and enabler also agreed upon by the model of care working 
group, and are in line with best practice, engagement feedback and national 
guidance. These services include: 
 

1. Care in your home 
 Community Specialist Palliative Care (SPC) team at home, including 

support to care homes 
 Hospice at home 
 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice 

2. Community Inpatient care: 
 Enhanced end-of-life care beds 
 Specialist hospice inpatient unit beds 

3. Hospice outpatient and well-being services: 
 Hospice multi-disciplinary team outpatient clinic appointments 
 Dedicated Bereavement and psychological support services 
 Lymphoedema services  
 Other day care and well-being services provided in the main by 

charitable hospices 
 
In 2021, we recognised there was a need to carry out a review of community-based 
specialist palliative care services because it was the most fragile part of all the 
palliative and end-of-life care services (generalist and specialist) in NW London. We 
identified eight key issues we needed to address and published an Issue Paper that 
set out these reasons and engaged with local residents and partners to find out what 
was important to them. 
 
Our aim is to develop a new model of care for adult community-based specialist 
palliative care that will help us deliver high-quality services for the next five years and 
provide the foundation for the longer term. Beyond this we will make sure our 
services have sufficient flexibility to increase service provision against a projected 
growth in demand, as and when that arises.  
 
A model of care is a framework that explains what care will be provided and how 
services work together to deliver care that meets the needs of the population and 
incorporates best practice. Providers will then use the framework to deliver care with 
the expectation that we improve overall care for people. A model of care will bring 
together regulatory, organisational, clinical and financial factors to outline the way in 
which care will be delivered locally. 
 
The role of the model of care working group has been to jointly co-produce a future 
model of care for community-based specialist palliative care for adults (18+ years) in 
NW London with advanced or life limiting conditions, collaboratively agreeing “what 
good looks like’ and setting a common core offer across the various services. The 
group also collaboratively agreed the design principles. 
 

Page 14Page 14

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/application/files/1616/3724/5470/NW_London_ICS_Community-based_specialist_palliative_care_review.pdf


Some of the services within the new model of care already exist across all boroughs, 
while others are new additions. This is particularly significant for boroughs where the 
services currently do not exist or there is significant variation for boroughs.  The 
recommended model of care would deliver the following for all NW London adult 
residents for the first time: 
 
Service area 1: Care at home 
 

 Adult community specialist palliative care team: 
 7-day service with working hours of 8 am - 8 pm – this is a change from 

9am - 5pm working hours and some services (Harrow) only operating 5 
days a week at present. 

 Increased support to care homes – common core level of training and 
support. 

 Hospice at home: 
 Supporting up to 24-hour care at a patient’s home (including overnight 

sitting services) in close collaboration with usual community care 
teams. This is currently not being provided across all existing services.  

 Expansion of services to additional boroughs currently without this 
service: Hammersmith & Fulham, Ealing, and Hounslow. 

 24/7 specialist telephone advice line - a common core service for 
patients who are already known to community-based specialist 
palliative care services as well as unknown patients. This is a change 
from current 24/7 specialist palliative care advice line services, which in 
the main only support known patients and have variation in the level of 
advice and support offered.  

 
Service area 2: Community specialist in-patient beds 
 

 An increased number of beds in the community, which includes dedicated 
enhanced end-of-life care beds available across all of NW London for patients 
who either do not require a hospice bed but cannot stay at home due to 
medical and social needs, or who do not wish to stay at home, or who do not 
want to, or do not meet the need to be in a hospital.  

 Maintaining the current number of operational hospice in-patient unit beds to 
support our patients with the most complex specialist palliative care needs. 

 
Service area 3: Hospice out-patient services, hospice day care services and 
well-being services (including psychological and bereavement support 
services for patients and families) 
 
Whilst all our boroughs currently have access to hospice out-patient clinics, hospice 
day care services and well-being services via their local providers, variation in the 
level of support provided was identified: 
 

 We aim to make sure hospice out-patient multidisciplinary team (MDT) clinics 
(including but not limited to medical and nursing clinics, rehabilitation via 
therapists, and dedicated lymphoedema services) deliver the same core level 
of service. This refers particularly to the boroughs of Ealing and Hounslow 
where doctor and nurse led clinics are currently not available via Meadow 

Page 15Page 15



House Hospice, as well as Harrow where there is currently a gap in provision 
of lymphoedema services for non-cancer patients. We propose to expand 
lymphoedema service provision for these non-cancer patients in Harrow. 

 We aim to make sure well-being services (including hospice day care support 
groups, family and carer practical support and education, complimentary 
therapies, and dedicated psychological and bereavement support services 
deliver a core level of service. Particularly for psychological and bereavement 
support services for patients, their families, carers and those important to 
them which includes: a more streamlined pathway to access these services; 
increased personalisation of care for example offering one-to-one and group 
sessions, face-to-face and virtual support; and increased cultural and spiritual 
sensitivity to delivery of this care and support. While all boroughs currently 
have access to some psychological and bereavement services, this varies in 
level of support. 

 
Key Enablers: The successful implementation of the new model of care relies 
on several key enablers: 
 

 Effective use of data and digital optimisation in service delivery 
 Workforce development and planning 
 Organisational development and community-based specialist palliative care 

staff training 
 Strong leadership and governance. 

 
Addressing the eight key issues 
 
The new model of care aims to address the eight key issues outlined in an issues 
paper published by the programme in 2021 which launched this work. By 
incorporating these issues into our ongoing engagement and co-production of the 
new model of care the model, we are committed to creating a more comprehensive 
and responsive community based specialist palliative and end-of-life care system for 
the residents of North West London. 
 
We can demonstrate how both the process and resulting product of this work 
responded to the original eight issues highlighted below: 
 

The eight key issues 
we need to respond to 

Key examples of how the issue has been built into the 
approach or model of care 

1 
Respond to future 
need 

 Used data to model 5 and 10-year demand for 
community-based specialist palliative care services 
and applied this to current services to understand 
future service demand. 

 Examined feedback from national surveys and reports 
to explore changing public expectations on care at the 
end-of-life and included this in model of care 
development.  

2 
Address service 
variation 

 Developed a new model of care that addresses the 
current variation in service offerings to residents across 
our eight boroughs to support improving equitable 

Page 16Page 16



access to services to make sure everyone can access 
services more fairly and consistently.  

3 
Respond to 
inequalities 

• Undertook a travel mapping exercise (travel analysis) 
to understand impact on communities travelling to 
current in-patient units. We will undertake further travel 
analysis as part of the next phase of this work to 
understand impact of proposed options to deliver the 
new model of care.  

• Made sure there was representation of different 
faiths/ethnicities in the NW London model of care 
working group and made sure our engagement 
strategy reaches our diverse communities.  

• The model of care working group have agreed five key 
enablers to support the successful implementation and 
delivery of the new model of care. Development of a 
strategy and plan for supporting organisations to 
achieve cultural competency so they can effectively 
provide care in line with the new model of care.  

4 Integrated delivery 

• Care co-ordination has been recognised as being key 
element of the new care model, which includes making 
sure that appropriate information is shared among 
providers to support seamless delivery of care. 
Improving co-ordination will be embedded in to the 
structure as part of the implementation of the new 
model of care.  

5 
Responding to 
feedback and 
engagement 

• Involved patients, carers, clinicians and members of 
the public in co-producing the model of care, ensuring 
the voice of local residents is truly reflected in service 
design  

• Hosted various NW London and borough based 
events, culminating in published engagement reports 
which have fed into the model of care working group 
discussions and design principles. 

6 
Align with policy & 
best practice 
guidance 

• Reviewed best practice and national guidance and 
integrated these within model of care working group 
discussions to shape and develop each core service 
offer  

• Actively engaged with other organisations, areas and 
systems who have been implementing new models to 
inform our local work. 

7 
Financially 
sustainable 

• Made sure financial sustainability is a key principle and 
key hurdle criteria within the programme to make sure 
that actions and development are not only impactful but 
enduring for the longer term.  

8 
Recruitment and 
retention 

• Engaged staff and care providers throughout 
development to ensure the future model of care is 
clinically sound and reflects good practice, making NW 

Page 17Page 17



London an attractive place to work. Engagement will be 
ongoing through the development of the enablers and 
implementation phase of this work.  

 
Next steps - formal engagement about new model of care 
 
We are currently engaging with members of the public and other stakeholders, 
seeking input from the public on the model of care.  During this engagement phase, 
we aim to engage widely and work with our public and stakeholders to: 
 

 Provide an overview of the development process of the model of care 

 Outline the contents of the model of care (What is the model of care NOT 
how it will be delivered), and seek feedback from the public on the new model 
of care. 
 

While the engagement document will not present options for the delivery of the new 
model of care, it will emphasise the importance of a well-distributed service that 
ensures equal access to the necessary care. 
 
People can  respond to the model of care by completing our simple survey or 
attending one of our three NW London wide engagement events. Further details will 
follow nearer the date. 

 
 2-3.30pm, Tuesday 5 September 2023 
 10-11.30am, Wednesday 6 September 2023 
 7-8.30pm, Thursday 7 September 2023 

 

We are also talking to the Borough Based Partnerships to plan and deliver 
appropriate local engagement. 
 
Engagement on the model of care will continue throughout the summer and early 
autumn. 
 
Next steps after this engagement phase – September 2023 onwards: 
 

 We will publish feedback received and potentially a revised model of care 
which has considered that feedback. 

 We will explain the next steps of the process to support having this model of 
care agreed and implemented for NW London. 

 The programme team will develop a long-list of options for delivery of the new 
model of care with the steering group doing the initial shortlisting. 

 
We will then move to the next stages of making recommendations about options for 
any formal consultation should this be deemed necessary.  
 
We will continue to work with NW London residents and stakeholders throughout this 
process and we are immensely grateful for the continued engagement and 
contributions which are vital to the success of this transformative initiative.  
 

Page 18Page 18

https://form.jotform.com/232131780320039
https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/e/695211565507?aff=oddtdtcreator
https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/e/696494272117?aff=oddtdtcreator
https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/e/696494733497?aff=oddtdtcreator


If you have any questions or require further information, please do not hesitate to 
contact us at nhsnwl.endoflife@nhs.net.  
 
 
  

Page 19Page 19

mailto:nhsnwl.endoflife@nhs.net


Ten-year demand projections for in-patient hospice care 
 
To understand whether we have the hospice inpatient beds needed to serve the 
inpatient needs of our population, we have undertaken an analysis of future demand 
and compared this with  
 
The methods used for projecting future need 
 

1. Understand how mortality in NWL changes over the next 10 years based on 
national statistical studies and applying local data. 

2. Apply the annual rate of mortality growth to number of people who may 
require palliative care. 

3. Include additional allowance for needing to address unmet need i.e. people 
who are not currently accessing care but need it. 

4. Apply the rate of growth to bed use over 10-year period. 
5. Compare future bed use with available capacity to determine when and if the 

demand for beds exceeds available capacity. 
 
Mortality in our population 
 

 We anticipate increasing number of deaths each year, climbing from 12,300 in 
2023 to 14,500 in 2033.  

 This is driven largely by an ageing population. This is expected to result in a 
corresponding increase in number of people needing palliative care. In 
addition, there are likely to be people who are not receiving palliative care 
when they should be we refer to this as ‘unmet need’. 

 If we assume we steadily work to improve public awareness and meet the 
palliative care needs of our whole population, we expect the number of people 
with a palliative care need to grow from 31,000 in 2023 to 37,000 in 2033. 
 

Hospice inpatient demand 
 

 If we assume the demand for inpatient care grows proportionally to overall 
palliative care need and there are no changes to the length of time each bed 
is used each time it is used, we can expect the number of bed days needed to 
grow from approximately 15,000 bed days per year in 2023 to 18,000 in 2033. 

  
Conclusions arising out of analysis 
 

 If the number of beds we use does not change over time, we can expect to 
have space (capacity) for approximately 20,400 bed days each year. 

 Comparing expected increase in demand with available capacity, we will have 
enough beds to meet our needs until 2031. 

 Beyond this time, we would need to make adjustments to either demand or 
capacity. 

 According to our data analysis and based on an assessment of unmet need 
and demographic growth, we do not require more specialist hospice in-patient 
beds than those currently being commissioned and used.   

 
  

Page 20Page 20



Travel mapping and analysis 
 
Hospice in-patient bed provision currently works on the basis of catchment areas. In 
some cases, they overlap with the catchment area of other hospices. To understand 
how accessible the units are to our population, we undertook a travel mapping 
analysis. 
 
We looked at travel times for people accessing their closest hospice in-patient bed 
care unit (by travel time) and found that: 
 

 Average peak time travel was 40 minutes by public transport and 19 minutes 
by car (driving). 

 Populations in south Hillingdon and Hounslow have among the longest travel 
times to a hospice in-patient bed care unit because of the absence of 
alternatives in the area. 

 With Pembridge Palliative Care Services in-patient unit suspended, average 
peak time travel for the whole NW London population is increased (by three 
minutes for public transport and two minutes for car). 

 Looking more closely at the population for whom Pembridge Palliative Care 
Service is the closest hospice in-patient unit (in terms of travel time), shorter 
travel times to access the unit were experienced, when open, compared with 
the overall population travel times. The current suspension increases this 
group of residents travel time by 12 minutes on public transport and six 
minutes by car. The travel times for this group to the next nearest hospice is 
43 minutes by public transport and 23 minutes by car which is comparable to 
the experience of the whole population (see table below for more information). 

 Broadly, our hospice sites are located in areas within close proximity of 
deprived communities. People living in these areas are not adversely 
impacted by longer travel times. 
 

 
Average peak time 
travel when using 
public transport 

Average peak 
time travel 
when driving 

All current in-patient units 40 mins 19 mins 

All currently available in-patient units 
(reflecting suspension of services at 
Pembridge Palliative Care Services in-patient 
unit) 

43 mins 21 mins 

Travel times for those people where 
Pembridge Palliative Care Services is their 
closest in-patient unit (when Pembridge 
Palliative Care Services in-patient unit open) 

31 mins 17 mins 

Impact of on directly affected populations 
with Pembridge Palliative Care Services in-
patient unit being suspended 

43 mins 23 mins 

 
 
 

Page 21Page 21



Respond to future need - meeting the palliative care needs of NW 
London’s changing population 
 
When we embarked on the review of community-based specialist palliative care one 
of the eight issues we needed to respond to was making sure that we developed 
services that met the future palliative care needs of NW London’s changing 
population. 
 
In order to do this, we committed to undertaking further demand modelling and 
population projections for a ten-year period to support future services modelling. 
 
The outcomes of this work show that we can expect growth in hospice/ specialist 
palliative care service inpatient unit beds use to be in-line with the growth in the 
overall number of deaths in the NW London population over time. This is the result of 
an ageing population, population growth and a number of other factors such as 
increasing morbidity from chronic illness. 
 
When we factor this in, we anticipate that we have sufficient of these specialist 
inpatient beds across our current hospices to accommodate local need for hospice 
specialist palliative care beds until 2031.  
 
How is our population likely to change over time? 
 
We are expecting the population of NW London to grow by 5% over the ten-year 
period between 2023 and 2033, similar to the growth in population expected across 
London. 

 

Page 22Page 22

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/download_file/view/186


 
During this time, the population size will grow from approximately 2.17 million people 
to 2.28 million. At this time, we anticipate the greatest growth in Hillingdon, Harrow 
and Hounslow. 
 
Nationally, 85% of deaths occur in people over the age of 65 years. In NW London, 
the 65+ population is expected to grow by 30% over the same ten-year timeframe - a 
much faster rate than overall population. Looking further still, approximately 55% of 
deaths occur among the 80+ population and this group is expected to grow by 32% 
in NW London. 
 
How do we expect deaths to change over time? 
 
Due to the impact of Covid-19 pandemic, we are cautious about applying mortality 
projections based on 2020 and 2021 data. In 2022 we recorded 12,111 deaths 
across NW London boroughs. Based on this, we expect annual deaths to increase to 
14,587 by 2033. 
 
This is impacted by ageing population and population growth and is based on the 
pattern of change modelled nationally. 
 
How many people need palliative care each year? 
 

 

Page 23Page 23



What are the causes that contribute to this? 
 
Leading causes of deaths among adults include dementia, ischaemic heart disease, 
chronic lower respiratory disease, stroke and cancer. You can find out more about 
leading causes of death through the office of national statistics. 
 
Where do people die? 
 
National data (see below) shows that at present around half of people die in a 
hospital, whilst just over a quarter die at home. A further 12% of people die in care 
homes and 5% die in hospices. The proportion of deaths in care homes and 
hospices has remained broadly similar over time. Whereas the proportion of deaths 
occurring in hospital has fallen and the proportion of deaths at home has increased 
over time, indicating potential changes in proactive end-of-life care planning and 
changing attitudes around remaining in the home environment. 
 
While preferences on place of death haven’t been collected locally, the National 
Survey of Bereaved People (2015) suggested 81% of people wished to die at home 
(a contrast to the 28% who actually die at home), 8% of people stated a preference 
for a hospice, 7% for a care home and only 3% for a hospital. 
 
Public engagement has also highlighted that people change their mind or that their 
circumstances change, affecting their preferred place of death. 
 

 
Figure 1: Source ONS 2022 (Death registrations and occurrences by local authority 
and health board) 
 
The model of care group used the information to look at different ways to model 
future demand recognising that there is no exact way of predicting this, but with an 

Page 24Page 24

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/articles/leadingcausesofdeathuk/2001to2018


expressed desire to factor in unmet need (ie not just roll forward the activity we have 
now, increased to reflect population growth). This modelling approach shows we 
currently have sufficient numbers of the most specialist hospice in-patient beds 
across our current hospices to accommodate all patients who need this type of 
highly specialist support and care until 2031. 
 

Ambitions for Palliative and End of Life Care: A national framework 
for local action 2021-2026  
  
Work is currently underway to map how the proposed new model of care would help 
address the six ambitions as laid out in the framework on a borough level. 
  

Page 25Page 25



Summary of service improvements by NW London borough 
 

Brent 

Summary of service improvements for Brent residents with the proposed 
new and improved model of care for community-based specialist palliative 
care services for adults 
 
The proposed NW London community specialist palliative care model of care for 
adults (18+) will deliver the following services for Brent residents. Some of these 
services already exist but will have been expanded, whilst some of them will be 
available for the first time: 
 
Adult community specialist palliative care team 

 This service already exists but the opening hours of this team will increase 
to 8am - 8pm from current 9am to 5pm.  Brent residents will therefore have 
access to a 7-day service that operates 12 hours a day to support their 
care needs.  
 

Community specialist in-patient beds 

 Brent residents will have access to an increased number of beds in the 
community, which includes the introduction of dedicated enhanced end-of-
life care beds for patients who do not require a hospice in-patient bed but 
cannot stay at home due to their needs, do not wish to stay at home, and 
do not want to or need to be in a hospital. These beds will be available for 
residents in all boroughs of NW London. They are currently only available 
in Hillingdon.  

 Brent residents will continue to have access to specialist hospice in-patient 
bed care. 

 
24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice  

• Brent residents who are known to community-based specialist palliative 
care services already have access to this 24/7 advice via their local 
hospice.  

• This existing service will be expanded to support Brent residents who are 
unknown to the community-based specialist palliative care services. They 
will be able to call a local 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice 
line for the first time and receive advice and support.  

 
Hospice out-patient multidisciplinary clinics and well-being services 

• Brent residents will continue to have access to out-patient clinics, including 
lymphoedema services that will be improved with a common core offer of 
support.  

• Brent residents will have improved access to bereavement and 
psychological support services with a common core offer, including 1:1 and 
group support, and a clearer pathway to access these services.  

 
The proposed care model aims to offer more personalised and culturally sensitive 
care to address the diverse needs of the entire NW London population, including 
the specific needs of Brent residents and underserved communities.  

Page 26Page 26



 
The model seeks to achieve this through a number of design principles and 
enablers which support tailoring services to individual preferences, cultural 
competence training for staff, and actively collaborating with local organisations 
and partners.  
 
The ultimate goal is to ensure fair access to high-quality community-based 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care for all Brent residents, while creating a 
supportive and inclusive environment throughout all aspects of care and services. 
 

 
  

Page 27Page 27



Ealing 

Summary of service improvements for Ealing residents with the proposed 
new and improved model of care for community-based specialist palliative 
care services for adults 
 
The proposed NW London community specialist palliative care model of care for 
adults (18+) will deliver the following services for Ealing residents. Some of these 
services already exist but will have been expanded, whilst some of them will be 
available for the first time: 
 
Adult community specialist palliative care team 

 This service already exists but the opening hours of this team will increase 
to 8am - 8pm from current 9am to 5pm.  Ealing residents will therefore 
have access to a 7-day service that operates 12 hours a day to support 
their care needs.  
 

Community in-patient bed care 

 Ealing residents will have access to an increased number of beds in the 
community, which includes the introduction of dedicated enhanced end-of-
life care beds for patients who do not require a hospice in-patient bed but 
cannot stay at home due to their needs, do not wish to stay at home, and 
do not want to or need to be in a hospital. These beds will be available to 
all boroughs of NW London. They are currently only available in Hillingdon.  

 Ealing residents will continue to have access to specialist hospice in-
patient bed care. 

 
24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice  

• Ealing residents who are known to community-based specialist palliative 
care services already have access to this 24/7 advice via their local 
hospice.  

• This existing service will be expanded to support Ealing residents who are 
unknown to the community-based specialist palliative care services. They 
will be able to call a local 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice 
line for the first time and receive advice and support.  

 
Hospice out-patient multidisciplinary clinics and well-being services 

• Ealing residents will continue to have access to out-patient clinics, 
including lymphoedema services that will be improved with a common core 
offer of a common core offer lymphoedema support and expanded out-
patient clinics to include medical and nurse led clinics 

• Ealing residents will have improved access to bereavement and 
psychological support services with a common core offer, including 1:1 and 
group support, and a clearer pathway to access these services.  

 
The proposed care model aims to offer more personalised and culturally sensitive 
care to address the diverse needs of the entire NW London population, including 
the specific needs of Ealing residents and underserved communities.  
 

Page 28Page 28



The model seeks to achieve this through a number of design principles and 
enablers which support tailoring services to individual preferences, cultural 
competence training for staff, and actively collaborating with local organisations 
and partners.  
 
The ultimate goal is to ensure fair access to high-quality community-based 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care for all Ealing residents, while creating a 
supportive and inclusive environment throughout all aspects of care and services. 
 

 
  

Page 29Page 29



Hammersmith and Fulham 

Summary of service improvements for Hammersmith & Fulham residents 
with the proposed new and improved model of care for community-based 
specialist palliative care services for adults 
 
The proposed NW London community specialist palliative care model of care for 
adults (18+) will deliver the following services for Hammersmith & Fulham 
residents. Some of these services already exist but will have been expanded, 
whilst some of them will be available for the first time: 
 
Adult community specialist palliative care team 

 This service already exists but the opening hours for the team will increase 
to 8am - 8pm from current 9am to 5pm.  Hammersmith & Fulham residents 
will therefore have access to a 7-day service that operates 12 hours a day 
to support their care needs.  

 
Hospice at home 

• Hammersmith & Fulham residents will have access for the first time a 
Hospice at Home service. This service currently does not exist.  

• This service supports up to 24-hour care at home (including overnight 
sitting) if needed in close collaboration with usual community care teams.  
 

Community specialist in-patient bed care 
• Hammersmith & Fulham residents will have access to an increased 

number of beds in the community, which includes dedicated enhanced 
end-of-life care beds for patients who do not require a hospice in-patient 
bed but cannot stay at home due to their needs, do not wish to stay at 
home, and do not want to or need to be in a hospital. These beds will be 
available to all boroughs of NW London. They are currently only available 
in Hillingdon.  

• Hammersmith & Fulham residents will continue to have access to 
specialist hospice in-patient bed care. 
 

24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice  
• Hammersmith & Fulham residents who are known to community-based 

specialist palliative care services already have access to this 24/7 advice 
via their local hospices/ specialist palliative care providers.  

• This existing service will be expanded to support Hammersmith & Fulham 
residents who are unknown to the community-based specialist palliative 
care services. They will be able to call a local 24/7 specialist palliative care 
telephone advice line for the first time and receive advice and support.  

 
Hospice out-patient multidisciplinary clinics and well-being services 

• Hammersmith & Fulham residents will continue to have access to out-
patient clinics, including lymphoedema services that will be improved with 
a common core offer of support.   

• Hammersmith & Fulham residents will have improved access to 
bereavement and psychological support services with a common core 

Page 30Page 30



offer, including 1:1 and group support, and a clearer pathway to access 
these services.  

 
The proposed care model aims to offer more personalised and culturally sensitive 
care to address the diverse needs of the entire NW London population, including 
the specific needs of Hammersmith & Fulham residents and underserved 
communities.  
 
The model seeks to achieve this through a number of design principles and 
enablers which support tailoring services to individual preferences, cultural 
competence training for staff, and actively collaborating with local organisations 
and partners.  
 
The ultimate goal is to ensure fair access to high-quality community-based 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care for all Hammersmith & Fulham residents, 
while creating a supportive and inclusive environment throughout all aspects of 
care and services.  

 
  

Page 31Page 31



 

Harrow 

Summary of service improvements for Harrow residents with the proposed 
new and improved model of care for community-based specialist palliative 
care services for adults 
 
The proposed NW London community specialist palliative care model of care for 
adults (18+) will deliver the following services for Harrow residents. Some of 
these services already exist but will have been expanded, whilst some of them 
will be available for the first time: 
 
Adult community specialist palliative care team 

 This service already exists but the opening hours of this team will increase 
to 8am - 8pm from current 9am to 5pm.  The service will also be expanded 
to operate 7-days a week as opposed to the current 5 days a week 
(Monday to Friday). Harrow residents will therefore have access to a 7-day 
service that operates 12 hours a day to support their care needs.  
 

Community in-patient bed care 

 Harrow residents will have access to an increased number of beds in the 
community, which includes the introduction of dedicated enhanced end-of-
life care beds for patients who do not require a hospice in-patient bed but 
cannot stay at home due to their needs, do not wish to stay at home, and 
do not want to or need to be in a hospital. These beds will be available to 
all boroughs of NW London. They are currently only available in Hillingdon.  

 Harrow residents will continue to have access to specialist hospice in-
patient unit bed care. 

 
24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice  

• Harrow residents who are known to community-based specialist palliative 
care services already have access to this 24/7 advice via their local 
hospice.  

• This existing service will be expanded to support Harrow residents who are 
unknown to the community-based specialist palliative care services. They 
will be able to call a local 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice 
line for the first time and receive advice and support.  

 
Hospice out-patient multidisciplinary clinics and well-being services 

• Harrow residents will continue to have access to out-patient clinics, 
including lymphoedema services that will be improved with a common core 
offer of support, as well as expanded to support non-cancer lymphoedema 
diagnoses which is currently a gap in provision for Harrow. 

• Harrow residents will have improved access to bereavement and 
psychological support services with a common core offer, including 1:1 and 
group support, and a clearer pathway to access these services.  

 
The proposed care model aims to offer more personalised and culturally sensitive 
care to address the diverse needs of the entire NW London population, including 
the specific needs of Harrow residents and underserved communities.  

Page 32Page 32



 
The model seeks to achieve this through a number of design principles and 
enablers which support tailoring services to individual preferences, cultural 
competence training for staff, and actively collaborating with local organisations 
and partners.  
 
The ultimate goal is to ensure fair access to high-quality community-based 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care for all Harrow residents, while creating a 
supportive and inclusive environment throughout all aspects of care and services. 

 
  

Page 33Page 33



 

Hillingdon 

Summary of service improvements for Hillingdon residents with the 
proposed new and improved model of care for community-based specialist 
palliative care services for adults 
 
The proposed NW London community specialist palliative care model of care for 
adults (18+) will deliver the following services for Hillingdon residents. Some of 
these services already exist but will have been expanded, whilst some of them 
will be available for the first time: 
 
Adult community specialist palliative care team 

 This service already exists but the opening hours of this team will increase 
to 8am - 8pm from current 9am to 5pm. Hillingdon residents will therefore 
have access to a 7-day service that operates 12 hours a day to support 
their care needs.  
 

Community in-patient bed care 

 Hillingdon residents currently have access to dedicated enhanced end-of-
life care beds for patients who do not require a hospice in-patient bed but 
cannot stay at home due to their needs, do not wish to stay at home, and 
do not want to or need to be in a hospital. This service will be improved 
through a common core offer that will be available to all boroughs of NW 
London.  

 Hillingdon residents will continue to have access to specialist hospice in-
patient unit bed care. 

 
24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice  

• Hillingdon residents who are known to community-based specialist 
palliative care services already have access to this 24/7 advice via their 
local hospice and specialist palliative care providers.  

• This existing service will be expanded to support Hillingdon residents who 
are unknown to the community-based specialist palliative care services. 
They will be able to call a local 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone 
advice line for the first time and receive advice and support.  

 
Hospice out-patient multidisciplinary clinics and Well-being services 

• Hillingdon residents will continue to have access to out-patient clinics, 
including lymphoedema services that will be improved with a common core 
offer of support.   

• Hillingdon residents will have improved access to bereavement and 
psychological support services with a common core offer, including 1:1 and 
group support, and a clearer pathway to access these services.  

 
The proposed care model aims to offer more personalised and culturally sensitive 
care to address the diverse needs of the entire NW London population, including 
the specific needs of Hillingdon residents and underserved communities.  
 

Page 34Page 34



The model seeks to achieve this through a number of design principles and 
enablers which support tailoring services to individual preferences, cultural 
competence training for staff, and actively collaborating with local organisations 
and partners.  
 
The ultimate goal is to ensure fair access to high-quality community-based 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care for all Hillingdon residents, while creating 
a supportive and inclusive environment throughout all aspects of care and 
services.  

 
  

Page 35Page 35



 

Hounslow 

Summary of service improvements for Hounslow residents with the 
proposed new and improved model of care for community-based specialist 
palliative care services for adults 
 
The proposed NW London community specialist palliative care model of care for 
adults (18+) will deliver the following services for Hounslow residents. Some of 
these services already exist but will have been expanded, whilst some of them 
will be available for the first time: 
 
Adult community specialist palliative care team 
This service already exists but the opening hours of this team will increase to 8am 
- 8pm from current 9am to 5pm.  Hounslow residents will therefore have access 
to a 7-day service that operates 12 hours a day to support their care needs.  
 
Community in-patient bed care 

 Hounslow residents will have access to an increased number of beds in 
the community, which includes the introduction of dedicated enhanced 
end-of-life care beds for patients who do not require a hospice in-patient 
bed but cannot stay at home due to their needs, do not wish to stay at 
home, and do not want to or need to be in a hospital. These beds will be 
available to all boroughs of NW London. They are currently only available 
in Hillingdon.  

 Hounslow residents will continue to have access to specialist hospice in-
patient unit bed care. 

 
24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice  

• Hounslow residents who are known to community-based specialist 
palliative care services already have access to this 24/7 advice via their 
local hospice.  

• This existing service will be expanded to support Hounslow residents who 
are unknown to the community-based specialist palliative care services. 
They will be able to call a local 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone 
advice line for the first time and receive advice and support.  

 
Hospice out-patient multidisciplinary clinics and well-being services 

• Hounslow residents will continue to have access to out-patient clinics, 
including lymphoedema services that will be improved with a common core 
offer of lymphoedema support and expanded out-patient clinics to include 
medical and nurse led clinics 

• Hounslow residents will have improved access to bereavement and 
psychological support services with a common core offer, including 1:1 and 
group support, and a clearer pathway to access these services.  

 
The proposed care model aims to offer more personalised and culturally sensitive 
care to address the diverse needs of the entire NW London population, including 
the specific needs of Hounslow residents and underserved communities.  
 

Page 36Page 36



The model seeks to achieve this through a number of design principles and 
enablers which support tailoring services to individual preferences, cultural 
competence training for staff, and actively collaborating with local organisations 
and partners.  
 
The ultimate goal is to ensure fair access to high-quality community-based 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care for all Hounslow residents, while creating 
a supportive and inclusive environment throughout all aspects of care and 
services. 

 
  

Page 37Page 37



 

Kensington & Chelsea 

Summary of service improvements for Kensington & Chelsea residents with 
the proposed new and improved model of care for community-based 
specialist palliative care services for adults 
 
The proposed NW London community specialist palliative care model of care for 
adults (18+) will deliver the following services for Kensington & Chelsea 
residents. Some of these services already exist but will have been expanded, 
whilst some of them will be available for the first time: 
 
Adult community specialist palliative care team 

 This service already exists but the opening hours of this team will increase 
to 8am - 8pm from current 9am to 5pm.  Kensington and Chelsea residents 
will therefore have access to a 7-day service that operates 12 hours a day 
to support their care needs.  

 
Hospice at home 

• This service already exists, but will be improved with a common core offer 
which includes support up to 24-hour care at home (including overnight 
sitting) if needed in close collaboration with usual community care teams.  
 

Community in-patient bed care 

 Kensington and Chelsea residents will have access to an increased 
number of beds in the community, which includes the introduction of 
dedicated enhanced end-of-life care beds for patients who do not require a 
hospice in-patient bed but cannot stay at home due to their needs, do not 
wish to stay at home, and do not want to or need to be in a hospital. These 
beds will be available to all boroughs of NW London. They are currently 
only available in Hillingdon.  

 Kensington and Chelsea residents will continue to have access to 
specialist hospice in-patient unit bed care. 

 
24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice  

• Kensington and Chelsea residents who are known to community-based 
specialist palliative care services already have access to this 24/7 advice 
via their local hospice and specialist palliative care providers.  

• This existing service will be expanded to support Westminster residents 
who are unknown to the community-based specialist palliative care 
services. They will be able to call a local 24/7 specialist palliative care 
telephone advice line for the first time and receive advice and support.  

 
Hospice out-patient multidisciplinary clinics and well-being services 

• Kensington and Chelsea residents will continue to have access to out-
patient clinics, including lymphoedema services that will be improved with 
a common core offer of support.   

• Kensington & Chelsea residents will have improved access to 
bereavement and psychological support services with a common core 

Page 38Page 38



offer, including 1:1 and group support, and a clearer pathway to access 
these services.  

 
The proposed care model aims to offer more personalised and culturally sensitive 
care to address the diverse needs of the entire NW London population, including 
the specific needs of Kensington & Chelsea residents and underserved 
communities.  
 
The model seeks to achieve this through a number of design principles and 
enablers which support tailoring services to individual preferences, cultural 
competence training for staff, and actively collaborating with local organisations 
and partners.  
 
The ultimate goal is to ensure fair access to high-quality community-based 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care for all Kensington & Chelsea residents, 
while creating a supportive and inclusive environment throughout all aspects of 
care and services.  

 
  

Page 39Page 39



 

Westminster 

Summary of service improvements for Westminster residents with the 
proposed new and improved model of care for community-based specialist 
palliative care services for adults 
 
The proposed NW London community specialist palliative care model of care for 
adults (18+) will deliver the following services for Westminster residents. Some of 
these services already exist but will have been expanded, whilst some of them 
will be available for the first time: 
 
Adult community specialist palliative care team 

 This service already exists but the opening hours of this team will increase 
to 8am - 8pm from current 9am to 5pm.  Westminster residents will 
therefore have access to a 7-day service that operates 12 hours a day to 
support their care needs.  

 
Hospice at home 

• This service already exists, but will be improved with a common core offer 
which includes support up to 24-hour care at home (including overnight 
sitting) if needed in close collaboration with usual community care teams.  

 
Community specialist in-patient bed care  

 Westminster residents will have access to an increased number of beds in 
the community, which includes the introduction of dedicated enhanced 
end-of-life care beds for patients who do not require a hospice in-patient 
bed but cannot stay at home due to their needs, do not wish to stay at 
home, and do not want to or need to be in a hospital. These beds will be 
available across all boroughs of NW London. They are currently only 
available in Hillingdon.  

• Westminster residents will continue to have access to specialist hospice in-
patient unit bed care. 
 

24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice  
• Westminster residents who are known to community-based specialist 

palliative care services already have access to this 24/7 advice via their 
local hospice and specialist palliative care providers.  

• This existing service will be expanded to support Westminster residents 
who are unknown to the community-based specialist palliative care 
services. They will be able to call a local 24/7 specialist palliative care 
telephone advice line for the first time and receive advice and support.  

 
Hospice out-patient multidisciplinary clinics and well-being services 

• Westminster residents will continue to have access to out-patient clinics, 
including lymphoedema services that will be improved with a common core 
offer of support.   

• Westminster residents will have improved access to bereavement and 
psychological support services with a common core offer, including 1:1 and 
group support, and a clearer pathway to access these services.  

Page 40Page 40



 
The proposed care model aims to offer more personalised and culturally sensitive 
care to address the diverse needs of the entire NW London population, including 
the specific needs of Westminster residents and underserved communities.  
 
The model seeks to achieve this through a number of design principles and 
enablers which support tailoring services to individual preferences, cultural 
competence training for staff, and actively collaborating with local organisations 
and partners.  
 
The ultimate goal is to ensure fair access to high-quality community-based 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care for all Westminster residents, while 
creating a supportive and inclusive environment throughout all aspects of care 
and services.  

 

Page 41Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 42



1 | P a g e  

 

 
 
 

 

Community-based specialist palliative care for 
adults:  
 
Co-designing a new, improved model of care  
 
An opportunity to give your views on how we best improve 
care  
 
This is a summary of the full paper that sets out the proposed model 
of care. 
 
To see the full model of care engagement document, visit 
www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/cspc  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Our vision and aims 
 
NW London residents and their families, carers and those important to them have 
equal access to high quality community-based specialist palliative and end-of-life 
care and support, that is coordinated, and which from diagnosis through to 
bereavement reflects their individual needs and preferences. 
 
We want to make sure service provision is sustainable and that we can continue 
to deliver the same level of high quality care in the future.   
 

  

 

Page 43Page 43



2 | P a g e  

 

In North West London (NW London) we have some excellent palliative and end-of-
life care services for adults (aged 18 and over), provided by very committed partner 
organisations, but we know that we need to improve the care we provide in hospitals, 
community settings (such as hospices and day centres), primary care settings and 
patients’ own homes. 
 
We also know that not everyone gets the care and support they deserve in the 
community. Sadly, in NW London too many people experience less than ideal care 
as they approach the end-of-their life, with many people spending their last months 
and weeks in hospital, often dying there, which is not what they want. This is 
distressing for the patient and their loved ones. It also puts strain on emergency 
departments and acute hospital beds, diverting NHS resources that could be better 
used to meet patient needs in more appropriate or effective ways. 
 
In late 2021, we set out the reasons we needed to improve community-based 
specialist palliative care for adults (18+ years) in an Issues Paper and highlighted 
that it is the most fragile part of the palliative and end-of-life care services in NW 
London. We identified eight key issues that needed to be addressed and engaged 
with local residents and partners to find out what was important to them.  
 
We also acknowledge this improvement work for community-based specialist 
palliative care services is in many ways a starting point and that more needs to be 
done to improve palliative and end-of-life care as whole, by which we mean the 
generalist services provided by a range of services in our hospitals, in the community 
and in general practice. Whilst some of this is being addressed in other NW London 
improvement programmes such as community nursing and care homes, there's still 
more that will need to be done in the future. 
 
We can demonstrate how both the process and resulting product of this work 
responded to the original eight issues highlighted below: 
 

The eight key 
issues we need to 
respond to 

Key examples of how the issue has been built into the 
approach or model of care 

1 
Respond to future 
need 

 Used data to model 5 and 10-year demand for community-
based specialist palliative care services and applied this to 
current services to understand future service demand. 

 Examined feedback from national surveys and reports to 
explore changing public expectations on care at the end-
of-life and included this in model of care development.  

2 
Address service 
variation 

 Developed a new model of care that addresses the 
current variation in service offerings to residents across 
our eight boroughs to support improving equitable access 
to services to make sure everyone can access services 
more fairly and consistently.  

3 
Respond to 
inequalities 

• Undertook a ‘travel mapping’ exercise (travel analysis) to 
understand impact on communities travelling to current in-
patient units. We will undertake further travel analysis as 

Page 44Page 44

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/application/files/8216/3768/6784/NW_London_ICS_Community-based_specialist_palliative_care_review.pdf


3 | P a g e  

 

part of the next phase of this work to understand impact of 
proposed options to deliver the new model of care.  

• Made sure there was representation of different 
faiths/ethnicities in the NW London model of care working 
group and made sure our engagement strategy reaches 
our diverse communities.  

• The model of care working group have agreed five key 
enablers to support the successful implementation and 
delivery of the new model of care. Development of a 
strategy and plan for supporting organisations to achieve 
cultural competency so they can effectively provide care in 
line with the new model of care.  

4 
Integrated 
delivery 

• Care co-ordination has been recognised as being key 
element of the new care model, which includes making 
sure that appropriate information is shared among 
providers to support seamless delivery of care. Improving 
co-ordination will be embedded in to the structure as part 
of the implementation of the new model of care.  

5 
Responding to 
feedback and 
engagement 

• Involved patients, carers, clinicians and members of the 
public in co-designing the model of care, ensuring the 
voice of local residents is truly reflected in service design  

• Hosted various NW London and borough based events, 
culminating in published engagement reports which have 
fed into the model of care working group discussions and 
design principles. 

6 
Align with policy & 
best practice 
guidance 

• Reviewed best practice and national guidance and 
integrated these within model of care working group 
discussions to shape and develop each core service offer  

• Actively engaged with other organisations, areas and 
systems who have been implementing new models to 
inform our local work. 

7 
Financially 
sustainable 

• Made sure financial sustainability is a key principle and 
key hurdle criteria within the programme to make sure that 
actions and development are not only impactful but 
enduring for the longer term.  

8 
Recruitment and 
retention 

• Engaged staff and care providers throughout development 
to ensure the future model of care is clinically sound and 
reflects good practice, making NW London an attractive 
place to work. Engagement will be ongoing through the 
development of the enablers and implementation phase of 
this work.  

 
Since then, we have worked with our communities of residents, clinicians and 
providers in NW London to agree what makes high-quality, safe, and fair community-
based specialist palliative care, as well as the crucial elements that contribute to an 
excellent experience to patients, families, carers and those important to them.  
 

Page 45Page 45



4 | P a g e  

 

We have been fortunate to receive feedback from 188 people who responded to 
surveys and we listened to views of many more through 10 public events and 14 
sessions within specific communities, including faith communities. We received a 
tremendous amount of feedback and published the findings in an Engagement 
outcome report which you can find on our review webpage. We used the valuable 
insights from members of the public to feed into development of a new model of care 
that is described in this document.   
 
In our engagement and the work that we have carried out through the model of care 
working group, we have considered the needs of our diverse communities and those 
with protected characteristics including people who live with learning disabilities, and 
people who are experiencing homelessness and LGBTQI. in some cases, we carried 
out literature reviews and spoke to experts representing some of these communities. 
This insight was published in the engagement outcome report. Engagement will also 
continue and a full equality health impact assessment will be carried out in the future. 
 
What is community-based specialist palliative care? 

 
Community-based specialist palliative care services include care and support 
services that are not provided in an acute hospital or your local general practice 
surgery. Instead, they are provided in a community setting such as a patient’s own 
home, a care home, a hospice, a community hospital or health centre. The focus of 
community-based specialist palliative care services is managing symptoms, 
improving quality of life, and supporting patients and those important to them when 
needed during their end-of-life journey.  
 
There are eight community-based specialist palliative care providers in NW London 
delivering a wide range of community-based specialist palliative care services and 
support in each borough. 
 
Three NHS providers – Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust (CLCH), 
London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust (LNWUHT) and Central and 
North West London NHS Foundation Trust (CNWL) – receive their funding from the 
NHS. The other five providers are independent charitable hospices and receive their 
funding from a combination of NHS and charitable income.  
 
 
Map of NW London’s commissioned community-based specialist palliative 
care providers, their services and locations (click here to view a larger view) 
 

Page 46Page 46

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/how-get-involved/engagement-outcome-report
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/how-get-involved/engagement-outcome-report
https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/application/files/4816/9243/5690/NW_London_CSPC_provider_map_by_borough.pdf


5 | P a g e  

 

 
 
Developing a new model of care for community-based specialist palliative care 
for adults 
 
In May 2022, the NW London community-based specialist palliative care model of 
care working group was established and included citizen representation (local 
residents and carers with lived experiences of palliative and end of life care needs 
and services), clinicians and current providers of community-based specialist 
palliative care.   
 
The group met over thirty times to co-design and develop a new model of care that 
we believe will meet the needs of NW London residents for the next five years and 
beyond.  
 
This document and its fully detailed counterpart represent the culmination of time 
and energy invested by a large diverse group of people and we are thankful to them 
in helping us get to this point. 
 
NHS NW London and the model of care working group want all NW London 
residents to have consistent and equal access to: 
 

 A wide range of high-quality community-based specialist palliative care 
services that helps patients to stay at their usual place of residence, but 
allows them the flexibility to move to a different care setting if it is needed. 

 Extended service provision, aligned to best practice and guidance, along with 
minimum common service standards. 

 Specialist palliative care telephone advice available 24 hours per day, 7 days 
per week for residents and their families, carers and clinicians, whether 
residents are already known to the community-based specialist palliative care 
services or not. 

 An increased range and number of community specialist in-patient bed care 
options, by introducing enhanced end-of-life care beds for people with less 

Page 47Page 47

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/application/files/4116/9262/7166/20230821_NW_London_ICS_CSPC_Co-designing_a_new_improved_model_of_care.pdf
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/application/files/4816/9243/5690/NW_London_CSPC_provider_map_by_borough.pdf


6 | P a g e  

 

complex specialist palliative care needs who still require in-patient care, on 
top of the existing specialist hospice in-patient beds that we currently have. 

 The right number of the most specialist hospice in-patient unit beds, to care 
for the patients projected to need this level of palliative care over the next five 
years and beyond. 

 
Recommendations 
 

The model of care working group have collectively agreed and recommended a set 
of core services for community-based specialist palliative care provision that NW 
London residents can expect to receive regardless of the borough they live in.  
 
Some of these services are already available to all boroughs, while others are new 
additions for some boroughs and will raise the standard of care where these services 
do not exist or vary a lot.   
 
While hospice inpatient beds remain a vital part of the offer, the model of care 
working group recommends strengthening other aspects of our services to enable 
more individuals to be supported at home and have their end-of-life wishes fulfilled. 
 
The recommended model of care has three key service areas, each providing 
different services to meet patient needs. These would deliver the following for all NW 
London adult residents for the first time: 
 
Service area 1: Care at home 
 

 Adult community specialist palliative care team: 
 7-day service with working hours of 8 am - 8 pm – this is a change from 

9am - 5pm working hours and some services (Harrow) only operating 5 
days a week at present.  

 Increased support to care homes – common core level of training and 
support. 

 Hospice at home: 
 Supporting up to 24-hour care at a patient’s home (including overnight 

sitting services) in close collaboration with usual community care 
teams. This is currently not being provided across all existing services.  

 Expansion of services to additional boroughs currently without this 
service: Hammersmith & Fulham, Ealing, and Hounslow. 

 24/7 specialist telephone advice line: 
 A common core service for patients who are already known to 

community-based specialist palliative care services as well as those 
who are unknown patients.  

 This is a change from current 24/7 specialist palliative care advice line 
services, which in the main only support known patients and have 
variation in the level of advice and support offered.  

 
Service area 2: Community specialist in-patient beds 
 

 An increased number of beds in the community, which includes dedicated 
enhanced end-of-life care beds available across all of NW London for patients 

Page 48Page 48



7 | P a g e  

 

who either do not require a hospice bed but cannot stay at home due to 
medical and social needs, or who do not wish to stay at home, or who do not 
want to, or do not meet the need to be in a hospital.  

 Maintaining the current number of operational hospice in-patient unit beds to 
support our patients with the most complex specialist palliative care needs. 

 
Service area 3: Hospice out-patient services, hospice day care services and 
well-being services (including psychological and bereavement support 
services for patients and families) 
 

 Whilst all our boroughs currently have access to hospice out-patient clinics, 
hospice day care services and well-being services via their local providers, 
variation in the level of support provided was identified. 

 We aim to make sure hospice out-patient multidisciplinary team (MDT) clinics 
(including but not limited to medical and nursing clinics, rehabilitation via 
therapists, and dedicated lymphoedema services) deliver the same core level 
of service.  This refers particularly to the boroughs of Ealing and Hounslow 
where doctor and nurse led clinics are currently not available via Meadow 
House Hospice, as well as Harrow where there is currently a gap in provision 
of lymphoedema services for non-cancer patients. We propose to expand 
lymphoedema service provision for these non-cancer patients in Harrow. 

 We aim to make sure well-being services (including hospice day care support 
groups, family and carer practical support and education, complimentary 
therapies, and dedicated psychological and bereavement support services 
deliver a core level of service. Particularly for psychological and bereavement 
support services for patients, their families, carers and those important to 
them which includes a more streamlined pathway to access these services, 
increased personalisation of care for example offering one-to-one and group 
sessions, face-to-face and virtual support, and increased cultural and spiritual 
sensitivity to delivery of this care and support. While all boroughs currently 
have access to some psychological and bereavement services, this varies in 
level of support. 

 
The key enablers that will help us deliver the new model of care  
 
A key feature in the feedback we received from local people was the need to make 
sure we put in place effective ways of working and the systems and processes that 
are needed to support the delivery of high quality palliative and end-of-life care.   
 
There was a particular emphasis on the need to reduce health inequalities, have a 
palliative care workforce (generalist and specialist) that is both sustainable and 
understands the cultural and faith requirements of our diverse communities.  
 
We have identified five key enablers that we will need to develop and put in place to 
support the successful implementation and delivery of our recommended new model 
of care, and achieve the improvements in care we are able to deliver:  
 

 Workforce development 

 Reducing inequalities 

 Data, digital and technology 

Page 49Page 49



8 | P a g e  

 

 Organisational development 

 Leadership, governance and integration 
 
Work will be undertaken to scope and define the various task and finish groups for 
each of the enablers between August and October 2023.  
 
Next steps 
 
The next phase of the programme will be engagement seeking input from the public 
on the proposed new model of care for community-based specialist palliative care 
services that is laid out in this document and its fully detailed counterpart (insert link 
to full document).  
 
This public engagement process will continue throughout the summer and early 
autumn 2023. However, engagement on the overall model of care will continue 
beyond this as we progress to business case development and implementation of 
any agreed changes. 
 
During this engagement phase, we aim to engage widely and work with our public 
and stakeholders to: 
 

 Provide an overview of the development process followed to date. 

 Outline the contents of the proposed new model of care. 

 Seek feedback and answer questions from the public on the new model of 
care. 

 
While this document does not present options for the delivery of the proposed new 
model of care, it will emphasise the importance of a well-distributed service that 
ensures equal access to the necessary care. 
 
Visit www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/cspc to find out how you can give your views on the 
new model of care. 
 
Next steps after this engagement phase 
 
From late autumn 2023 onwards we will: 
 

 Publish feedback received and potentially a revised model of care which has 
considered that feedback. 

 Explain the next steps in the process for having the model of care agreed and 
implemented for NW London. 

 Develop a long-list of options for delivery of the new model of care with the 
steering group conducting the initial shortlisting. 

 Then move to the next stages of making recommendations about options for 
any formal consultation, should this be deemed necessary.  
 

We are immensely grateful for the continued engagement and contributions which 
are vital to the success of this transformative initiative. If you have any questions or 
require further information, please do not hesitate to contact us at: 
nhsnwl.endoflife@nhs.net. 

Page 50Page 50

http://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/cspc
mailto:nhsnwl.endoflife@nhs.net


2© PA Knowledge Limited  |     Confidential between PA and NWL ICS

Proposed model of care for community-based 

specialist palliative care for North West London

Outpatient & Wellbeing Care

Care in a community inpatient setting

Care in your own home

What people wanted to see & how we have 

incorporated it in the model of care:

• Improve partnership working & coordination 

of care by better sharing of information across 

people caring for you at the end-of-life, working 

together to deliver case management & care 

planning across teams.

• Improving personalisation through holistic 

needs assessments & making sure patients & 

families are more involved in the planning of 

their bespoke care package.

• Delivering care in a culturally sensitive way 

through workforce training & development to 

better understand diverse needs among our 

communities.

• Improving communications with patients and 

among health & care professionals

• Better use of technology over time to minimise 

unnecessary travel & improve outcomes.

Service Key change

Hospice MDT outpatient 

clinics

Increasing specialist clinics in Ealing & 

Hounslow to improve consistency

Dedicated bereavement & 

Psychological support

A consistent care pathway in all 

boroughs offering one-to-one 

counselling & group sessions 

Lymphoedema Expansion of service to care for cancer 

and non-cancer patients. 

We are the model of care working group. We comprise of people who have experienced 

bereavement, health and care professionals and providers of community specialist 

palliative care in NW London. Together we have developed this proposed care model. 

Community-based specialist palliative care services work together to care for individuals 

with life-limiting illnesses, and those close to them, outside of a hospital setting. 

What happens next?

Engage: listen to public 

views on the model of 

care

Sept 2023

Develop and test options 

on how we can deliver the 

model of care

Sept/Oct 2023

Consult with you on preferred 

solutions if these changes are 

considered significant

Oct/Nov 2023

What changes will you see 

in how care is provided?

Service Key change

Enhanced end-of-life care 

beds

Increase beds from 8 beds in Hillingdon 

to 54 beds across all our boroughs

Specialist hospice inpatient 

unit beds

56 beds are needed to meet future 

need. Improve access to them by 

increasing hours in which people can be 

admitted

We have ensured the changes:

Respond to feedback & engagement

Align with policy & best practice guidance

Respond to future need (5-years)

Respond to inequalities

Address variation in care across NW London

Embed greater care co-ordination

Make NW London a more attractive place to work

Will be tested for affordability

Service Key change

Adult community specialist 

palliative care team

7 day service available 12 hours per day 

in all boroughs

Hospice at home Care available in all boroughs, 7 day 

service, available up to 24 hrs

24/7 specialist phone advice Consultant-led advice, available to 

anyone

P
age 51

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 52



1 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Community-based specialist palliative care for adults:  
 
Co-designing a new, improved model of care  
 
An opportunity to give your views on how we best improve care  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Our vision and aims 
 
North West London residents and their families, carers and those important to 
them have equal access to high quality community-based specialist palliative and 
end-of-life care and support, that is coordinated, and which from diagnosis 
through to bereavement reflects their individual needs and preferences. 
 
We want to make sure service provision is sustainable and that we can continue 
to deliver the same level of high quality care in the future.   
 
 

 
Version 1.0 - 21 August 2023   

 

Page 53Page 53



2 | P a g e  
 

 
Contents 
 
1. Introduction ........................................................................................................ 4 
2. Acknowledgments ............................................................................................. 7 
3. Executive summary ........................................................................................... 9 
4. About us ........................................................................................................... 15 
5. What do we mean by palliative and end-of-life care? ................................... 17 

5.1 What services are provided as part of community-based specialist palliative 
and end-of-life care? ............................................................................................. 18 

6. Current community-based specialist palliative care service provision for 
adults in NW London ............................................................................................. 20 
7. How do the proposals address the eight key issues we are seeking to 
address through this review ................................................................................. 22 

7.1 Issue one: Responding to future need and meeting the palliative care needs of 
NW London’s changing population ....................................................................... 24 
7.2 Issue two: Addressing service variation, improving access to care for all and 
making sure that everyone receives the same level of care, regardless of where 
they live ................................................................................................................. 27 
7.3 Issue three: Reducing health inequalities and social exclusion ....................... 30 
7.4 Issue four: Integrated delivery of care and making care more joined up and 
easier to navigate .................................................................................................. 31 
7.5 Issue five: Responding to feedback and engagement and building on the 
valuable learning and feedback received from previous reviews of palliative and 
end-of-life care services and ongoing engagement .............................................. 32 
7.6 Issue six: Making sure our services are aligned to nationally recommended 
standards and evidence ........................................................................................ 34 
7.7 Issue seven: How financially sustainable is community-based specialist 
palliative care now and in future? .......................................................................... 34 
7.8 Issue eight: Recruiting and retaining a skilled workforce now and for the 
future  .................................................................................................................... 35 

8. The NW London adult community-based specialist palliative care new model 
of care working group (new model of care working group) ............................... 36 
9. Introducing the proposed NW London adult community-based specialist 
palliative care new model of care ......................................................................... 38 

9.1 Service area 1: Care at home ......................................................................... 38 
9.2 Service area 2: Community specialist in-patient bed care .............................. 39 
9.3 Service area 3: Hospice out-patient services, hospice day care services and 
well-being services (including psychological and bereavement support services for 
patients and families) ............................................................................................ 39 
9.4 Summary of the core services within the three service areas ......................... 41 
9.5 How the new model of care works? ................................................................ 43 
9.6 The important role of community-based specialist palliative care in supporting 
system flow and improved outcomes for patients ................................................. 45 

10. The three care service areas and their core service offers explained ......... 48 
10.1 Service area 1: Care at home ....................................................................... 48 
10.2. Service area 2: Community specialist in-patient bed care............................ 64 
10.3 Service area 3: Hospice out-patient services, hospice day care services, and 
community-based specialist palliative care well-being services (including 
psychological and bereavement support) ............................................................. 78 

Page 54Page 54



3 | P a g e  
 

11. The key enablers that will help us deliver the new model of care ............... 85 
11.1 Workforce development to address the need for a pipeline of skilled workers 
into the future ........................................................................................................ 86 
11.2 Reducing inequalities in access, outcomes and experience ......................... 88 
11.3 Data, digital and technology to support future service planning .................... 89 
11.4 Organisational development to support working together differently ............. 89 
11.5 Leadership, governance and integration ....................................................... 90 

12. Engaging on the new model of care and next steps ..................................... 92 
12.1 Tell us what you think?.................................................................................. 92 
12.2 How we will use your feedback ..................................................................... 93 
12.3 Next steps ..................................................................................................... 94 

13. Concluding comments ..................................................................................... 95 
Appendix A: NW London community-based specialist palliative care new 
model of care working group ................................................................................ 96 
Appendix B: The NW London community-based specialist palliative care 
steering group ...................................................................................................... 100 
Appendix C: Model of care development ........................................................... 101 

Local documentation ........................................................................................... 101 
National documentation ...................................................................................... 101 

Appendix D: Continuum of care.......................................................................... 103 
Appendix E: Summary of service improvements by NW London borough .... 105 

Brent 105 
Ealing .................................................................................................................. 107 
Hammersmith and Fulham .................................................................................. 109 
Harrow ................................................................................................................ 111 
Hillingdon ............................................................................................................ 113 
Hounslow ............................................................................................................ 115 
Kensington & Chelsea ........................................................................................ 117 
Westminster ........................................................................................................ 119 

Appendix F: Glossary .......................................................................................... 121 
Appendix G current hospice out-patient, hospice day care and well-being 
services provision ................................................................................................ 129 
 
   

Page 55Page 55



4 | P a g e  
 

1. Introduction 
 
We are delighted to share with you the results of a journey we started in 2021 to 
shape the future provision of adult (18+) community-based specialist palliative care 
services in North West London (NW London). Community-based specialist palliative 
care services are part of a much larger pathway and picture for palliative and end-of-
life care in NW London.  
 
We also acknowledge this improvement work for community-based specialist 
palliative care services is in many ways a starting point and that more needs to be 
done to improve palliative and end-of-life care as whole, by which we mean the 
generalist services provided by a range of services in our hospitals, in the community 
and in general practice. Whilst some of this is being addressed in other NW London 
improvement programmes such as community nursing and care homes, there's still 
more that will need to be done in the future. 
 
Only a small number of the population require these specialist services, whereas the 
majority of the population will need generalist palliative and end-of-life care support 
from other health and care services in the community. From the outset of this work 
we have been and continue to be committed to approaching this important topic in a 
way that brings together the needs and feedback of our communities, as well as 
making sure the approach incorporates clinical best practice and is evidence-based.  
 
Over a twelve-month period, a group of NW London residents with lived experience 
of palliative and end-of-life care, as well as bereavement, along with clinicians and 
providers, were brought together into a model of care working group. The group met 
over thirty times to systematically co-design the services and support the 
development of a new, improved model of care that we believe will meet the needs 
of NW London residents for the next five years and beyond. This document 
represents the culmination of time and energy invested by a large diverse group of 
people and I am thankful to them for helping us get to this point 
 
We are also tremendously pleased that the model of care has received the 
unanimous support of all the NW London hospices and NHS providers of 
community-based specialist palliative care services and was approved via the NW 
London community-based specialist palliative care steering group, which includes all 
charitable and NHS providers of community-based specialist palliative care services 
in NW London and some wider palliative and end-of-life care stakeholders. 
 
We would like to express our gratitude to all the residents, families and carers who 
have given their personal time to work alongside us and challenge our thinking 
throughout. We are grateful to you for sharing your experiences, at one of the most 
difficult moments in your lives, to help improve the future experience of others. We 
shared this through the published engagement outcome report. 
 
In our engagement and the work that we have carried out through the model of care 
working group, we have considered the needs of our diverse communities and those 
with protected characteristics including people who live with learning disabilities, and 
people who are experiencing homelessness and LGBTQI. in some cases, we carried 
out literature reviews and spoke to experts representing some of these communities. 

Page 56Page 56

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/how-get-involved/engagement-outcome-report
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/how-get-involved/engagement-outcome-report


5 | P a g e  
 

This insight was published in the engagement outcome report. Engagement will also 
continue and a full equality health impact assessment will be carried out in the future. 
We would also like to thank the clinicians and providers who have engaged with us 
on model of care discussions, bringing their years of experience and knowledge to 
the steering and working groups. Lastly, we would like to thank our local authority 
partners for their insights and contributions. These have been invaluable in shaping 
the range of services and support that we are proposing should be delivered in NW 
London.  
 
The model of care working group has been responsible for the development of the 
new, improved community-based specialist palliative care model of care and agreed 
the following principles that would be needed to deliver good care to our NW London 
residents: 
 

 Increased personalised care based on the patients or individual needs. 

 Increased cultural sensitivity in delivering care. 

 Improved communication with patients and support networks. 

 Increased partnership working and coordination among care providers. 

 Increased use of technology to augment care delivery across all services 
lines. 

 Making sure we fully use our workforce and their expertise to help them 
provide the best possible care and support to patients, families and those 
important to them. 

 
The model of care working group found that there was, overall, good provision of 
community-based specialist palliative care services in NW London. We already have 
the key ingredients necessary to provide high quality specialist palliative care for 
those who need it towards the end of their lives. The services that are currently 
available meet the standards of good practice which are set out nationally.  
 
However, we do have some gaps in service provision and opportunities to improve 
care. We aim to provide the same core level of high-quality community-based 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care to all residents in NW London, regardless of 
their community or borough. Taking into account patients’ medical and social needs 
and circumstances, our goal is to deliver this care in their preferred location in as 
much as possible.  
 
It is important to acknowledge that despite the efforts of the supportive teams in the 
community to provide this care in alignment with patient preferences, a patient’s 
medical and social circumstances may limit their options for where they receive their 
care. Where it is not clinically safe for the patient or appropriate for those providing 
care to the patient, unfortunately, individuals may need to be moved to a different 
place of care where they can receive the appropriate care and support and ensure 
their safety and well-being. 
 
NHS North West London (NHS NW London) and the model of care working group 
want all NW London residents to have consistent and equal access to: 
 

Page 57Page 57



6 | P a g e  
 

 A wide range of high-quality community-based specialist palliative care 
services that helps patients to stay at their usual place of residence, but 
allows them the flexibility to move to a different care setting if it is needed. 

 Extended service provision aligned to best practice and guidance, along with 
minimum common service standards. 

 Specialist palliative care telephone advice available 24-hours per day, 7-days 
per week for residents and their families, carers and clinicians, whether 
residents are already known to the community-based specialist palliative care 
services or not. 

 An increased range and number of community specialist in-patient bed care 
options, by introducing enhanced end-of-life care beds for people with less 
complex specialist palliative care needs who still require in-patient care, on 
top of the existing specialist hospice in-patient beds that we currently have. 

 The right number of the most specialist hospice in-patient unit beds, to care 
for the patients projected to need this level of palliative care over the next five 
years and beyond. 

 
We are satisfied that we have identified the key areas we need to address to 
improve community-based specialist palliative care for our residents. We have 
worked in a true partnership between local residents, health and care professionals 
and the charitable hospice and NHS providers to achieve this.  
 
We can already see how these improvements could support patients and their 
carers, families and those important to them when facing the challenges of life 
limiting illness and the palliative and end-of-life care journey.  
 
We now want to work with local residents and our partners to ensure the model of 
care and the wide range of services and support included within it reflects all that we 
have heard. 
 
We look forward to receiving your feedback on the proposed model of care. 
 
 
 
 

 

Dr Lyndsey Williams 
Co-chair, community-based specialist 
care model of care working group 
GP clinical lead for palliative and end-
of-life care and care homes, NHS NW 
London 

Robyn Doran 
Senior responsible officer, community-
based specialist palliative care 
programme and director of 
transformation, Central and North West 
London NHS Foundation Trust and 
Brent Integrated Care Partnership 
director and  
 

 
 

 

Page 58Page 58



7 | P a g e  
 

Jane Wheeler 
Co-chair, community-based specialist 
care model of care working group and 
director of local care, NHS NW London 
 

 

 
 

2. Acknowledgments 
 
This document has been produced by the NHS NW London programme team 
working on the community-based specialist palliative care review. The work reflects 
the recommendations of the NW London community-based specialist palliative care 
model of care working group, whose membership included: 
 

 Twelve patient representatives (local residents and carers with lived 
experiences of palliative and end-of-life care services) 

o Marion Sumerfield  
o Emily Engel  
o Eugenie White  
o Sonia Richardson  
o Sally De Jongh  
o Atanaska Velkova  
o Madhu Jani  
o Amina Potter  
o Shawana Iram  
o Lorraine Ainscow-Searle  
o Bansari Rupani  
o Sneha Dewan  

 Our community-based specialist palliative care providers 
o Harlington Hospice 
o St John’s Hospice 
o Royal Trinity Hospice 
o St Luke’s Hospice 
o Marie Curie Hospice (Hampstead) 
o Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust (CLCH) 
o Central and North West London NHS Foundation Trust (CNWL) 
o London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust (LNWH) 

 Other key palliative and end-of-life care stakeholders within NW London 
integrated care system 

o London Ambulance Service NHS Trust  
o NW London Continuing Health Care (CHC) 

 NW London programme team members 
o Dr Lyndsey Williams, Co-chair, community-based specialist care model 

of care working group and GP clinical lead for palliative and end-of-life 
care and care homes, NHS NW London 

o Robyn Doran. Senior responsible officer, community-based specialist 

palliative care programme and director of transformation, Central and 

North West London NHS Foundation Trust and director of Brent 

Integrated Care Partnership 

Page 59Page 59



8 | P a g e  
 

o Jane Wheeler, Co-chair, community-based specialist care model of 
care working group and director of local care, NHS NW London 

o Michelle Scaife, programme delivery manager, last phase of life 
(adults) and London’s Universal Care Plan (UCP), NHS NW London. 

 
We would firstly like to thank the members of the model of care working group who 
met thirty-eight times. Their time, energy, insights, ideas and challenges have 
contributed to the recommended model of care detailed in this document. 
 
We have received a tremendous amount of feedback and we would like to thank 
everyone who has taken the time to contribute and share the good and bad 
experiences of care that they and their loved ones received.  
 
This has been done through the case studies, where people shared their own personal 
journeys, the people who have attended our various engagement events and our 
partners whose positive response to the review has been very welcoming. 
 
These stories are deeply personal, but we found that participants wanted to share 
them because they are passionate about improving the care and support that people 
receive in NW London. 
 
  

Page 60Page 60



9 | P a g e  
 

3. Executive summary 
 
When people are nearing their end-of-life it’s important that they, their families and 
those important to them can take comfort in the knowledge that there are services 
and support in place to help them make the last stage of their life as good as 
possible. 
 
Palliative and end-of-life care is a priority for the NW London Integrated Care System 
and our health and social care partners across NW London, as well as being a 
national priority.  
 
In NW London we have some excellent generalist and specialist palliative and end-
of-life care services for adults (aged 18 and over), provided by very committed 
partner organisations, but we know that we need to improve the care we provide in 
hospitals, community settings (such as hospices and care homes), primary-care 
settings and patients’ own homes. 
 
We also know that not everyone gets the care and support they deserve in the 
community. Sadly, in NW London too many people experience less than ideal care 
as they approach the end-of-their life, with many people spending their last months 
and weeks in hospital, often dying there, which is not what they want. This is 
distressing for the patient and their loved ones. It also puts strain on emergency 
departments and acute hospital beds, diverting NHS resources that could be better 
used to meet patient needs in more appropriate or effective ways. 
 

 
What do we mean by home? 
 
Throughout this document we use home to describe the patients usual place of 
residence: What we mean by home or usual place of residence is a place where 
you live most of the time and feel comfortable. It's where you have your own 
space and belongings and normally live most of the time/ spend the majority of 
your days and nights. It's the place you call home. It could be an apartment, 
house, hostel or shelter, dedicated care setting (care home, sheltered housing 
accommodation and mental health facility) where you have a consistent living 
arrangement at this place. 
 

 
In 2021, we recognised there was a need to carry out a review of community-based 
specialist palliative care services because it was the most fragile part of all the 
palliative and end-of-life care services (generalist and specialist) in NW London. We 
identified eight key issues we needed to address and published an Issue Paper that 
set out these reasons and engaged with local residents and partners to find out what 
was important to them. 
 
Our aim is to develop a new model of care for adult community-based specialist 
palliative care that will help us deliver high-quality services for the next five years and 
provide the foundation for the longer term. Beyond this we will make sure our 

Page 61Page 61

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/about-us/ICSICP
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/application/files/1616/3724/5470/NW_London_ICS_Community-based_specialist_palliative_care_review.pdf


10 | P a g e  
 

services have sufficient flexibility to increase service provision against a projected 
growth in demand, as and when that arises.  
 
A model of care is a framework that explains what care will be provided and how 
services work together to deliver care that meets the needs of the population and 
incorporates best practice. Providers will then use the framework to deliver care with 
the expectation that we improve overall care for people. A model of care will bring 
together regulatory, organisational, clinical and financial factors to outline the way in 
which care will be delivered locally. 
 
The role of the model of care working group has been to jointly co-design a future 
model of care for community-based specialist palliative care for adults (18+ years) in 
NW London with advanced or life limiting conditions, collaboratively agreeing “what 
good looks like’ and setting a common core offer across the various services. The 
group also collaboratively agreed the design principles. 
 
Some of the services within the new model of care already exist across all boroughs, 
while others are new additions and will provide a common standard of care. This is 
particularly significant for boroughs where the services currently do not exist or there 
is significant variation for boroughs.  The recommended model of care would deliver 
the following for all NW London adult residents for the first time: 
 
Service area 1: Care at home 
 

 Adult community specialist palliative care team: 
 7-day service with working hours of 8 am - 8 pm – this is a change from 

9am - 5pm working hours and some services (Harrow) only operating 5 
days a week at present. 

 Increased support to care homes – common core level of training and 
support. 

 Hospice at home: 
 Supporting up to 24-hour care at a patient’s home (including overnight 

sitting services) in close collaboration with usual community care 
teams. This is currently not being provided across all existing services.  

 Expansion of services to additional boroughs currently without this 
service: Hammersmith & Fulham, Ealing, and Hounslow. 

 24/7 specialist telephone advice line - a common core service for 
patients who are already known to community-based specialist 
palliative care services as well as those who are unknown patients. 
This is a change from current 24/7 specialist palliative care advice line 
services, which in the main only support known patients and have 
variation in the level of advice and support offered.  

 
Service area 2: Community specialist in-patient beds 
 

 An increased number of beds in the community, which includes dedicated 
enhanced end-of-life care beds available across all of NW London for patients 
who either do not require a hospice bed but cannot stay at home due to 
medical and social needs, or who do not wish to stay at home, or who do not 
want to, or do not meet the need to be in a hospital.  

Page 62Page 62



11 | P a g e  
 

 Maintaining the current number of operational hospice in-patient unit beds to 
support our patients with the most complex specialist palliative care needs. 

 
Service area 3: Hospice out-patient services, hospice day care services and 
well-being services (including psychological and bereavement support 
services for patients and families) 
 
Whilst all our boroughs currently have access to hospice out-patient clinics, hospice 
day care services and well-being services via their local providers, variation in the 
level of support provided was identified: 
 

 We aim to make sure hospice out-patient multidisciplinary team (MDT) clinics 
(including but not limited to medical and nursing clinics, rehabilitation via 
therapists, and dedicated lymphoedema services) deliver the same core level 
of service. This refers particularly to the boroughs of Ealing and Hounslow 
where doctor and nurse led clinics are currently not available via Meadow 
House Hospice, as well as Harrow where there is currently a gap in provision 
of lymphoedema services for non-cancer patients. We propose to expand 
lymphoedema service provision for these non-cancer patients in Harrow. 

 We aim to make sure well-being services (including hospice day care support 
groups, family and carer practical support and education, complimentary 
therapies, and dedicated psychological and bereavement support services 
deliver a core level of service. Particularly for psychological and bereavement 
support services for patients, their families, carers and those important to 
them which includes: a more streamlined pathway to access these services; 
increased personalisation of care for example offering one-to-one and group 
sessions, face-to-face and virtual support; and increased cultural and spiritual 
sensitivity to delivery of this care and support. While all boroughs currently 
have access to some psychological and bereavement services, this varies in 
level of support. 
 

 
  

Page 63Page 63



12 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
  

   Future offer Current offer 

About Susan 

Susan is 78 years old and was diagnosed with dementia five years ago. 
She has a care plan and remains at home with the help of her husband and 
carer support three times a day from the council. She currently receives 
general palliative care from her GP, community district nurses and the 
community mental health team. She is now showing signs of entering the 
terminal phase of her illness and a review of her care plan by the generalist 
palliative care teams identifies additional complex needs including pain 
management and social factors. She is referred to the adult community 
specialist palliative care team, part of the community specialist palliative 
care services in NW London to provide specialist support for Susan, her 
carers and the generalist palliative care team supporting her at home. 

Susan is showing signs of entering the terminal 
phase of her illness with new complex needs 
identified when reviewing her care plan. She is 
referred to the adult community specialist 
palliative care team for specialist support. 

1. The adult community specialist 
palliative care team accept the 
referral but are unable to support 
Susan, her carers and general care 
teams at this time due to their current 
limited capacity and a need to 
prioritise more complex patients.   

 

2. Susan’s husband and the community 
teams providing generalist palliative 
care are unable to support her 
complex needs. And as per her care 
plan Susan is taken to hospital. 

 

3. Susan is discharged and her care 
plan updated for increased social 
care support and adult community 
specialist palliative care team to 
ensure all available community 
support is now being accessed. The 
community specialist palliative care 
team visit and provide support for the 
complex care needs. The care plan 
includes a care preference for an in-
patient hospice unit should her 
complex needs continue to not be 
met. 

 

4. Susan, her carers and the community 
teams continue to struggle, and she 
is re-admitted to hospital as her 
deterioration was out of hours, rapid 
and the in-patient hospice unit was 
unable to admit due to other patients 
requiring support as a priority. 
Unfortunately, she passes away 
whilst awaiting a care home 
placement.  

1. The adult community specialist 
palliative care team are able to 
support Susan, her carers and 
community teams supporting general 
palliative care, with the complex 
needs sooner due to their increased 
hours. Her care plan includes 
guidance on complex need 
management.   

 

2. At night when worried there is a 24/7 
telephone advice line that Susan and 
her family can call so they are 
supported and provided with symptom 
management advice. 

 

3. The adult community specialist 
palliative care services regularly 
review Susan, her carers and 
community teams changing needs. A 
Multidisciplinary Team discussion and 
review of Susan’s care plan is 
arranged by the community palliative 
care team with Susan and those 
involved in her care. An enhanced 
end-of-life care bed is preferred over 
in-patient hospice unit. 

 

4. Susan, her carers and those involved 
in her care were involved in the MDT 
and care plan. Susan is transferred to 
an enhanced end-of-life bed. Where 
her long term complex needs can be 
met.  

 

5. Susan was safe, comfortable and 
supported and her family were able to 
be with in her final days. 

 

Page 64Page 64



13 | P a g e  
 

The proposed model of care aims to offer more personalised and culturally sensitive 
care to address the diverse needs of the entire NW London population.  The model 
seeks to achieve this through a number of design principles and enablers which 
support tailoring services to individual preferences, cultural competence training for 
staff and actively collaborating with local organisations and partners. 
 
The ultimate goal is to make sure there is fair access to high-quality community-
based specialist palliative and end-of-life care for all NW London residents, while 
creating a supportive and inclusive environment throughout all aspects of care and 
services.  
 
The specific details of how the services will be organised and provided will be 
determined in the next phase of the programme, once the new care model is 
finalised. These details are therefore not included in this document. 
 
The next phase of the programme will be engagement seeking input from the public 
on the proposed new model of care for community-based specialist palliative care 
services that is laid out in this document.  
 
Engagement on the model of care will continue throughout the summer and early 
autumn and will continue as we move forward. 
 
During this engagement phase, we aim to engage widely and work with our public 
and stakeholders to: 
 

 Provide an overview of the development process of the proposed new model 
of care. 

 Outline the contents of the proposed new model of care (what is the model of 
care and not how it will be delivered). 

 Seek feedback on the new model of care. 
 
Further details of this engagement, including events and how to respond to this 
document are available here: www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/cspc  
 
While this document does not present options for the delivery of the proposed new 
model of care, it will emphasise the importance of a well-distributed service that 
ensures equal access to the necessary care. 
 
Next steps after this engagement phase – September 2023 onwards: 
 

 We will publish feedback received and potentially a revised model of care 
which has considered that feedback. 

 We will explain the next steps of the process to support having this model of 
care agreed and implemented for NW London. 

 The programme team will develop a long-list of options for delivery of the new 
model of care with the steering group doing the initial shortlisting. 

 
We will then move to the next stages of making recommendations about options for 
any formal consultation should this be deemed necessary.  
 

Page 65Page 65

http://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/cspc


14 | P a g e  
 

We will continue to work with NW London residents and stakeholders throughout this 
process and we are immensely grateful for the continued engagement and 
contributions which are vital to the success of this transformative initiative.  
 
If you have any questions or require further information, please do not hesitate to 
contact us at nhsnwl.endoflife@nhs.net.  
 
  

Page 66Page 66

mailto:nhsnwl.endoflife@nhs.net


15 | P a g e  
 

4. About us 
 
This improvement programme is being carried out by NHS NW London under the 
leadership of the NW London Integrated Care System (NW London ICS). 
 
NW London comprises the London Boroughs of Brent, Ealing, Hammersmith and 
Fulham, Harrow, Hillingdon, Hounslow, Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster. 

 
The NW London ICS consists of all NHS organisations and local authorities in NW 
London.  The following are partners in the NW London ICS: 
 

 NHS North West London (including all NHS boroughs) 

 Central and North West London NHS Foundation Trust (CNWL) 

 The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

 Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust (CLCH) 

 Hounslow and Richmond Community Healthcare NHS Trust 

 Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 Royal Brompton and Harefield Hospitals  

 Chelsea and Westminster NHS Foundation Trust 

 London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust (LNWH) 

 London Ambulance Service NHS Trust 

 West London NHS Trust 

 Brent Council 

 Harrow Council 

 Hounslow Council 

 Ealing Council 

 Hammersmith & Fulham Council 

Page 67Page 67

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/about-us/ICSICP


16 | P a g e  
 

 Hillingdon Council 

 Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea 

 Westminster City Council 
 
The NW London ICS serves a population of over 2.1 million people. The purpose of 
the NW London ICS is to reduce inequalities, increase quality of life and achieve 
outcomes on a par with the best of global cities.  Its priorities are to: 
 

 Improve outcomes in population health and health care. 

 Tackle inequalities in outcomes, experience and access. 

 Enhance productivity and value for money. 

 Help the NHS support broader economic and social development. 
 
To find out more about NHS NW London visit www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk 
 
To find out more about NW London ICS visit www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk 
 
  

Page 68Page 68

http://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/
http://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/


17 | P a g e  
 

5. What do we mean by palliative and end-of-life care? 
 
Palliative and end-of-life care focuses on enhancing the well-being of individuals with 
life-limiting illnesses as their health declines and cannot be reversed. This care 
supports both the person experiencing the illness and their caregivers, including 
family and friends. The person's wishes are respected to the extent possible, 
allowing them to pass away with dignity in line with their preferences. The main aim 
is to provide compassionate and understanding support during this difficult time, 
prioritising comfort, pain relief, emotional support, and supporting the best possible 
quality of life throughout this challenging time.  
 
If you have a serious illness and your health is not likely to improve, you may be 
offered palliative and end-of-life care services. Here's what these terms mean: 
 

 Palliative care is a treatment, care and support approach that focuses on 
improving your quality of life by managing symptoms, relieving pain, and 
addressing the side effects of your condition. It also provides support for 
your emotional and practical needs, along with those of your family, friends 
and caregivers. 

 End-of-life care is specific type of care for individuals nearing the final 
stages of their life. It aims to ensure comfort, dignity, and support, 
managing symptoms and providing emotional and practical assistance. 

 Generalist and specialist palliative care: Palliative and end-of-life care 
and support is made up of different levels of care and support, commonly 
referred to as generalist and specialist palliative and end-of-life care. It is 
provided by different health care professionals across different settings. 

 Generalist palliative and end-of-life care is the main foundation level of 
palliative and end-of-life care support and is provided by healthcare 
professionals such as a general practitioner (GP), community nurses 
(including district nurses), care home staff, therapists, domiciliary home 
care staff (for example care agency staff either arranged by the council, 
through NHS funded continuing health care or privately) and hospital ward 
staff who have a general understanding of and training in palliative care. 
They provide support to patients with serious illnesses or nearing the end-
of-life in their home or a medical facility such as a hospital or hospice. For 
the majority of people with life-limiting or advanced illnesses, this level of 
care is sufficient throughout their palliative and end-of-life journey, 
whereas some individuals may require specialised care. 

 Specialist palliative and end-of-life care is an advanced and specialist 
level of palliative and end-of-life care provided by expert health care 
professionals who have received specialised training in this field. Care is 
provided by a specialist palliative care multidisciplinary team including but 
not limited to doctor, nurses, therapists, social workers and psychologists. 
They work with a patient’s regular care teams in the community to provide 
additional support and guidance for complex symptoms and challenges. 
This type of care is required by individuals with advanced and life-limiting 
illness that have complex needs and can be medical and social. This care 
is usually provided in specialist palliative care units, hospices, or at the 
patient’s own home via the specialist multidisciplinary team across 

Page 69Page 69



18 | P a g e  
 

services. This type of specialist care is not required by everybody with 
palliative care needs and at the end-of-life.  

 

Source: Adapted from diagram produced by Providence Health Care 
 
5.1 What services are provided as part of community-based specialist 
palliative and end-of-life care? 
 
These services aim to manage symptoms, enhance quality of life, and provide 
support during the end-of-life process. The goal is to collaborate with patients and 
their loved ones, tailoring care to meet their specific needs and wishes, and 
ultimately improve the overall quality of their life and death. 
 
As mentioned in the description for specialist palliative care above, community-
based specialist palliative and end-of-life care services are also provided by a 
specialist multidisciplinary care team providing support across a range of services as 
follows: 
 

 Service area 1: Care at home 
o Adult community specialist palliative care team 
o Hospice at home 
o 24/7 Specialist palliative care telephone advice 

Page 70Page 70

https://hpc.providencehealthcare.org/about/what-palliative-care


19 | P a g e  
 

 Service area 2: Community specialist in-patient beds 
o Enhanced end-of-life care beds  
o Hospice in-patient unit beds 

 Service area 3: Hospice out-patient services, hospice day care services 
and well-being services (including psychological support and 
bereavement support services) 

o Hospice out-patient clinics (including lymphoedema) 
o Hospice day care services 
o Well-being services (including psychological and bereavement support 

services) 
 
 
 
  

Page 71Page 71



20 | P a g e  
 

6. Current community-based specialist palliative care service provision for adults 
in NW London 
 
There are eight community-based specialist palliative care providers in NW London 
delivering a wide range of community-based specialist palliative care services and 
support in each borough. 
 
Three NHS providers – Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust (CLCH), 
London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust (LNWUHT) and Central and 
North West London NHS Foundation Trust (CNWL) – receive their funding from the 
NHS. The other five providers are independent charitable hospices and receive their 
funding from a combination of NHS and charitable income.  
 
Map of NW London’s commissioned community-based specialist palliative 
care providers, their services and locations (View a full size map by clicking 
here). 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

Page 72Page 72

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/application/files/4816/9243/5690/NW_London_CSPC_provider_map_by_borough.pdf


21 | P a g e  
 

 

Area NW London’s commissioned community-based specialist 
palliative care service providers by borough 

Brent  St Luke’s Hospice  

 Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust 
providing Pembridge Palliative Care Services  

 St John’s Hospice 

 Marie Curie Hospice Hampstead 

Ealing  London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust 
providing Meadow House Hospice 

Hammersmith 
& Fulham 

 Royal Trinity Hospice  

 Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust 
providing Pembridge Palliative Care Services 

 St John’s Hospice 

Harrow  St Luke’s Hospice 

 Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust 
providing Pembridge Palliative Care Services 

Hillingdon  Harlington Hospice (including provision of Michael Sobell 
House in-patient unit at Mount Vernon Hospital) 

 Central and North West London NHS Foundation Trust  

Hounslow  London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust 
providing  Meadow House Hospice  

Kensington & 
Chelsea 

 Royal Trinity Hospice 

 Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust 
providing Pembridge Palliative Care Services 

 St John’s Hospice 

Westminster  Royal Trinity Hospice 

 Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust 
providing Pembridge Palliative Care Services 

 St John’s Hospice  

 
  

Page 73Page 73



22 | P a g e  
 

7. How do the proposals address the eight key issues we are seeking to 
address through this review 
 
While we understand the importance of community-based specialist palliative care 
working in close partnership with other care sectors, such as acute specialist 
palliative care and other community services that provide generalist palliative and 
end-of-life care, to support good community-based specialist palliative care, our 
programme of work does not involve reviewing the provision of acute specialist 
palliative care and these other community services.  
 
In late 2021, we set out the reasons we needed to improve community-based 
specialist palliative care for adults (18+ years) in an Issues Paper and highlighted 
that it is the most fragile part of the palliative and end-of-life care services in NW 
London.  
 
We identified eight key issues that needed to be addressed and engaged with local 
residents and partners to find out what was important to them. 
 
We can demonstrate how both the process and resulting product of this work 
responded to the original eight issues highlighted below: 
 

The eight key issues 
we need to respond to 

Key examples of how the issue has been built into the 
approach or model of care 

1 
Respond to future 
need 

 Used data to model 5 and 10-year demand for community-
based specialist palliative care services and applied this to 
current services to understand future service demand. 

 Examined feedback from national surveys and reports to 
explore changing public expectations on care at the end-of-
life and included this in model of care development.  

2 
Address service 
variation 

 Developed a new model of care that addresses the current 
variation in service offerings to residents across our eight 
boroughs to support improving equitable access to services 
to make sure everyone can access services more fairly and 
consistently.  

3 
Respond to 
inequalities 

• Undertook a travel mapping exercise (travel analysis) to 
understand impact on communities travelling to current in-
patient units. We will undertake further travel analysis as part 
of the next phase of this work to understand impact of 
proposed options to deliver the new model of care.  

• Made sure there was representation of different 
faiths/ethnicities in the NW London model of care working 
group and made sure our engagement strategy reaches our 
diverse communities.  

• The model of care working group have agreed five key 
enablers to support the successful implementation and 
delivery of the new model of care. Development of a strategy 
and plan for supporting organisations to achieve cultural 

Page 74Page 74

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/application/files/8216/3768/6784/NW_London_ICS_Community-based_specialist_palliative_care_review.pdf


23 | P a g e  
 

competency so they can effectively provide care in line with 
the new model of care.  

4 Integrated delivery 

• Care co-ordination has been recognised as being key 
element of the new care model, which includes making sure 
that appropriate information is shared among providers to 
support seamless delivery of care. Improving co-ordination 
will be embedded in to the structure as part of the 
implementation of the new model of care.  

5 
Responding to 
feedback and 
engagement 

• Involved patients, carers, clinicians and members of the 
public in co-designing the model of care, ensuring the voice 
of local residents is truly reflected in service design  

• Hosted various NW London and borough based events, 
culminating in published engagement reports which have fed 
into the model of care working group discussions and design 
principles. 

6 
Align with policy & 
best practice 
guidance 

• Reviewed best practice and national guidance and 
integrated these within model of care working group 
discussions to shape and develop each core service offer  

• Actively engaged with other organisations, areas and 
systems who have been implementing new models to inform 
our local work. 

7 
Financially 
sustainable 

• Made sure financial sustainability is a key principle and key 
hurdle criteria within the programme to make sure that 
actions and development are not only impactful but enduring 
for the longer term.  

8 
Recruitment and 
retention 

• Engaged staff and care providers throughout development to 
ensure the future model of care is clinically sound and 
reflects good practice, making NW London an attractive 
place to work. Engagement will be ongoing through the 
development of the enablers and implementation phase of 
this work.  

 
 
  

Page 75Page 75



24 | P a g e  
 

7.1 Issue one: Responding to future need and meeting the palliative care 
needs of NW London’s changing population 
 
We committed to undertaking further demand modelling and population projections 
for a ten-year period to support future services modelling (see the full analysis). 
 
The outcomes of this work show that we can expect growth in hospice and specialist 
palliative care service in-patient unit beds use to be in-line with the growth in the 
overall number of deaths in the NW London population over time. This is the result of 
an ageing population, population growth and a number of other factors such as 
increasing morbidity from chronic illness.   
 
The model of care group looked at different ways to model future demand 
recognising that there is no exact way of predicting this, but with an expressed desire 
to factor in unmet need (ie not just roll forward the activity we have now, increased to 
reflect population growth). This modelling approach shows we currently have 
sufficient numbers of the most specialist hospice in-patient beds across our current 
hospices to accommodate all patients who need this type of highly specialist support 
and care until 2031.  
 
How is our population likely to change over time? 
 
We are expecting the population of NW London to grow by 5% over the ten-year 
period between 2023 and 2033, similar to the growth in population expected across 
London.  

 
 
 
 

Page 76Page 76

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/co-designing-new-improved-model-care/respond-future-need-meeting-palliative-care-needs-nw-londons-changing-population


25 | P a g e  
 

 

 
During this time, the population size in NW London will grow from approximately 2.17 
million people to 2.28 million. At this time, we anticipate the greatest growth in 
Hillingdon, Harrow and Hounslow. 
 
Nationally, 85% of deaths occur in people over the age of 65 years1. In NW London, 
the 65+ population is expected to grow by 30% over the same ten-year timeframe. 
This is a much faster rate than the overall population. Looking further still, 
approximately 55% of deaths occur among the 80+ population and this group is 
expected to grow by 32% in NW London. 
 
How do we expect deaths to change over time? 
 
Due to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, we are cautious about applying 
mortality projections based on 2020 and 2021 data. In 2022 we recorded 12,111 
deaths across NW London boroughs. Based on this, we expect annual deaths to 
increase to 14,587 by 2033.  
 
This is impacted by an ageing population and population growth and is based on the 
pattern of change modelled nationally2.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
1 Monthly figures on deaths registered in England and Wales, ONS, August 2022 
2 ONS Deaths Data 

Page 77Page 77



26 | P a g e  
 

How many people need palliative care each year? 

 
What are the causes that contribute to this?  
 
Leading causes of deaths among adults include dementia, ischaemic heart disease, 
chronic lower respiratory disease, stroke and cancer. You can find out more about 
leading causes of death through the office of national statistics. 
 
Where do people die? 
 
According to national data (see table below), the current statistics for NW London 
show that approximately half of people (48%) pass away in hospitals, while 28% die 
at home. Additionally, 12% of people die in care homes, and 5% pass away in 
hospices. These figures are consistent with the data observed in London as a whole. 
However, it is important to note that we have not yet reached the national average, 
particularly concerning deaths in care homes and homes. 
 
The proportion of deaths in care homes and hospices has remained broadly similar 
over time. Whereas the proportion of deaths occurring in hospital has fallen and the 
proportion of deaths at home has increased over time, indicating potential changes 
in proactive end-of-life care planning and changing attitudes around remaining in the 
home environment.  
 
While preferences on place of death haven’t been collected locally, the National 
Survey of Bereaved People (2015)3 suggested 81% of people wished to die at home. 
8% of people stated a preference for a hospice, 7% for a care home and only 3% for 
a hospital.  
 
It should be noted that care homes are also for many people ‘their home’ although 
this might not be considered when expressing their wishes earlier in their end-of-life 
journey. 

                                                           
3 National Survey of Bereaved People (VOICES - Views of Informal Carers - Evaluation of Services), 
England, 2015  

 

Page 78Page 78

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/articles/leadingcausesofdeathuk/2001to2018


27 | P a g e  
 

 
Public engagement has also highlighted that people change their mind or that their 
circumstances change, affecting their preferred place of death.  
 

 
Source: ONS 2022 (Death registrations and occurrences by local authority and 
health board) 
 
7.2 Issue two: Addressing service variation, improving access to care for all 
and making sure that everyone receives the same level of care, regardless of 
where they live 
 
Making sure all NW London residents receive the same high level of core 
services 
 
We identified at the start of the review that not everyone in NW London receives the 
same level of care, regardless of where they live. We have done mapping of 
existing services to identify gaps in provision and variation, which have been used 
to support the recommendations for the service common core offers and changes 
proposed in the new model of care.  At the moment there are differences in the 
quality and level of community-based specialist care that patients, families and 
carers across NW London receive. This means that depending on where a patient 
lives, they and their family and carers may not get the support they need, and may 

Page 79Page 79



28 | P a g e  
 

not be able to have their wishes supported at the end of their life. We committed to 
do all we can to make sure this is not the case. 
 
This was reinforced during our engagement where we received feedback on areas 
of concern where we were able to take immediate action.  Not all these relate to 
community-based specialist palliative care but they highlight how the work we are 
carrying out is able to influence care across the whole palliative care pathway in a 
positive way.  There were also some areas identified that will be addressed through 
implementation of the recommended model of care. 
 

Feedback Action taken 

Align GPs more closely with individual 
care homes and develop enhanced 
care service for care home residents. 
 
This needs to include the development 
of  personalised care plans to support 
their care needs and expressed wishes 
and involve relevant health 
professionals and the families and 
carers in these care planning 
conversations in as much as possible. 

As part of the Primary Care Network 
(PCN) Direct Enhanced Service (DES) 
all care homes in NW London have a 
named GP and where possible are 
aligned to a single PCN.  
 
A NW London wide common core 
standard has been agreed that will 
provide enhanced support to care 
homes and cover the provision of 
multidisciplinary team (MDT) working 
and personalised care and support 
planning. This includes advance care 
planning and use of the Universal Care 
Plan. 
 
Implementation is being done at a local 
level in each of the NW London 
boroughs 

Increased access to end-of-life and 
anticipatory medication in the 
community. 
 
Community Pharmacists should be 
included in the engagement and review 
process to understand the issue of 
availability and timely access to end-of-
life medication for patients, families and 
carers and clinicians in the community. 

Not all boroughs had the same level of 
in and out of hours’ access to end-of-
life care and anticipatory medication.  
 
The gap in West London, Central 
London and Hammersmith & Fulham 
boroughs was closed by 
commissioning an equivalent service, 
meaning that since the pandemic all 
NW London residents have equal 
access to these medications 24-hours 
a day. 
 
The NW London Medicines 
Management Team have put in place 
services to make sure there is ongoing 
24-hour access to end-of-life and 
anticipatory medications in the 
community. 

Page 80Page 80



29 | P a g e  
 

 
NW London implemented the Pan-
London Symptom Control 
Administration (MAAR) Chart,  
This MAAR chart supports safe 
administration of complex injectable 
regimens. NW London also 
collaboratively developed with key 
stakeholders a NW London wide 
resource to support primary care with 
palliative and end-of-life care symptom 
management, accessing anticipatory 
medications, accessing community 
based specialist palliative care for 
adults and use of the MAAR chart 

Access to 24/7 end-of-life care advice 
and support for patients, families, 
carers and clinicians, which includes a 
single point of access and co-
ordination service.  
 
This is of particular importance during 
the out of hours period between 5pm 
and 8am when the patient may be 
experiencing a lot of pain and the 
family and carer may not be able to 
contact the usual care team or know 
which services to contact for support. 

All of the hospices that provide 
services in NW London now provide 
24/7 nurse-led advice lines that have 
24/7 palliative care consultant support. 
 
A further gap was identified for the 
Harrow Community Specialist Palliative 
Care team who do not have seven day 
working and visiting available. This will 
need to be addressed through the 
implementation of the recommended 
new model of care. 

Having hospice in-patient services 
locally is very important, particularly for 
residents where the spouse, carer and 
family of the patient requiring hospice 
in-patient care is elderly or has family 
and work commitments and are 
negatively impacted by increased 
travelling time.  
 
Consideration should be given to re-
opening the Pembridge in-patient 
service as part of the service review. 

The model of care working group is 
recommending that there is an increase 
in the range and number of specialist in-
patient bed care options available by 
introducing enhanced end-of-life care 
beds, for people with less complex 
specialist palliative care needs who still 
require in-patient care. This will be on 
top of the existing hospice in-patient 
beds that we currently have. 

Not enough support available or not a 
consistent offer of bereavement 
support (pre and post death) available 
to patients, families and carers.  
 
Feedback included whether this could 
be reviewed as part of the latest 
programme of work to understand 

Bereavement care and support really 
came to the fore as a gap nationally, 
regionally and locally during the Covid-
pandemic.  
 
Through the community-based 
specialist palliative care review 
programme we have scoped current 

Page 81Page 81

https://www.england.nhs.uk/london/london-clinical-networks/our-networks/end-of-life-care/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/london/london-clinical-networks/our-networks/end-of-life-care/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/london/london-clinical-networks/our-networks/end-of-life-care/


30 | P a g e  
 

current provision and what more could 
be done to improve the offer. 
 

provision and gaps for NW London and 
considered how to improve these 
services as part of the new model of 
care development work.  
 
See section 10.3c Service area 3 
Hospice out-patient services, hospice 
day care services, and  well-being 
services (including psychological and 
bereavement support) for further 
details. 

 
We extensively mapped existing services to identify gaps in provision and variation, 
which have been used to support the recommendations for the service common 
core offers and changes proposed in the new model of care.  
 
The recommended model of care seeks to improve the care offered so that 
everyone in NW London irrespective of where they live will receive the same high 
level of core services at the end of an agreed implementation period. 
 
7.3 Issue three: Reducing health inequalities and social exclusion 
 
A goal of the review was to mitigate health inequalities and social exclusion, 
which act as a barrier to people receiving community-based specialist palliative 
care. 
 
Health inequalities are much broader than this work as acknowledged in the NW 
London health inequalities strategy.  
 

 
NW London health inequalities strategy 
 
Health inequality is a major problem for NW London. People in less well-off 
areas are more likely to have a disability or be living with a long term condition. 
People from a Black, Asian or other ethnic minority background are more likely 
to live in less affluent areas, as are people who are less well educated or 
working in lower paid jobs. People from these populations can find it harder to 
access healthcare, receive a high quality service and get a good health 
outcome. The Covid-19 pandemic has both increased health inequality in NW 
London and shone a spotlight on it. Over the next five years, we’re determined 
to transform care to ensure greater equality of access, experience and 
outcomes. This will include tackling difficult issues like structural racism and 
poverty4. 
 
The NW London commitment 
 

                                                           
4 NW London ICS: Tackling health inequality across NW London 

Page 82Page 82

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/application/files/9216/5761/6109/NW_London_ICS_-_Addressing_Inequalities_across_NW_London_July_2022.pdf


31 | P a g e  
 

Our commitment starting from now and over the next five years, is for NW 
London to rapidly progress towards a place full of healthy communities, where 
we can – as individuals, families, and friends – all contribute to (and benefit 
from) inclusive economies, lead flourishing lives, and maximise our wellbeing 
and independence. 
 

 
In support of this wide NW London commitment we are recommending the 
introduction of a range of initiatives including the introduction of a cultural 
competency training programme, culturally sensitive care planning and asking all 
providers to commit to an outreach programme.  
 
More detail of our plans to reduce health inequalities can be found in section 11.2 
the key enablers that will help us deliver the new model of care. 
 
7.4 Issue four: Integrated delivery of care and making care more joined up and 
easier to navigate 
 
We committed at the start of this work to make it easier for people to access 
services, particularly across our more diverse communities. We acknowledged that 
some of our services are not joined up and do not work well together, and we need 
to change this. This was also a constant theme coming through our engagement. 
 
We are seeking to address this through the model of care with improved access and 
extended opening times including the 24/7 advice line which will help known and 
unknown patients and families. More detail of our plans to improve access and 
increasing the reach of the services can be found in section 11 the key enablers that 
will help us to deliver the new model of care. 
 
The review programme has also brought together our charitable and NHS providers 
of care and they have been working collectively to agree the model of care and 
discuss how they can better work together. At a very basic level our providers 
continue to meet weekly sharing issues and solutions together, avoiding reinventing 
the wheel and providing mutual support on how to best improve care.  This basic 
joint working is unusual across the country and provides a bedrock for integration 
and transparency on challenges.    
 
More needs to be done to integrate our acute specialist and generalist palliative care 
services but this is acknowledged and we have a number of actions which support 
this. The implementation of the Universal Care Plan is key as it supports good 
information sharing across organisations reducing the need for patients to repeat 
their stories. 
 
  

Page 83Page 83



32 | P a g e  
 

7.5 Issue five: Responding to feedback and engagement and building on the 
valuable learning and feedback received from previous reviews of palliative 
and end-of-life care services and ongoing engagement 
 

 
“We would like to thank everyone who has taken the time to read through the 
Issues Paper and for attending one of our events, completing the survey or giving 
us feedback by other means. The feedback received has been both personal and 
will provide valuable insights on how we get end-of-life and palliative care 
services right for all residents.” 
 
Robyn Doran, senior responsible officer, NW London community-based 
specialist palliative care review programme 
 

 
Following publication of the Issues Paper in November 2021, we spent considerable 
time listening to the views of our communities to understand what was important to 
them in receiving community-based specialist palliative care.  
 
We arranged a series of ten events and webinars at which we presented and took 
questions from members of the public and clinical staff, capturing the key issues 
raised and ensuring these fed back into the work to develop the model of care. 
 
Following these meetings we were referred to or approached a number of voluntary 
and community organisations and representatives for further one-to one interviews 
and discussions aimed at gaining an in-depth understanding of the issues and 
challenges for specific (often hard-to-reach) groups of people. 
 
This in turn helped us identify some key groups for whom we lacked information or 
input and needed to link-in with experts both locally and nationally to better 
understand what was important to these groups in terms of end-of-life and specialist 
palliative care. This led to us conducting desk research, reviewing the information 
published by health providers, charities and journals, and producing three literature 
reviews covering learning disabilities, people living with homelessness and younger 
adults (approximately 18-45 years old), which we published and used as evidence in 
the review.  
 
We attended, and continue to attend, Health and Wellbeing Boards, Scrutiny 
Committees and Health Committee sessions across the NW London boroughs to 
brief elected members and stakeholders on our work and answer their questions on 
the development of the model of care.   
 
In addition to all of these direct meetings and conversations, we developed a number 
of online surveys through which local residents and health and social care 
professionals could give their views. Open-ended questions were also included to 
give respondents the opportunity to express their opinions in their own words. We 
received feedback from 188 respondents across six surveys, along with two formal 
written submissions.  
 

Page 84Page 84

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/application/files/8216/3768/6784/NW_London_ICS_Community-based_specialist_palliative_care_review.pdf
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/how-get-involved/engagement-events-meetings-attended-and-11-conversations
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/how-get-involved/engagement-events-meetings-attended-and-11-conversations
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/how-get-involved/engagement-events-meetings-attended-and-11-conversations
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/how-get-involved/literature-reviews
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/how-get-involved/literature-reviews
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/how-get-involved/engagement-events-meetings-attended-and-11-conversations
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/how-get-involved/engagement-events-meetings-attended-and-11-conversations
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/how-get-involved/surveys


33 | P a g e  
 

During this engagement work, we met or spoke to some local residents who were 
kind enough to share their stories so we could use them as case studies to illustrate 
both the good experiences and the challenges that people face when using 
community-based specialist palliative care services. This led to the development of 
nine patient stories that highlighted problems that need to be addressed and how the 
model of care will need to support improvements. 
 
The overall feedback was published in the Engagement Outcome Report and we 
used these valuable insights from members of the public to feed directly into the 
development of a new model of care.  
 
We have also taken a number of actions to address issues and make improvements 
whilst our work on the new model of care is ongoing. These are covered in section 
7.2 and within the Engagement Outcome report (pages11-14) and include, for 
example, increasing access to end-of-life and anticipatory medication in the 
community and access to 24/7 end-of-care advice. 
 
From the extensive engagement undertaken, we collected a wealth of feedback that 
described ‘what’ services needed to provide from the perspective of service users 
and families and also ‘how’ they are cared for. The substantial feedback can be 
summarised into the following themes. 
 

Engagement Themes Summary Feedback 

1 Best possible care 
 

High quality care delivered in the optimal place, 
supported by evidence-based pathways  

2 Care tailored to my 
needs  
 

Care personalised to me, my preferences and 
needs. An approach to care planning that 
factors in my individual requirements, 
considering my conditions. For example, 
dementia, my ethnicity or sexual orientation.  

3 Providing connected 
care  

Care providers working together so care feels 
integrated and services are easy for me and my 
family to navigate and access.  

4 Staying informed  I know where to find information regarding 
specialist palliative care services across NW 
London. I know who I can speak to find help and 
support. 

5 Creating professional 
culture and 
behaviours that 
exhibit sensitivity and 
compassion  

All staff exude compassion in their interactions 
with me, my family and those important to me. 
They show an understanding of how my faith 
and culture might lead to differences in the help 
I need. 

Page 85Page 85

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/how-get-involved/case-studies
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/how-get-involved/engagement-outcome-report
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/how-get-involved/engagement-outcome-report


34 | P a g e  
 

6 Supporting carers & 
families through end-
of-life and beyond  

Bereavement, respite and emotional support. 

 
7.6 Issue six: Making sure our services are aligned to nationally recommended 
standards and evidence 
 
Periodically reviewing local services to check they are responding to the latest 
evidence and best practice guidelines helps us to make sure we continue to improve 
care for residents. 
 
In the case of improving community-based specialist palliative care, we are guided 
by a core set of documents that nationally describe what good end-of-life care looks 
like. These are outlined below. For a more complete set of guidance we have used, 
please see Appendix B. 
 

 
 
7.7 Issue seven: How financially sustainable is community-based specialist 
palliative care now and in future? 
 
To cope with the increasing financial challenge, the NHS and social care is facing 
and the effect this has on community-based specialist palliative care we need to 
make sure the model of care and the service options that are developed are 
affordable and sustainable for the long-term. 
 
Nationally, NHS spending has not been cut, but we have to acknowledge the 
financial constraints that local authorities are operating under and the knock on effect 
it has. NHS spending has risen slightly above inflation every year since 2010. But the 
costs of providing care are rising much more quickly than that, due to innovative but 
costly new technologies and rapidly increasing demand from a rising and ageing 
population. This has been further accelerated by the Covid-19 pandemic and has 
worsened since then.  
 
The amount spent across NW London on community-based specialist palliative care 
in 2021/2022 was around £18 million. Whilst the amount we spend is not likely to fall, 
we cannot be sure we will be able to get an increase in funding as we move forward. 
We must take this into account when developing services if we are to develop 
equitable and sustainable services for the future. We also need to take into account 

Page 86Page 86



35 | P a g e  
 

that if we delivered everything that everyone wanted our services would not be 
affordable. In addition, we have found: 
 

 The majority of funding for hospice comes from donations and fundraising 
which means they are at risk if a crisis such as Covid-19 leads to a fall in this 
funding stream 

 There is considerable variation in NW London’s community-based specialist 
palliative care contracts and the amount the NHS pays. Work is being carried 
out to look at look at how we can standardise payments 

 Moving forward, affordability will be one of the criteria in accessing which 
service options are deliverable.  

 
The non-NHS hospice sector is reliant on a combination of NHS and non-NHS 
funding, with the latter requiring substantial fund raising by the charitable hospices.  
During the pandemic the amount the hospices were able to fundraise was 
substantially reduced.  However, national NHS support was a welcome means of 
making sure the hospice sector was able to continue critical delivery. Recovery after 
the pandemic, coupled with pressures from increased cost-of-living and the NHS pay 
award, mean the hospice sector faces further unprecedented financial challenges. It 
is in the best interest of NW London ICS and NW London residents to avoid any 
organisation becoming unviable. Therefore, in future all funding plans will need to 
take into account the need to build-in this resilience and the partnership we have as 
co-funders of services. 
 
7.8 Issue eight: Recruiting and retaining a skilled workforce now and for the 
future 
 
At the beginning of the review we acknowledged the difficulty all organisations were 
having in recruiting and keeping suitably qualified staff, and the knock-on effect this 
has on our ability to provide services. In the period since then this has worsened and 
there is a national shortage of staff in all areas, not just palliative care. 
 
The new model of care has to address different ways of working, focusing on how 
we support our staff regardless of what organisation they work for. We also need to 
make best use of our most hard to find team members. To do this we need to think 
about how we can plan for workforce growth, but in the interim focus on productive 
ways of working. Our providers are really good at sharing their learning on what has 
worked well. For example, how we use support roles so our most skilled roles are 
not doing the ‘chasing’ that other team members can help with, and how we balance 
out home based care and out-patient care to enable efficiencies in the way we care 
for patients, whilst at the same time maintaining the quality of care.   
 
Notwithstanding this, the developing NW London Health and Care Strategy has 
workforce development as a key priority and it is a key priority for the programme.  
Being able to recruit and retain staff is key to delivering the model of care and more 
of our plans to build a skilled workforce are laid out in Section 11.1 Workforce 
development to address need for pipeline of skilled workforce into the future. 
  

Page 87Page 87



36 | P a g e  
 

 
8. The NW London adult community-based specialist palliative care new model 
of care working group (new model of care working group) 
 
Following the launch of the Issues paper in November 2021 and on the back of our 
engagement about the issues, the new model of care working group was set up by 
the NW London ICS to develop a model of care to make sure: 
 

 The themes raised through our engagement were addressed 

 All NW London residents are able to access the services, if needed   

 That high quality community-based specialist palliative care is delivered 
equitably and sustainably across NW London. 

 
The model of care does not address how we will configure services. What is 
describes is the level of care that all residents should expect to receive. 
 
Click here to view the minutes of the model of care working group 
 
Membership of the group, which met thirty-eight times over a year, consisted of local 
residents, clinicians and other palliative and end-of-life care stakeholders, and more 
details can be seen in the acknowledgement section of this document.  
 
The objective of the group was to develop a new model of care for community-based 
specialist palliative care for adults that addressed “what good looks like”, including 
developing the underpinning design principles and high level cross-cutting enablers 
to support implementation and delivery of the new model. 

 
This involved using engagement feedback, national guidance and supporting 
documentation, and key reports to agree a set of key definitions standards and a 
common core offer of services. This will later be built into a single service 
specification for NW London once the new model of care has been agreed.  
 
During meetings the group looked in detail at the different aspects of community-
based specialist palliative care drawing on: 
 

 The national service specification for adult palliative and end-of-life care 

 The previous NW London palliative care review programme work from 
2019/2020 

 The qualitative and quantitative feedback from residents and healthcare 
professionals obtained through our extensive engagement 

 Population projections 

 Demand modelling 

 Travel mapping. 
 
The new model of care working group have collectively agreed and recommended a 
set of core services with a common core offer for community-based specialist 
palliative care provision that NW London residents can expect to receive regardless 
of the borough they live in. Some of these services are already available to all 
boroughs, while others are new additions for some boroughs and will raise and 
improve the standard of care where these services do not exist or vary a lot.   

Page 88Page 88

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/publications/navigate/1127/3279#ccm-block-document-library-1127


37 | P a g e  
 

 
They have also agreed five cross cutting enablers to support successful 
implementation and delivery. These are detailed in the following sections of this 
document.  
 
The model of care has also been agreed by the NW London community-based 
specialist palliative care steering group. 
 
  

Page 89Page 89

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/developing-model-care-and-co-design-and-option-appraisal-process/nw-london-cspc-steering-group
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/developing-model-care-and-co-design-and-option-appraisal-process/nw-london-cspc-steering-group


38 | P a g e  
 

9. Introducing the proposed NW London adult community-based specialist 
palliative care new model of care 
 
The recommended model of care has three key service areas, each providing 
different services to meet the patient needs. Within these three service areas are 
seven core service lines For NW London the eight community-based specialist 
palliative care providers we commission will deliver a comprehensive range of 
services for all NW London residents. 
 
9.1 Service area 1: Care at home 
 
In this service area, the focus is on delivering compassionate and specialised care to 
patients in the comfort of their homes. The primary aim is to maximise the quality of 
life and comfort of the patient and support their wish to remain at home or usual 
place of residence in the community during their palliative and end-of-life journey.  
 
To make sure the patient receives the highest quality of care, a dedicated adult 
community specialist palliative care team is at the forefront of care, providing 
personalised and comprehensive support. This team is well-equipped to handle 
various aspects of care, including pain relief, symptom management, and emotional 
support, tailoring their approach to meet the unique needs and preferences of each 
patient.  
 
The specialist nurses in this team play a key role in co-ordinating the patient’s care 
with the other services and health professionals involved in the patient’s care. They 
also: 
 

 Support carers by providing information on their needs, education and 
practical support. 

 Provide training and education for care home staff and wider generalist 
palliative care health professionals.   

 
The hospice at home service, a vital component of this service area, offers direct 
hospice care to patients in their home or usual place of residences. This service 
provides comfort for patients and essential support to caregivers, acknowledging the 
significant role they play in the patient's palliative and end-of-life care journey. 
 
The service area also includes 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice for 
patients (both known to services and the wider community with palliative care 
needs), their family, carers and clinicians in the community.  
 
It gives continuous access to expert medical guidance and support to navigate 
services for patients and their families. The round the clock availability of this support 
helps to improve the wellbeing and care of patients with the knowledge that they 
have that support easily accessible.  
 
It also minimises the need for unnecessary hospital admissions, as patients can 
receive timely advice, particularly during out-of-hour periods.  
 

Page 90Page 90



39 | P a g e  
 

By prioritising home-based care, this service area aims to improve patient outcomes 
by enhancing their overall well-being at home and reducing the stress associated 
with unnecessary hospital admissions. It helps to make sure that patients receive the 
right care at the right time in the comforts of their familiar surroundings. 
 
For further detail see section 10.1 
 
9.2 Service area 2: Community specialist in-patient bed care  
 
For this service area there are two types of beds available to meet the diverse needs 
of patients with specialist palliative care needs and approaching the end-of-life. 
 
Firstly, the enhanced end-of-life care beds which cater to a specific group of patients 
who have some specialist palliative and end-of-life care needs but may not be 
eligible for hospice in-patient unit beds as their needs are not complex enough to 
require this level of support. These patients may not be able to stay at home due to 
various medical and social reasons. They may also prefer not to stay at home or be 
in a hospital setting, or need to be in hospital. These enhanced end-of-life care beds 
offer a wider range of care options for this group of patients. The main goal is to 
address the unmet needs of these patients and provide them with the best possible 
care and support during their end-of-life journey. 
 
Secondly, there are hospice in-patient unit beds specifically designed to support 
more complex patients. These patients might require a short admission to a hospice 
in-patient unit bed to receive specialised and intensive support. They may have 
challenging symptoms that need stabilisation or may need expert assistance during 
a complex death process. The hospice in-patient unit beds offer 24-hour intensive 
medical support to provide the necessary care for the needs of these types of 
patient. 
 
By offering both types of beds, patients have improved choices for in-patient bed 
care in the community that better suits their individual requirements and preferences. 
The focus is on making sure that each patient receives the right level of care at the 
right time during their end-of-life journey when they need in-patient bed care. 
 
For further detail see section 10.2 
 
9.3 Service area 3: Hospice out-patient services, hospice day care services 
and well-being services (including psychological and bereavement support 
services for patients and families) 
 
Community-based specialist palliative care recognises the importance of addressing 
the physical, emotional, and spiritual well-being of patients. This service area is 
dedicated to providing out-patient and well-being services to patients and their 
families, caregivers and those important to them. It offers a comprehensive range of 
support for individuals facing life-limiting illnesses.  
 
At the heart of these services are a multidisciplinary team of professionals who are 
specialists in palliative and end-of-life care who collaborate to complete holistic 
assessments and develop personalised care plans and treatment interventions 

Page 91Page 91



40 | P a g e  
 

tailored to each patient's unique needs and circumstances (for example pain 
management, diagnostics, rehabilitation). They provide support via multidisciplinary 
out-patient clinics which can be one–to-one or group sessions.  
 
For patients with lymphatic system issues (cancer and non-cancer related), the 
service area also provides specialised lymphoedema services as part of out-patient 
clinics. The aim is to make sure that they receive expert care and management for 
their lymphoedema condition. 
 
Recognising the significant emotional and psychological impact that life-limiting 
illnesses can have on both patients and their loved ones, the service area offers 
crucial psychological support. This support entails counselling and therapy services 
designed to address the emotional and psychological needs of patients and their 
loved ones as they navigate the challenges that come with the illness. 
 
Furthermore, the service area extends its support beyond the patients’ lifetimes. 
Following the death of a patient, their loved ones can access bereavement support 
services, which aim to assist them in coping with grief and loss. These services 
include one-to-one grief counselling and group therapy, providing a safe space for 
individuals to process their feelings and find support among others who have 
experienced similar losses. 
 
In addition to traditional medical approaches, the service area recognises the 
importance of holistic well-being as part of well-being services, with hospices offering 
a range of day care services (for example peer support groups led by volunteers) 
and complimentary therapies (for example massage, art therapy, music therapy, 
relaxation therapies) to promote overall wellness and complement conventional 
medical treatments. This further enhances the quality of care and support they 
provide to patients and their families. These therapies are not routinely funded by the 
NHS as national guidance describes this type of care and support as “enhanced” 
non-core clinical services not funded by the NHS. 
 
The model of care working group recognised the importance of the hospices 
continuing to provide these day care and complementary services as part of their 
well-being service offer via chartable funding avenues. They also recommended that 
we include improved bereavement and psychological support as a core service 
element of the well-being offer in the new model of care. 
 
For further detail see section 10.3 
 
  

Page 92Page 92



41 | P a g e  
 

9.4 Summary of the core services within the three service areas 
 
The table below summarises the core services that make up each of the three 
service areas in the model, the current levels of service available in NW London and 
explains where the changes will take place as part of the recommended new model 
of care. 
 

 Core Service Current service levels Recommendations for 
new model 
 

Service area 1: Care at home  

1a Adult community 
specialist 
palliative care 
team 

Available in all boroughs  
9am to 5pm, but with some 
services operating seven 
days and others only five 
days (for borough of 
Harrow) 

Increased service hours to 
8am to 8pm, and all 
services to be seven days  
 
 

1b Hospice at Home Available in five boroughs, 
but not Ealing, 
Hammersmith and Fulham 
and Hounslow, and not all 
providing consistent offer 
of up to 24-hours of care if 
needed 

Extended service coverage 
to all boroughs and 
increased consistent service 
offer of up to 24-hours 

1c 24/7 specialist 
palliative care 
telephone advice  

Available in all boroughs 
but not all services 
consistently supporting 
patients who are known 
and unknown to their 
services 

Extended service offer  
consistently available to 
unknown patients in addition 
to known patients 

Service area 2: Community specialist in-patient beds 

2a Enhanced end-
of-life care beds  

Available only for borough 
of Hillingdon 

Extended offer to remaining 
seven boroughs who 
currently don’t have this 
provision 

2b Hospice in-
patient unit bed 
care 

Available for all boroughs, 
but services currently do 
not consistently support 7-
day admissions for 
planned and unplanned 
(emergency admissions) or 
have consistent admission 
criteria  

Consistent seven day 
admissions for both planned 
and unplanned admissions, 
along with consistent 
admissions criteria across 
all providers of these 
hospice inpatient unit 
services 

Service area 3: Hospice out-patient services, hospice day care services and 
well-being services (including psychological and bereavement support 
services)  

Page 93Page 93



42 | P a g e  
 

3a Hospice out-
patient services 
including out-
patient clinics 
with the hospice 
multidisciplinary 
team (MDT) and 
Lymphoedema 
services 
 

Out-patient clinics are 
available for all boroughs 
but there is a gap for the 
boroughs of Ealing and 
Hounslow for medical and 
nursing outpatient clinics 
 
Lymphoedema services 
are available to all 
boroughs but this is not a 
consistent offer, whilst the 
borough of Harrow only 
has cancer lymphoedema 
services available (no non-
cancer lymphoedema 
services available) 

Common offer for hospice 
out-patient clinics with 
extended non-cancer 
lymphoedema service 
coverage for borough of 
Harrow  

3b Day care 
services 
(including family 
and carer 
support services)  
 
Well-being 
services 
(including 
psychological 
and bereavement 
support services 
for patient and 
their family, 
carers and 
friends 

All providers offer a wide 
range of day care services 
which are charitably 
funded 
 
 
All providers offer a 
comprehensive range of 
well-being initiatives and 
access to complimentary 
therapies (via charitable 
hospices) 
 
All providers offer or 
support access to 
psychological and 
bereavement but the full 
complement of this type of 
support is only available in 
the borough of Hillingdon, 
who offer access to 
specialist psychological 
support services beyond 
the hospice  

A core level of service and 
clearer robust pathway for 
access to appropriate, 
psychological and 
bereavement support 
services in particular.  

 
Together, these core services will work in partnership to deliver the new model of 
care across NW London. By offering a single common and consistent level of high-
quality care, consistent service delivery and making sure that everyone in the 
community has access to the same standard of support.  
 
The way in which people will be cared for in our future model includes a greater 
degree of personalised care delivered in a culturally and faith sensitive manner, with 
improved coordination among providers and the various services. 

Page 94Page 94



43 | P a g e  
 

 
We recognise the value of each existing service and the care provided. Our proposal 
is to retain all of them in the future, but require them to deliver care to an agreed 
standard that has been identified by the model of care working group in accordance 
with national policy, best practice and our engagement outcomes. 
 
We also propose increasing the overall number of community specialist in-patient 
beds available to support patients by adding a new type of bed called "enhanced 
end-of-life care beds” to address a specific identified gap in our provision and meet 
more of our residents’ needs.  
 
Individual boroughs and providers will still have the flexibility to develop additional 
services to meet any local needs to safeguard against any service inequity for local 
communities. We want to foster innovation and spread good practice to wider 
populations as these are evaluated.  However, these services are out of the scope of 
the model of care at this time.  
 
We have also established a set of principles that underpin the future model, and will 
apply no matter what care offer you receive, or which setting you receive your care 
in. A summary diagram of the model of care can be found in section below. 
 
9.5 How the new model of care works? 
(click here to view a larger view of the diagram) 

 
 
The person with a life-limiting illness’s journey starts with health care professionals 
(for example GP, district nurse) involved in the patient’s care identifying patients who 
would benefit from the care and support that community-based specialist palliative 
care can provide. The patient is then referred for assessment by a health 
professional to see if they are eligible to make use of community-based specialist 
palliative care services. Residents also have the option to initiate a self-referral, but 
this will require additional clinical information to be provided from a healthcare 
professional involved in their care to support the referral process. 

Page 95Page 95

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/application/files/1216/9243/6144/NW_London_CSPC_model_of_care.pdf
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/application/files/1216/9243/6144/NW_London_CSPC_model_of_care.pdf


44 | P a g e  
 

 
The person and their family, carers and those important to them go through a 
comprehensive assessment and care planning process which will identify need and 
lead to the delivery of a personalised offer of community-based specialist palliative 
care. Advanced care planning will also take into account their future care 
preferences and services will support the patient in as much as possible to have 
those preferences adhered to. These steps and processes for providing the most 
appropriate care at the right time are also known as the care pathway. They go 
beyond palliative and end-of-life care for the patient, and also include emotional, 
practical and bereavement support for families and caregivers. 
 
Patients accepted by the services can expect to receive a package of tailored and 
coordinated care delivered in their home. 
 
In situations where patients are not accepted into the community-based specialist 
palliative care services, the relevant teams will assist by providing guidance and 
information to the referrer and patient. They will signpost the referrer or the patient to 
the most appropriate service available, making sure that patients receive the support 
they need.  Even if it is outside of the immediate scope of care for community-based 
specialist palliative care services. 
 
The care that patients, as well as their families and carers, receive depends on 
individual need and might include symptom management (including pain 
management, psychological symptom support for example) or bereavement support.  
 
People facing advanced illnesses and terminal prognoses often experience changing 
needs over time. They may require the support of a number of the community-based 
specialist palliative care core services to meet their unique needs. To make sure 
they continue to receive the support they need, patients will be regularly assessed by 
a team of multidisciplinary experts working in close collaboration with the patient’s 
GP, other community services and care professionals involved in the patient’s care.  
 
This assessment will include reviewing the care plans of patients and the needs of 
their caregivers, families, and other important individuals in their lives. By 
continuously assessing and adjusting the care provided as needed, the new model 
of care can effectively adapt to the evolving needs and preferences of each patient 
at the right time and most effectively.  
 
This will also be achieved through the services working more closely together and in 
closer partnership with other community services providing generalist palliative care 
and social care, for example district nurses and primary care, with frequent joint 
review of patients’ needs and preferences.  
 
Additionally, there will be an increasing use of technology within services to help 
deliver care. For example, we will expand the use of the London’s Universal Care 
Plan (UCP) across our care sectors and settings. This is a digital personalised care 
plan which is used to make sure that the patients’ wishes are recorded and shared in 
real time across the health and care system and that health and social care 
professionals can access whilst providing care.  Other examples include virtual 

Page 96Page 96

https://ucp.onelondon.online/about/


45 | P a g e  
 

consultation and scheduling tools, which help make best use of the workforce who 
are travelling in the community to deliver services to patients. 
 
The aim is to make sure the right level of support is provided at each stage of the 
patient’s journey through palliative care and to the end of their life. For example, a 
patient may start off being supported by the adult community specialist palliative care 
team, but as their condition or illness develops may also require the support of the 
hospice at home team. They may also require a short-term admission to a bed in a 
hospice in-patient unit if their illness, symptoms or social circumstances become too 
challenging for the care teams to manage at their home. They may then return home 
if their symptoms stabilised and continue to be supported by the hospice at home 
team until their death. This care approach is known as the ‘care continuum’ and you 
can learn more about how the care continuum applies to community-based specialist 
palliative care services in Appendix D.  
 
9.6 The important role of community-based specialist palliative care in 
supporting system flow and improved outcomes for patients 
 
For our emergency departments and wider parts of the acute hospitals (for example 
discharge hubs), the interface (a connection and interaction point) with both 
specialist and generalist community teams makes a difference to the patients 
involved and those important to them. Sectors and teams working together closely 
and effectively is key and this leads to better outcomes for patients, improved 
services, and better coordination of care.  
 
We recognise that where people are in hospital who don’t need or want to be there, 
this impacts on the acute hospitals’ wider system capacity to support other people 
with acute medical needs. There is a need to improve the coordination and 
communication between emergency department teams, discharge hubs, and 
community teams, particularly when it comes to palliative and end-of-life care. 
 
We described earlier the disparity between the numbers of people who say they 
want to die at home, versus those who actually do get to have their preference 
delivered on. Whilst this is not entirely down to specialist services, developing our 
model will clearly enable us to support more people in the community and thus this 
shift in terms of supporting more of people’s preferences. 
 
Through enhancing and strengthening our community-based specialist palliative care 
services, and improving our ways of working as part of the new model of care, we 
aim to: 
 

 Prevent unnecessary admissions and reduce the burden on emergency 
departments and acute hospitals. 

 Help our hospitals navigate what can be a complex number of community 
palliative care services. 

 Make sure that the right care is provided when patients arrive at the hospital. 

 Make sure there are smoother and faster patient discharges for patients who 
are ready to leave the hospital and can receive more appropriate care 
elsewhere. 

 

Page 97Page 97



46 | P a g e  
 

The services within the new model of care that will support delivery of this are: 
 

 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice - available for known and 
unknown patients, families and carers and clinicians via community-based 
specialist palliative care providers. This supports individuals to have access to 
expert guidance and signposting without needing to attend a hospital. It 
supports the reduction of unnecessary hospital admissions, and enhances 
patient care and family and carer experience particular out of hours. 

 More end-of-life care community specialist in-patient bed capacity- 
through the introduction of enhanced end-of-life care beds available to all of 
NW London residents, more patients will be able to receive appropriate bed 
care to meet their needs outside of an acute hospital or hospice in-patient 
unit. 

 Extended operating hours for adult community specialist palliative care 
teams to provide care at home - consistent adult community specialist 
palliative care teams, with longer working hours (7-days, 8am to 8pm) will 
enable more patients to receive this expert care in the community, particularly 
out of hours (after 5pm) when we know the access to other community 
support services and primary care is often challenging.  

 Enhanced and expanded hospice at home care service – a consistent 
hospice at home care service, that can provide up to 24-hours of support 
working closely with other community care teams. The service is available to 
all boroughs in NW London and is beneficial in further reducing hospital 
admissions and speeding up discharge for patients who prefer to receive care 
in the comfort of their own home. 

 
However, more needs to be done to streamline the link from emergency department 
teams and discharge hubs into our community palliative care teams and services, 
which goes beyond just community-based specialist palliative care services. This 
could best be described as setting an objective to make it simpler for hospital staff to 
communicate with services beyond the hospital and for patients to easily reach these 
services once they have left the hospital.  
 
Whilst this document and the new care approach do not define the details of what 
this might look like, we are dedicated to collaborating with our acute palliative care 
consultants, emergency consultants, discharge hubs, generalist and specialist 
palliative care community-based services and primary care teams to develop these 
ways of working and improve the ease of access to generalist and specialist 
community palliative care services .This way we aim to reduce the burden on busy 
emergency department teams when it comes to coordinating and guiding patients to 
community-based care that is available. 
 
In addition to making acute and community sectors work together better, our goal 
through this model and ongoing work to foster more collaboration, is to build strong 
partnerships among our different community services, as well as within community-
based specialist palliative care services themselves. By improving how we 
communicate, and coordinate care, we can offer more seamless care across 
community services, primary care, social care, and our specialised community 
palliative care. This is aimed at reducing avoidable hospital admissions and 

Page 98Page 98



47 | P a g e  
 

enhancing the overall healthcare journey and experience for patients with serious 
illnesses and their families. 
 
The overall aim is to create a more streamlined process for accessing and delivering 
community-based palliative care services. This collaboration is crucial in developing 
effective ways of working and robust processes to access the right care at the right 
time.  
 
  

Page 99Page 99



48 | P a g e  
 

10. The three care service areas and their core service offers explained 
 
There are three service areas included in the model of care that will support the 
patient and their family and those important to them at different stages of their illness 
depending on their preferences and clinical needs.  
 
Wrapped around the community-based specialist palliative care services is the less 
clear role of 'care coordination'. Coordinating care is crucial across all palliative care, 
not just the specialist services, especially for patients residing at home. To support 
better coordination: 
 

 Information should be shared through shared care records. 

 Multidisciplinary team working - different specialists working together as a 
team across services and sectors. 

 Service providers need to have simple access points for coordinating services 
within their organizations. 

 Supporting roles that work behind the scenes to follow up actions and 
administrative tasks, thereby freeing up clinicians to focus their time on clinical 
care delivery.  

 
10.1 Service area 1: Care at home 
 
The model of care describes three different services which support people in their 
home and usual place of residence in the community. These are: 
 

 Adult community specialist palliative care team 

 Hospice at home 

 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice 
 
These three services work together and link to generalist palliative care services like 
district nursing and general practice, and specialist palliative care in hospital. There 
are a number of ways that these services join up, for example via multidisciplinary 
teams (MDTs) and shared care records such as the London-wide Universal Care 
Plan (UCP) which is a digitally shared personalised care plan for people at end-of-life 
The UCP is  key to supporting patients’ wishes and preferences being 
communicated and facilitated across the health and care system.  
 
10.1a: Adult community specialist palliative care team 
 
What we mean by the adult community specialist palliative care team? 
 
The adult community specialist palliative care team consists of consultants, doctors, 
and clinical nurse specialists who provide essential support to patients with 
advanced and life-limiting illnesses in their home or usual place of residence.  
 
They prioritise aligning care with patients' preferences, offering symptom 
management, emotional support, and assistance with advance care planning. The 
aim is to make sure the patient has comfort, dignity, and overall well-being during the 
palliative and end-of-life journey.  
 

Page 100Page 100

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/professionals/universal-care-plan
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/professionals/universal-care-plan


49 | P a g e  
 

The adult community specialist palliative care team facilitate referrals to other 
community services, as well as other services within community-based specialist 
palliative care. They collaborate with other health care professionals such as GP, 
district nurses, social workers, therapists, and hospice teams to reassess patient 
needs and tailor comprehensive assessments and support for patients, families, and 
those important to the patient.  
 
The aim is to provide effective medical support, coordinated care, and access to the 
necessary resources they need to support patients at their home. They also provide 
training to enhance the understanding of palliative and end-of-life care among care 
home staff, informal caregivers, and community clinicians. 
 
Current adult community specialist palliative care team provision in NW 
London: 
 
In 2021/22, more than 6,500 individuals were under the care and support of the adult 
community specialist palliative care teams in NW London. By 2033, we expect this to 
rise to 7,700 people each year, a growth of 17%. 
 
Adult community specialist palliative care team support is provided across NW 
London by a combination of four non-NHS hospices, an NHS hospital provider and   
community NHS trusts. Each of the eight boroughs has access to adult community 
specialist palliative care team provision as follows: 
 

Area Which provider offers adult community specialist palliative 
care team services in each borough, and what are the service 
names? 

Brent  St Luke’s Hospice (North Brent Community Specialist 
Palliative Care Team) covering north of the borough  

 Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust 
(Pembridge Palliative Care Services’ - Community 
specialist palliative care team) covering south of the 
borough 

Ealing  London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust 
(Meadow House Hospice Community team)  

Hammersmith 
& Fulham 

 Royal Trinity Hospice (Community specialist palliative care 
team) covering south of the borough 

 Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust 
(Pembridge Palliative Care Services’ - Community 
specialist palliative care team) covering north of the 
borough 

Harrow  Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust (Harrow 
specialist palliative care team) 

Hillingdon  Central and North West London NHS foundation trust 
(Hillingdon Palliative care team) 

Page 101Page 101

https://www.stlukes-hospice.org/supporting-you/our-services/care-at-home/
https://www.stlukes-hospice.org/supporting-you/our-services/care-at-home/
https://clch.nhs.uk/services/palliative-care
http://meadowhouse.lnwh.nhs.uk/our-services/community-team/
https://www.royaltrinityhospice.london/community-services
https://clch.nhs.uk/services/palliative-care
https://clch.nhs.uk/services/specialist-palliative-care-harrow
https://clch.nhs.uk/services/specialist-palliative-care-harrow
https://www.cnwl.nhs.uk/services/community-services/hillingdon-palliative-care-team


50 | P a g e  
 

Hounslow  London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust 
(Meadow House Hospice community team) 

Kensington & 
Chelsea 

 Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust 
(Pembridge Palliative Care Services’ - Community 
specialist palliative care team) covering north of the 
borough 

 Royal Trinity Hospice (Community specialist palliative care 
team) covering south of the borough 

Westminster  Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust 
(Pembridge Palliative Care Services’ - Community 
specialist palliative care team) covering north of the 
borough 

 Royal Trinity Hospice (Community specialist palliative care 
team) covering south of the borough  

 St John’s Hospice (Community specialist palliative care 
team) 

 
Why change is needed 
 
Currently, the care available from our adult community specialist palliative care 
teams varies depending on where residents live. In Harrow this service does not 
operate seven days a week. It only operates five days a week, Monday to Friday 
from 9am to 5pm. In the others boroughs, support is offered seven days a week from 
9am to 5pm.  
 
The feedback from residents suggests the majority of people want to be supported at 
home, and spend their final days at home. However, this may not always be possible 
because they are not always able to secure face-to-face support from the adult 
community specialist palliative care team outside these hours during the week, and 
especially on weekends when there are fewer staff available.  
 
Whilst each hospice has a telephone helpline available that offers specialist palliative 
care telephone advice 24/7, not having in-person care from the adult community 
specialist palliative care team after 5pm is still a problem. We want to provide our 
residents with the highest quality care and support, and this means having 
healthcare professionals with the right expertise available for longer periods in 
patients’ homes. 
 
The lack of a common minimum standard for the support provided by the current 
adult community specialist palliative care teams also presents a challenge for 
delivering the best care and outcomes for patients and those important to them. This 
is particularly evident when it comes to assisting patients in care homes and making 
sure the broader palliative care workforce receives consistent training and specialist 
support.  
 

Page 102Page 102

http://meadowhouse.lnwh.nhs.uk/our-services/community-team/
https://clch.nhs.uk/services/palliative-care
https://www.royaltrinityhospice.london/community-services
https://clch.nhs.uk/services/palliative-care
https://www.royaltrinityhospice.london/community-services
https://www.stjohnshospice.org.uk/our-care/community-care
https://www.stjohnshospice.org.uk/our-care/community-care


51 | P a g e  
 

All adult community specialist palliative care teams currently provide some level of 
support to care homes (nursing and residential) but this is ad-hoc and varies across 
local boroughs and teams. 
 
To address these issues, we need to extend the availability of our adult community 
specialist palliative care team working hours, establish consistent standards of care 
and expand training opportunities.  
 
New model of care proposal for the adult community specialist palliative care 
team services  
 
The recommended new model of care proposal will deliver for all NW London 
residents regardless of where they live: 
 

 Service admission criteria: The service supports adults (18+) with advanced 
life-limiting illnesses (for example but not limited cancer, end-stage heart or 
lung disease, neurodegenerative disorders such as dementia and Parkinson’s 
disease, or advanced organ failure) with complex symptoms requiring expert 
management and specialised palliative care input for these symptoms and 
support with advance care planning. Service admission decisions are based 
on comprehensive assessments of the patients’ needs by the team, the 
patient and their family, and other services.  

 Service hours of operation: Care will be provided seven days a week, from 
8am to 8pm. A 24/7 specialist palliative care advice telephone line will be 
accessible outside these hours. 

 Referral route and how to access services: To access the services 
provided by the adult community specialist palliative care team, individuals 
can be referred by healthcare professionals such as GPs, hospital teams, 
hospice teams, and community nursing teams. Residents also have the option 
to initiate a self-referral, but this will require additional clinical information to be 
provided from a healthcare professional involved in their care to support the 
referral process. 

 Where is care provided: The adult community specialist palliative care team 
delivers care in residents' own homes or their usual place of residence in the 
community, which includes care homes (residential, nursing and learning 
disabilities homes), hostels, shelters, mental health facilities, supported living 
accommodations and prisons. They strive to create a comfortable and 
supportive environment wherever the resident prefers to receive their care. 
 

Key care duties and essential elements of care: 
 

 Holistic assessment and personalised care: The team conducts 
comprehensive patient-centred assessments and provides high-quality care 
that addresses complex medical, psychological, and social needs. They 
collaborate with other healthcare professionals and specialist teams to 
support personalised care in the patient's home or usual place of residence 
following assessment. 

 Symptom management: The team works closely with patients’ regular 
healthcare professionals and teams in the community to manage complex 

Page 103Page 103



52 | P a g e  
 

physical symptoms, alleviate pain, and improve overall comfort at home or in 
their usual place of residence.  

 Personalised care planning: The team involves the patient, their family, 
carers, those important to them and other health care professionals involved 
in their care to support personalised care planning, including advance care 
planning for patients. Clear information and instructions regarding the 
patient’s care needs and preferences are recorded on and shared via digital 
personalised care plans, for example the London Universal Care Plan (UCP) 
which is currently the recommended platform for urgent and end-of-life care 
plans in NW London and London. Regular reviews and updates of the UCP 
will supported alignment of care provided with the patients changing needs 
and preferences 

 Support for family, caregivers and those important to the patient: The 
team provides practical advice and provides and arranges emotional support 
and assistance with identifying respite care options. This type of support is 
crucial in improving outcomes for these individuals and the patients they 
support.  

 Collaboration with other healthcare teams: The team supports 
comprehensive and coordinated care by working closely with the patient’s GP 
and other community services, including social care, to support the setup of 
appropriate care in the home and respite care if needed.  The team will refer 
and coordinate care arrangements for community specialist in-patient care 
bed admissions if required. 

 Emotional support: The team offers or facilitates access to appropriate 
emotional and psychological support for patients, families, caregivers, and 
those important to them, based on identified needs through assessment. 

 Practical support: Assistance is provided in arranging home adaptations, 
equipment, and technologies in collaboration with community services and 
social care to enhance residents' independence and quality of life. 

 Information and guidance: The team provides information and directs 
individuals to available resources and support services, including home care 
options and financial assistance. 

 Use of technology: The team uses digital technology when appropriate to 
support care for patients, including for example virtual consultations and 
appointments and meetings with other health care professionals involved in 
patients’ care, enabling patients to receive more personalised care in line with 
their wishes in their home or usual place of residence and more co-ordinated 
care. 

 Supporting patient preferences about care/ death: The team respects and 
strives to facilitate the patient's preferred place of care and preferred place of 
death whenever possible, by creating a supportive environment regardless of 
this care setting and working closely with other community-based specialist 
palliative care and community services. This involves case management and 
liaison with other healthcare providers, and making sure necessary support is 
in place for the patient, family and carers. 
 

Additional support for care homes (residential and nursing) 
 

 Consistent care home (residential and nursing home) in-reach support 
for patients in standard residential or nursing home beds:  If a patient 

Page 104Page 104



53 | P a g e  
 

with specialist palliative care needs resides in a residential or nursing home, 
the adult community specialist palliative care team offers in-reach support 
within that setting to these patients. They work closely with the care home 
staff and multidisciplinary teams (MDT) to provide expert consultations, 
assessments, guidance, personalised care planning (including advance care 
planning), education and training for staff, emotional support, communication 
and collaboration, and assistance in transitioning to other places of care if 
needed. They will support this case management for patients in standard 
nursing or residential care home beds as appropriate.  Patients with complex 
specialist palliative care needs in care homes should be able to expect the 
same level of specialist palliative care expertise and support that a patient in 
their home would receive.  

 Training and education to the staff:  The adult community specialist 
palliative care team will provide training and education to the nursing and 
health care assistant staff who are providing care, equipping them with a 
better understanding of patient needs and the skills to provide appropriate 
care and support. 
 

Additional support for the system 
 

 Supporting the delivery of new dedicated enhanced end-of-life care beds 
available to all boroughs in NW London: The care received in these beds 
by specialist trained nurses is of a greater complexity and intensity for patients 
with palliative needs. In cases where patients require 24-hour nursing care 
and specialised palliative care input but do not meet the admission criteria for 
hospice in-patient beds and cannot or do not want to remain at home, 
admission to enhanced end-of-life care beds may be necessary. These beds 
offer trained nurses, supported by the adult community palliative care team, 
who can provide the required level of care while also respecting and 
supporting patients' wishes to remain out of the hospital setting. This 
approach aims to reduce inappropriate and avoidable hospital admissions. 

 
What will be different 
 
The new model of care will boost the quality and accessibility of the adult community 
specialist palliative care team services through: 
 

 Consistent seven-day service and equal care across all boroughs: 
Services are available 7-days a week, offering needed support during 
evenings and weekends. All residents, regardless of location, will have access 
to high-quality care. This is a step up in care from the current situation where 
coverage varies across boroughs. This will include strengthened weekend 
workforce arrangements to ensure consistent, uninterrupted care for 
residents. 

 Extended hours 8am to 8pm: Unlike the current 9am to 5pm services, the 
new model extends support hours, offering help in early mornings and 
evenings (note – this service does not include rapid response). 

 Increased in reach support to care homes and supervision of enhanced 
end-of-life care beds: A higher level of standardised support to care homes, 
including specialist palliative care for patients and improved staff training, and 

Page 105Page 105



54 | P a g e  
 

dedicated support for the delivery of the new enhanced end-of-life care beds 
that will be available to all boroughs. 

 Enhanced palliative care training for wider generalist palliative care 
workforce: The wider community palliative care workforce, including care 
home staff, will benefit from improved education and training. 

 
In summary, the new model of care promises more equitable, comprehensive, and 
responsive care from the adult community specialist palliative care team service. It 
addresses existing shortcomings and substantially improves the specialist palliative 
care landscape for all residents in the community with the increased enhanced end-
of-life care nursing home beds. 
 
10.1b. Hospice at home  
 
What we mean by the hospice at home service 
 
Hospice at home service provision and models vary greatly in the UK and there is no 
single national definition or common model. The services are typically provided by 
local hospice or community-based specialist palliative care providers. 
 
Most commonly hospice at home services provide palliative and end-of-life care and 
support for individuals who wish to remain in their own homes during their final 
stages of life. The service consists of predominantly health care assistants who have 
had specialist training in palliative and end-of-life care and have access to registered 
nurses and palliative care consultants via the hospice MDT and 24/7 advice line, as 
well as the adult community specialist palliative care team, for medical advice as 
needed to support patient care. The services bring the expertise and compassionate 
care element of a hospice into the patient's home, focusing on comfort and quality of 
life for patients who are expected to die in less than six months.  
 
The hospice at home services for NW London are typically provided for a period of 
14 days (two weeks), though the duration can vary based on individual needs and 
case-by-case considerations.  
 
Hospice at home care is an approach that recognises the importance of personal 
preference, comfort, dignity, and the desire to remain in familiar surroundings during 
the final stages of life. The goal of the service to enhance the quality of life for 
patients and their families during the final stages of a life-limiting illness, through 
close working with the adult community specialist palliative care team and the 
patient’s usual care team, including GP, district nursing, continuing health care and 
rapid response services, to support managing physical symptoms (for example 
relieve pain), and supporting physical, emotional and spiritual well-being for patients 
and those important to them.  
 
The health care assistants from the hospice at home team visit the patient’s home to: 
 

 Provide personal care assistance and help with daily activities such as 
bathing, dressing, grooming, and toileting, making sure the patient's personal 
care needs are met. 

 Administer medication and support patient comfort. 

Page 106Page 106



55 | P a g e  
 

 Support with providing respite breaks for family and carers as required 
including providing and arranging overnight sitting.  

 Linking them with appropriate psychological and spiritual support to meet their 
needs.  

 
Hospice at home nurses will support symptom management and other holistic needs 
and coordinate care with district nursing and the hospice specialist multidisciplinary 
team (for example doctors, psychologist, spiritual advisors) as required. The hospice 
at home service complements and does not replaces existing care arrangements 
(such as social care and continuing health care). It aims to support patients to have 
comprehensive care at home, and often can also be put in place to bridge a gap in 
care and support to prevent a hospital admission or support a hospital discharge. 
 
The hospice at home team can also facilitate access to other hospice services, such 
as complementary therapies, spiritual care and bereavement support, for a patient’s 
family, carers or those important to them once the patient has died.  
 
Current hospice at home service provision in NW London 
 
In 2021/22, more than 1,000 individuals received care from hospice at home teams 
in NW London. 
 

Area Who provides hospice at home services in each 
borough 

Brent St Luke’s Hospice (North Brent) 
St John’s Hospice (South Brent) 

Ealing No service 

Hammersmith & Fulham No service 

Harrow St Luke’s Hospice 

Hillingdon Harlington Hospice (and other partners) 

Hounslow No service 

Kensington & Chelsea St John’s Hospice 

Westminster St John’s Hospice 

 
Why change is needed 
 
The need for changes in hospice at home services in NW London arises due to 
patient preferences and the interlinked issues of service variation and inadequate 
coverage for all boroughs 
 

Page 107Page 107

https://www.stlukes-hospice.org/supporting-you/our-services/care-at-home/hospice-at-home/
https://www.stjohnshospice.org.uk/our-care/hospice-at-home
https://www.stlukes-hospice.org/supporting-you/our-services/care-at-home/hospice-at-home/
https://www.harlingtonhospice.org/hospiceathome/
https://www.stjohnshospice.org.uk/our-care/hospice-at-home
https://www.stjohnshospice.org.uk/our-care/hospice-at-home


56 | P a g e  
 

There is increasing patient preference for receiving end-of-life care at home with 
research showing that most patients have a desire to spend their final days in the 
comfort and familiarity of their own homes5. 
 
Current hospice at home services differ across the boroughs of NW London, 
resulting in inconsistent levels of patient care based on geographical location.  
 
Some boroughs, such as Hammersmith & Fulham, Ealing, and Hounslow, lack 
dedicated hospice at home services. Hammersmith & Fulham, in particular, lacks 
any hospice at home care during both day and night. Although Ealing and Hounslow 
have overnight nursing and healthcare assistant care support provided by Marie 
Curie Nursing London, there is still a need for more comprehensive hospice at home 
services in these boroughs, particularly during the day. 
 
To address these issues and provide this patient-centred care service consistently 
for all residents of NW London that require it, changes must be made to NW London 
hospice at home services. 
 
New model of care proposal for the hospice at home service 
 
The recommended new model of care proposal for the hospice at home service will 
deliver for all NW London adults nearing end-of-life, regardless of where they live in 
NW London, personalised, culturally sensitive, expert, and compassionate care in 
their homes. This care can be available around the clock, for up to 24-hours a day if 
need. The core service offer includes:  
 

 Admission criteria and service location: The service will support adults 
(18+) with advanced life-limiting illnesses with a terminal prognosis (less than 
six months to live). This will include those with specialist palliative needs and 
those with non-specialist palliative and end-of-life care needs. They will 
uphold the patients comfort, dignity, and preference to stay in their familiar 
surroundings at home during their final stages of life. Hospice at home is 
available to patients at their home and usual place of residence including 
residential care homes, sheltered housing and homeless shelters.  

 Service duration: The service will typically be offered for a standard duration 
of 14 days (two weeks), although there will be flexibility to adjust this on a 
case-by-case basis dependent on individual needs and circumstances.  

 Service support hours: Hospice at home services will deliver round-the-
clock care (up to 24-hours of care) for patients requiring single handed care. If 
double handed care is required the services will work in close collaboration 
with other community health services providing support in the home, including 
continuing health care teams, care home staff and domiciliary care provided 
through the council, to support 24-hour care. 

 Workforce: The service will be delivered by a team of healthcare 
professionals, nurses and health care assistance who possess specialist 
training in palliative and end-of-life care. 

 

                                                           
5 National Survey of Bereaved People (VOICES - Views of Informal Carers - Evaluation of Services), England, 
2015 

Page 108Page 108



57 | P a g e  
 

The hospice at home service provides comprehensive care and support to patients 
and their families during the end-of-life journey. The key elements of the service are: 
 

 Collaborative and integrated care: The service works closely and in 
partnership with other community health services (this includes CHC and 
social care input) to deliver round-the-clock (24-hour care) if required that 
complements rather than replaces existing arrangements. The goal is to 
support patients to stay in their preferred home environment during their final 
weeks of life, providing additional personal and respite care beyond social 
care and community services. 

 Workforce with enhanced palliative and end-of-life care knowledge and 
skills: The service is primarily provided by health care assistants and 
registered hospice nurses who have enhanced training in palliative and end-
of-life care through the support of the hospice specialist MDT. They work in 
collaboration with the patient's primary care team, community-based specialist 
palliative care teams, and hospice multidisciplinary teams to deliver expert 
and compassionate care. 

 Additional care support: This includes escorting patients to out-patient 
appointments.  

 Crisis management and hospital discharge support: Provides rapid care 
provision in to the home to support hospital discharges and prevent hospital 
admission (for example with informal carer stress).  

 Carer support: Recognising the vital role of the patient’s informal carers, the 
service provides additional support for those looking after patients. This 
includes respite care (including overnight sitting and nursing support), 
providing temporary relief and allowing carers to rest and take care of their 
own well-being. Also includes emotional support, and referrals to other 
community and hospice wellbeing services (for example complementary 
therapies, spiritual care) as needed.  

 Pain and symptom management: The team collaborates with other 
appropriate healthcare professionals to effectively manage pain and alleviate 
distressing symptoms, improving the patient's quality of life while receiving 
end-of-life care at home.  

 Emotional and psychosocial support: The team provide and facilitate 
access to appropriate emotional support for both the patient and their loved 
ones according to their needs. 

 Personal care and assistance: Assistance is provided with daily activities 
such as bathing, dressing, grooming, and toileting, ensuring the patient's 
personal care needs are met. This can be in addition to the social care and 
continuing health care arrangements already in place.  The team will work 
closely with the social care and continuing health care team to co-ordinate 
level of care required.  

 Spiritual support and culturally sensitive care: The teams respect and 
honour the individual beliefs, preferences, and practices of patients and their 
families, providing spiritually and culturally sensitive care and facilitating 
access to appropriate specialist care as required.   

 Bereavement support: Following the patient's death, the hospice at home 
team continue to provide support to family members and loved ones, helping 

Page 109Page 109



58 | P a g e  
 

them navigate the grieving process and offering ongoing assistance via 
onward referral to hospice bereavement support services. 

 Fast track care collaboration: The hospice at home service closely 
collaborates with the NHS continuing healthcare team and fast track care 
providers to make sure there is swift and efficient care for patients with rapidly 
deteriorating conditions. This cooperation allows patients urgent access to 
necessary healthcare resources. 

 
What will be different 
 
The new model of care will boost the quality and accessibility of the hospice at home 
team services support through: 
 

 Consistent service and equal care across all boroughs: Dedicated 
hospice at home services will be available seven days a week for up to 24-
hours of care if assessed as needed.  

 Better integration and collaboration with other community teams 
involved in patient’s care: To support a more seamless care experience for 
patient and their families, carers and those important to them. 

 
The new model of care for hospice at home services will be expanded to make sure 
all NW London boroughs have dedicated hospice at home services available and the 
variation in these services will be reduced by the implementation of care support up 
to 24-hours. This will include overnight sitting which will be based on patient, family 
and carer needs.  
 
The hospice at home services will work more in tandem with other community 
services (for example adult community specialist palliative care team, community 
nursing, continuing health care, primary care and rapid response services) to 
achieve continuous care if required. They will support meeting the medical, 
psychological and spiritual needs of patients in the home who are nearing their end-
of-life The hospice at home services will complement other care services already 
supporting the patient at home and not replace them.  
 
To support hospital discharge and prevent hospital admission the hospice at home 
services will also provide ‘bridging’ care for up to two weeks whilst waiting for other 
more appropriate care arrangements to be set up for the patient for the longer term.  
 
10.1c. 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice 
 
What we mean by 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice 
 
24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice services provide round-the-clock 
expert palliative and end-of-life care guidance for patients, families, caregivers, and 
health and social care professionals including: 
 

 Immediate support and expert medical advice: The primary focus is on 
offering immediate telephone expert medical advice and signposting for adults 
with life-limiting illnesses, their family, carers, those important to them and 
clinicians supporting their care.  

Page 110Page 110



59 | P a g e  
 

 Symptom management (for example, for pain):  Providing practical advice, 
help with navigation of other local services and addressing any other 
concerns, which is particularly important outside of the usual hours of 
operation of other palliative services (whether specialist or generalist).  

 
The 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone service doesn't coordinate or arrange 
ongoing care, nor does it replace emergency services or provide long-term mental 
health support, financial aid, or legal advice.  
 
Current 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice provision in NW 
London 
 
In 2021/22, more than 1,500 people accessed the 24/7 advice lines available in NW 
London.  
 
There is no single centralised NW London 24/7 specialist palliative care advice line 
service. Instead each of the hospices providing services in the eight boroughs offer 
individual 24/7 specialist telephone advice services. In addition, these services are 
also provided by community NHS trust specialist palliative care services in some 
boroughs (see table).   
 

Borough Current providers of 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone 
advice line services by borough 

Brent  St Luke’s Hospice (Pall 24 service) - North Brent only  

 Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust’s 
Pembridge Palliative Care Services - all of Brent  

 St John’s Hospice 

 Marie Curie Hampstead Hospice 

Ealing  London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust’s 
Meadow House Hospice services 

Hammersmith 
& Fulham 

 Royal Trinity Hospice  

 Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust’s 
Pembridge Palliative Care Services  

 St John’s Hospice 

Harrow  St Luke’s Hospice (Pall 24 service) 

Hillingdon  Harlington Hospice and Michael Sobell House in-patient unit  

 Central North West London NHS Foundation Trust’s 
Hillingdon Your Life line 24 service  

Hounslow  London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust’s 
Meadow House Hospice services 

Page 111Page 111



60 | P a g e  
 

Kensington & 
Chelsea 

 Royal Trinity Hospice  

 Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust’s 
Pembridge Palliative Care Services  

 St John’s Hospice 

Westminster  Royal Trinity Hospice 

 Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust’s 
Pembridge Palliative Care Services  

 St John’s Hospice 

 
Why change is needed 
 
The key challenge relates to the variability of 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone 
advice across NW London. Whilst all boroughs have 24/7 advice lines in place, some 
services do not consistently support unknown patients, i.e. patients who have not 
previously received care from community specialist palliative care services.   
 
Some services also have differing levels of appropriately trained staff triaging calls 
and providing nursing and medical advice. This leads to inequities in the support and 
guidance patients can receive, depending on where they live.    
 
New model of care proposal for 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice 
services  
 
The recommended new model of care proposal for 24/7 specialist palliative care 
telephone advice services will deliver for all NW London residents irrespective of 
which borough they live in: 
 

 A common core service that will bring personalised and culturally sensitive 
care, expertise, compassion, and comfort into the homes of adults in NW 
London with a palliative and end-of-life care need. 

 The service will be delivered by a team of healthcare professionals including 
clinical nurse specialists and other palliative care nurses who possess 
appropriate specialist training and skills in palliative and end-of-life care. 

 The service will support adults (18+) with advanced life-limiting illnesses, both 
those with specialist palliative needs and those with generalist palliative and 
end-of-life care needs. 
 

The key elements of the service will include: 
 

 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice: Offering NW London 
residents the expert guidance and support they need in relation to their 
palliative and end-of-life care related queries and needs.  The advice line 
service will also extend beyond mere advice and information sharing. The 
teams will triage the needs of the callers and provide practical advice on 
symptom management as well as directing individuals to the most appropriate 
resources or services, whether that's suggesting other helplines (for example 
NHS111), local care provider websites, local support groups and other helpful 

Page 112Page 112



61 | P a g e  
 

organisations, or assisting with referrals to other more appropriate services 
when necessary. 

 Support for known and unknown patients: For the first time all NW London 
residents whether known or unknown to community-based specialist palliative 
care services will be able to contact the 24/7 telephone advice line provided 
by individual borough providers (both local hospice and other community 
specialist palliative care providers). Known callers are individuals who have 
previously received care or are currently receiving care from community-
based specialist palliative care services. Unknown callers are individuals who 
have not used the service before. Callers will be able to obtain expert advice 
and support with navigating care services, providing more equitable access 
for all.  The 24/7 specialist palliative care advice lines will also be available to 
family members, caregivers, and clinicians in the local boroughs. 

 Specialised workforce: The advice lines will be staffed by professional 
teams comprising palliative care nurses and clinical nurse specialists 
overseen by and with access to palliative care consultants who can provide 
direct advice when required. All teams will be trained to conduct 
comprehensive telephone assessments and triage, offering precise 
information and advice that addresses the specific challenges faced by 
patients. 

 Known patients and improved co-ordination of care: For calls from known 
patients (and with the appropriate consent), advice line teams can use 
existing health care records and care plans to tailor their advice They can 
assist with complex medical situations, provide symptom management advice 
in line with patient’s care plans, and help coordinate care with other 
healthcare providers as required. 

 Unknown patients and risk assessment, advice and support: For calls 
from patients who are not known to the service currently, the teams may not 
be able to access complete clinical information for the patient, which may 
prevent them from providing comprehensive medical advice. They will still be 
able to provide some medical advice that aligns with safety guidelines, 
alongside a risk assessment. They will also offer general symptom 
management guidance, provide information about local resources, and help 
with navigation of and onward referrals for other community services. 

 Retaining local knowledge and expertise: We are not recommending the 
development of a single centralised specialist palliative care telephone advice 
service or a single point of access for these services in NW London. We have 
carefully considered the challenges faced in coordinating and navigating 
palliative and end-of-life care, including generalist and specialist services. The 
complex infrastructure of our community services providing palliative and end-
of-life care, and community-based specialist palliative care services, along 
with the potential risk of disrupting existing access points, prevent us from 
implementing this approach at a NW London level.   

 
Implementing the new model of care for community-based specialist palliative care 
within this local delivery approach will help address some of the challenges faced in 
coordinating care and navigating the healthcare system for patients and their 
families.  
 

Page 113Page 113



62 | P a g e  
 

We are aware that some community-based specialist palliative care providers (for 
example Royal Trinity Hospice) are currently developing their palliative and end-of-
life care coordination services and some borough based partnerships (for example 
Hillingdon Health and Care Partners) are implementing local single points of contact 
and access for generalist and specialist palliative and end-of-life care. 
 
We hope to evaluate and learn from these initiatives to support future iterations of 
the community-based specialist palliative care model of care and local delivery 
approaches going forward. Our aim is to ensure that individuals receive improved 
coordination, smoother transitions, and a more comprehensive approach to their 
palliative and end-of-life care. By working together with local stakeholders, we can 
continually improve the delivery of care and support for patients, their families, and 
caregivers. 
 
What will be different 
 
The key changes that the new model of care will bring are around equitable support 
and consistent expertise: 
 

 Previously, services have not been consistently available to patient’s unknown 
to community-based specialist palliative care services, and the level of 
expertise of the staff supporting the advice line varied. 

 In future, the service will be extended to all who need it, including known 
patients and those not already known to community-based specialist palliative 
care services, along with their carers, family and those important to them.  

 The teams will be led and supervised by a consultant in palliative care and 
staff who have been trained in palliative care including clinical nurse 
specialists and palliative care nurses. They will have appropriate training to 
support consistent, high-quality triage and provide expert palliative care 
nursing advice and support. 24/7 access to expert medical advice will be 
available via the consultant in palliative care.  

 
10.1d Areas that need further development to best support people at home 
 
There are several areas where further work is needed but it is important to note that 
the model of care working group was unable, based on best evidence available to 
come up with a formal recommendation for inclusion in the model of care. These will 
be taken forward in parallel as further work is needed to address these needs. 
 
Rapid response for palliative and end-of-life care needs: We have heard from 
our engagement and seen in the evidence that effective, responsive, and timely out-
of-hours care improves the well-being of patients and families, and helps prevent 
unnecessary emergency hospital admission. This is essential as individuals living 
with advanced illness may experience health deterioration at any time, day or night.  
 
The new model of care working group fully recognised the importance of patients 
and their families and carers having rapid access to care and support and discussed 
inclusion of this as part of the new model of care.  
 

Page 114Page 114



63 | P a g e  
 

Following scoping work, the group identified and discussed the various 24/7 rapid 
response services that are currently commissioned and delivered differently within 
each of the NW London boroughs. These are provided either by universal rapid 
response services or specialist rapid response services and typically include:  
 

 Dedicated rapid response services working 8am to 8pm for all boroughs 

 Community district nursing services providing support during the day and 
some overnight with a two-to-four-hour response time. 

 NHS 111 and out-of-hours general practice (GP) support services. 

 Some NHS community-based specialist palliative care services and charitable 
hospice services provide dedicated rapid response services including the 
Marie Curie end-of-life rapid response services in Ealing and Hounslow and 
St Luke’s Harrow Pall 24 service and CNWL’s your life line service. St Luke’s 
Harrow Pall 24 services offers rapid home visits out of hours between 6 and 
10pm, and CNWL your life line services offer rapid visiting in and out of hours.  

 
The model of care working group discussed whether a common 24/7 specialist 
palliative care rapid response service should be included within the model of care but 
determined that as this type of service is currently being provided for each borough 
in NW London it should continue to be locally commissioned and delivered. As such 
rapid response for community-based specialist palliative and end-of-life care is not 
included in the recommended new model of care.  
 
Currently Royal Trinity Hospice is developing a new rapid response service for 
community-based specialist palliative care which will start in the next few months. 
We will continue to engage with them about the service and its outcomes. Following 
robust evaluation in future, there may be scope to revisit including rapid response 
within NW London’s model of care for adult community-based specialist palliative 
care services. 
 
Other innovative services 
 
There are also new models of hospice virtual wards and national virtual ward 
programmes that are being trialled by some of our current providers in NW London.  
There is a strong link with the successful NW London virtual ward deployment which 
supports a number of pathways such as heart failure and respiratory, where they will 
provide more remote support for people who want to stay in their own home. These 
initiatives have not yet been fully evaluated and are not included within the new 
model of care. However, as they are evaluated they will be considered for inclusion 
in the model of care in future. 
 
All of the partners involved in delivering these services, including the charitable 
hospices, are committed to undertaking more outreach and awareness raising to 
ensure that harder to reach communities within NW London are aware of these 
services and able to access them.    
 
  

Page 115Page 115



64 | P a g e  
 

10.2. Service area 2: Community specialist in-patient bed care 
 
We received extensive feedback during our engagement indicating that our current 
hospice in-patient bed care services offer excellent support for patients and those 
important to them. However, we were also advised that this provision does not 
always meet the needs of our patients that require extra support but not the intensive 
level of specialist palliative bed care that a hospice offers.  
 
This gap in the type of specialist bed care provision has been identified as 
particularly affecting individuals who don't meet the criteria or need for a hospice in-
patient bed, but can't stay at home, don't wish to stay at home, and prefer not to be 
in a hospital for their care. This is especially true for those living alone without a local 
support system.  
 
NHS NW London and the model of care working group is recommending the 
introduction of new type of community specialist in-patient bed. The aim of these 
enhanced end-of-life care beds will be to provide the best therapeutic environment 
possible for the patient. The atmosphere the bed is provided in needs to be gentle 
and calm with a welcoming home like environment with access to a garden and 
outdoor space for the patient, family, friends and carers to use. We recognise that 
this is best provided in a community setting such as care home rather than a hospital 
ward NHS environment. 
 
Change is needed for a number of reasons including: 
 

 Public attitude and patient preference on place of death: There are some 
indications that there is falling use of in-patient beds as people choose to be 
cared for, and die at home6. Research and patient feedback shows that more 
patients have a preference to die at home rather than in hospital. With increasing 
use of technology and enhanced community-based specialist palliative care 
support, we aim to provide more care for people in their own home. This will lead 
to hospice in-patient unit beds being used for patients with the most complex 
needs.  

 Staffing and recruitment challenges of key palliative care staff: There is an 
ongoing shortage of specialist palliative care consultants and palliative care 
clinical nurse specialists and we are struggling to recruit to one of our current in-
patient bed units which means we are not able to provide safe care. This puts a 
strain on an already limited number of beds so we need to make sure the beds in 
in-patient units are available to those who really need them, and make best 
possible use of alternatives where this is appropriate.  

 Gaps in care provision in certain boroughs: Our travel mapping analysis 
(analysis of travel patterns) has shown that certain parts of NW London don’t 
have easy access to hospice in-patient bed care, whilst some other areas have 
multiple options of in-patient units available to them. This had led to an inequity of 
access based on where a patient lives and means patients, families and carers 
having to travel further to get the support they need. Increasing care provision to 
help people stay in their own home and the introduction of enhanced end-of-life 
care beds offer the prospect of improving access to good quality care and 

                                                           
6 Support at the end-of-life (nuffieldtrust.org.uk) 

Page 116Page 116

https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/2022-06/hospice-services-web-1-.pdf


65 | P a g e  
 

support to all NW London residents including those areas who currently have a 
poorer service based on where they live.  

 Variation in service provision: Some of our hospices do not currently admit 
patients seven days a week for planned and unplanned care, leading to an 
inequity of access. They also have differing and unclear admission criteria. 

 
Summary of key changes for community-based specialist in-patient bed care 
as part of the new model of care: 
 

 There will be an overall increase in the number of community-based specialist 
in-patient beds following the introduction of 54 dedicated enhanced end-of-life 
care beds across all of NW London. These new beds will cater for the needs 
of patients who do not require a hospice bed but cannot stay at home due to 
their specialist needs, do not wish to stay at home, and do not want to or meet 
the need to be in a hospital.  

 We will maintain the current level of hospice in-patient unit beds to support 
our patients with the most complex specialist palliative care needs to receive 
bed care. 

 
10.2a. Introducing enhanced end-of-life care beds across NW London 
 
What do we mean by enhanced end-of-life care beds? 
The NW London model of care working group has recommended an increase in the 
number of dedicated specialist palliative care beds available to NW London residents 
by the introduction of enhanced end-of-life care beds across all boroughs in NW 
London. This type of bed is currently available in the borough of Hillingdon only, 
where it has shown positive outcomes for patients to date. 
 
These beds will be located in existing community bed services (for example nursing 
homes and community bedded unites) and predominantly staffed by existing nurses 
and health care assistants, who will be upskilled in palliative and end-of-life care. 
The delivery and supervision of these beds will be via the adult community specialist 
palliative care team in conjunction with the patient’s GP and a multidisciplinary care 
team (MDT).  
 
The new beds will fill the gap in provision that has been identified and provide more 
specialist palliative care community in-patient bed care options for patients who do 
not meet the criteria for a hospice in-patient bed but do not and cannot remain in 
their home. Some of these patients could be more suitably cared for in a nursing 
home where the extra support available will mean they have more confidence in 
caring for people who are dying. The new training and extra support provided will 
help us to maximise the skills of our community-based specialist palliative care 
workforce and services, whilst supporting more patients to die in the community 
rather than in hospital.  
 
Why change is needed 
 
Often a patient with palliative and end-of-life care needs reaches a point where they 
are no longer able to stay in their own home or usual place of residence due to 
challenging physical and/or social circumstances and therefore their health and/or 

Page 117Page 117



66 | P a g e  
 

social care needs cannot continue to be managed by their usual care teams at home 
(For example, hospice at home service, adult community specialist palliative care 
team, continuing health care (CHC) or district nursing team support).  
 
These individuals may need more 24-hour specialist input and care or the patient 
does not want to die at home or in hospital. This is especially true for those living 
alone without a local support system.  However, their specialist palliative care needs 
are not appropriate to be managed in a hospice in-patient bed unit. 
 
We received extensive feedback during our engagement indicating current hospice 
in-patient beds where not required for some patients with these types of specialist 
palliative care needs and the patient could receive more appropriate care in a 
different setting. Or that these types of bed and environment did not always meet the 
diverse needs of our patients requiring this type of specialist support.   
 
In response to this feedback, ongoing engagement and as part of our continuous 
efforts to improve our hospice in-patient services bed capacity usage, a joint clinical 
audit of hospice in-patient admissions was conducted across all five hospices 
(charitable and NHS Trust) currently providing in-patient bed services to NW London.  
 
The audit objective was to better understand the utilisation of our specialist hospice 
in-patient beds and to explore our hypotheses that some patients being admitted to 
these beds would have their palliative care needs better met within alternate care 
settings such as nursing homes or enhanced end-of-life beds. Understanding this 
information would also help determine current unmet demand for these enhanced 
end-of-life care beds.  
 
The audit involved a review of 100 consecutive hospice admissions across five in-
patient units in mid-January 2023. Of those 100 admissions, 24 cases had 
insufficient information to be included in this analysis, leaving a relevant sample 
population of 76 admissions.  
 
Of the 76 sampled admissions, 20 cases (26%) were determined to have been more 
appropriate to have their needs met with alternative care such as nursing home care 
(14 cases) or enhanced end-of-life care beds (6 cases), if this second type of 
provision was available in the community. 
 

Audited hospice in-patient admissions population 
information: Cases 

% 

Cases with sufficient feedback for alternate care setting 
analysis (out of 100 in-patient bed admissions audited) 76 -- 

Cases deemed more suitable for nursing home care than in-
patient hospice care 14 18 

Cases deemed more suitable for enhanced end-of-life care 
beds  6 8 

Total cases where alternate care settings were identified 
as more appropriate 20 26 

Page 118Page 118



67 | P a g e  
 

 
NW London has a total hospice in-patient bed capacity of 56 beds. To put the above 
audit findings into perspective, if we relate these figures back to these 56 beds it 
shows that if those 14 patients (10.1 of 56 beds) deemed more suitable for nursing 
home, and the 6 patients (4.5 beds of 56 beds) deemed more suitable for enhanced 
end-of-life care beds had been supported in these alternate care settings, 14.6 
hospice in-patient beds could/should have been made available. (see table below).  
 

Most appropriate 
bed care setting 

Cases Percentage Equivalent NW 
London hospice 
in-patient beds 
(56 in-patient 
hospice bed 

capacity) 

Hospice In-patient 
beds 

56 74% 41.4 

Nursing home bed 14 18% 10.1 

Enhanced end-of-life 
care bed 

6 8% 4.5 

Total  76 100% 56 

 
These findings validate the need to introduce enhanced end-of-life care beds as part 
of our new model of care. This will not only optimise hospice in-patient bed capacity 
and usage to support those who need it most, but, more importantly, it will offer a 
wider and more appropriate range of specialist palliative care bed options in the 
community, ensuring appropriate care at every stage of our patients' palliative 
journey. 
 
We also aim through this provision to avoid unnecessary admissions into hospital 
where patients may end up receiving end-of-life care even if it is not appropriate or 
preferable for them.   
 
The new model of care for enhanced care beds will deliver for all NW London 
residents irrespective of which borough they live in: 
 
An increased number of community specialist in-patient beds for patients who don't 
need intensive hospice in-patient unit bed care but can't stay at home due to their 
needs, preferences not to be there, or not meeting the criteria for hospitalisation. 
These dedicated beds will be in addition to the existing hospice in-patient unit beds 
we already have in NW London, and not replacing any of this provision. 
   
The new care model will introduce 54 enhanced end-of-life care beds for NW London 
in totality. There is no benchmark for the number of beds required, as this is an 
innovative addition to provision in NW London and regionally. There is no national or 
international evidence base for the number of beds needed, however following 
discussion the model of care working group agreed a reasonable planning 
assumption, based on examples from elsewhere in NW London, is 2.5 beds per 
100,000 population. This was further ratified by scaling up Hillingdon’s provision of 

Page 119Page 119



68 | P a g e  
 

eight beds for the whole NW London population. If we were to allocate this across all 
boroughs according to their population this would result in the following bed number 
per borough. 
 

Borough 2023 
population 

Proposed number of enhanced end-of-
life care beds per borough 

Brent 353,690 9 

Ealing 380,722 9 

Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

188,103 5 

Harrow 270,741 7 

Hillingdon 315,198 8 

Hounslow 300,880 7 

Kensington & 
Chelsea 

145,328 4 

Westminster 211,814 5 

NW London total 2,166,475 54 

 
This is a crude estimate and further analysis is required to understand a fair 
distribution of this capacity for NW London boroughs at the time of future 
implementation of this new model of care. 
 
The key elements of the service will include: 
 

 Delivery of a dedicated service with enhanced end-of-life care provided 
by the community specialist palliative care team: In cases where the 
patient's end-of-life needs require 24-hour specialised palliative care and they 
meet the admission criteria they may be admitted to an enhanced end-of-life 
care bed.  The care in these beds will be provided by specially trained nursing 
staff, including registered nurses and healthcare assistants who will be 
equipped with skills in enhanced palliative care and end-of-life communication 
and symptom control. They will receive this additional training support from 
the adult community specialist palliative care teams who will be supporting 
and supervising the delivery of these beds.  

 Qualified nurses that have the appropriate enhanced palliative and end-
of-life care skills and are available day and night to provide constant 
support and double-check medications: To make sure enhanced end-of-
life care beds are delivered to the highest standard, there will be two qualified 
nurses available day and night to provide constant support and check 
medications. Well-being services via other hospice teams will be made 
available, as needed. There will also be regular input from GPs and adult 
community specialist palliative care teams to make sure the patients in these 
beds receive the best possible collaborative and comprehensive care. 

 7-day a week planned and unplanned emergency admission: Where 
people need to stay in this type of care bed, this can be arranged 7-days per 
week, regardless of whether it is a planned or emergency admission.  

Page 120Page 120



69 | P a g e  
 

 
The admission and discharge criteria for these beds: 
 

 Patients should be registered with a local GP. Cases will be considered 
individually to ensure support is made available to those who need it, 
including for people experiencing homelessness. 

 Patients should have a life-limiting illness with a prognosis of a few months, 
possibly nearing the end-of-life stage. 

 They require enhanced palliative and 24-hour bed end-of-life care that their 
regular care team, like district nurses, GPs, hospice at home, social care 
package, or continuing health care, cannot provide. 

 Patients who can't or don't want to receive care at home due to medical 
needs, social circumstances, or lack of necessary equipment but don't meet 
the specific and complex specialist palliative care needs for hospice in-patient 
unit bed admission. 

 The anticipated length of stay is up to three months, but this may be less 
depending on the patient's needs. 

 Referrals for admission to these beds may come from the patient's GP, the 
adult community specialist palliative care team, hospice at home, nursing 
home, community district nursing, hospice in-patient unit, or hospital team. 

 Patients can be stepped up to these enhanced beds from a regular nursing or 
residential care home bed through referral by care home staff and the adult 
community specialist palliative care team. 

 Patients can also be stepped up to a hospice in-patient unit bed from these 
enhanced end-of-life care beds through referral from the community specialist 
palliative care team, GP, and community nursing. 

 The hospital or hospice in-patient unit can refer and discharge patients (step 
down) to these enhanced end-of-life care beds. 
 

Patients can move from the enhanced end-of-life care bed back to their home 
(stepped down care) or be moved to a hospice in-patient unit bed or hospital 
(stepped up care), depending on their needs. 
 
The adult community specialist palliative care team will collaborate closely with the 
care staff where these dedicated beds are located and the GP and multidisciplinary 
team to make sure the patient receives the specialised care they need. As outlined, 
they will also offer in-reach support and additional training to prioritise the patient's 
comfort, dignity and overall well-being.  
 
What will be different? 
 
The introduction of 54 enhanced end-of-life care beds across NW London will boost 
the quality, number and accessibility of community in-patient specialist beds 
currently available to patients who need more support. 
 
Patients will also have far greater access to this largely new enhanced bed option, 
meaning those already in nursing homes will have a smoother transition to an 
enhanced bed, where required. Those living in their own home will receive 
appropriate non-hospital based support at the end-of-life if they cannot be supported 
to die at home and they do not need or meet the criteria for a hospice bed.   

Page 121Page 121



70 | P a g e  
 

 
10.2b. Hospice in-patient unit bed care 
 
NHS NW London and the model of care working group have recommended that we 
retain the current level of specialist hospice in-patient beds following an analysis of 
projected population growth and expected need, coupled with the introduction of 
enhanced end-of life care beds. 
 
What we mean by hospice in-patient unit bed care 
 
Hospice in-patient unit bed care provides short-term, specialised 24-hour support in 
NHS specialist palliative care bed units or hospice facilities for individuals with 
advanced or terminal illnesses. It is designed for patients who require specialist 
palliative care due to complex medical conditions, while others face difficult social 
circumstances such as the lack of appropriate care and equipment or unsuitable 
living conditions that make it challenging to be cared for at home or in their usual 
place of residence.  
 
The main goal of hospice in-patient bed care is to provide the best possible quality of 
life and support for patients, their families, carers and those important to them during 
their last phase of life and end-of-life journey.  
 
A multidisciplinary team of healthcare professionals, which may include specialist 
palliative care doctors and nurses, social workers, physiotherapist, counsellors and 
chaplains, work together to provide comprehensive care. Together they address the 
physical, emotional, and social needs of the patient. The hospice environment is 
compassionate and supportive, creating a home-like atmosphere that promotes 
emotional well-being and ensures patients' comfort and dignity. 
 
The length of stay in a hospice can vary depending on individual needs. It is typically 
short-term (two weeks) but caters to individual patient need and circumstances 
should a longer stay be required. Care is focused on stabilising symptoms, 
rehabilitation, providing respite for caregivers, or offering terminal care. While some 
patients may pass away in the hospice facility, others may improve or stabilise under 
this specialised care. They will then leave the hospice to continue their care in a 
different setting, such as at their own home with hospice at home support or in a 
nursing home depending on their needs. 
 
Current hospice in-patient unit bed care provision in NW London 
 
We have five charitable hospices and two NHS fully-funded specialist palliative care 
service providers who are paid to provide hospice in-patient bed care to our NW 
London residents.  
 
Central London Healthcare NHS Trust’s Pembridge Palliative Care Service 
(“Pembridge Hospice”) in-patient unit, has been suspended since 2018 due to 
challenges with recruiting and retaining a palliative care consultant for the unit. 
Arrangements have been put in place to support residents who would usually have 
used these in-patient beds so they could use hospice inpatient beds at another of the 
hospices in NW London while the unit remains suspended.  

Page 122Page 122



71 | P a g e  
 

 
In 2021 nearly 1,000 NW London residents received in-patient bed care in one of our 
available NHS specialist palliative care or charitable hospice in-patient units. Please 
note that not all the charitable hospices are located in NW London and they cater for 
populations beyond our own within their in-patient units. 
 
Overall, in 2021 we had 56 hospice in-patient beds serving our communities while 
Pembridge Palliative Care Services’ in-patient unit remained suspended. There is no 
national benchmark for what the right number of hospice in-patient unit beds is for a 
population.  
 
The table below shows which hospice’s in-patient units serve which boroughs in NW 
London7: 
 

Area Who currently provides hospice in-patient bed care services 
in each borough? 

Brent  St Luke’s Hospice 

 St John’s Hospice 

 Marie Curie Hospice Hampstead 

Ealing  London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust 
(Meadow House Hospice) 

Hammersmith 
& Fulham 

 Royal Trinity Hospice  

 Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust’s 
Pembridge Palliative Care Services (in-patient unit is 
suspended – patients who would have usually had 
support from this hospice or in this catchment area can 
access other hospice units) 

 St John’s Hospice 

Harrow  St Luke’s Hospice 

Hillingdon  Harlington Hospice (Michael Sobell House in-patient unit) 

Hounslow  London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust 
(Meadow House Hospice) 

Kensington & 
Chelsea 

 St John’s Hospice 

 Royal Trinity Hospice 

 Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust’s 
Pembridge Palliative Care Services (this in-patient unit is 
currently suspended – patients who would have usually 
had support from this hospice or in this catchment area 
can access other hospice units) 

                                                           
 

 

Page 123Page 123



72 | P a g e  
 

Westminster  St John’s Hospice 

 Royal Trinity Hospice 
Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust’s 
Pembridge Palliative Care Services (this in-patient unit is 
currently suspended – patients who would have usually 
had  support from this hospice or in this catchment area 
can access other hospice units) 

 
In NW London, activity data from our current in-patient bed care providers shows us 
that our hospice in-patient beds are on average 76% full. This means there is more 
capacity within hospices that we could use to care for our patients in NW London if 
we used it better.  
 
According to our data analysis and based on an assessment of unmet need and 
demographic growth, we do not require more specialist hospice in-patient beds than 
those currently being commissioned and used (see the full analysis).   
 
In response to this engagement and as part of our continuous efforts to improve our 
hospice in-patient services bed capacity usage, a joint clinical audit of hospice in-
patient admissions was conducted across all five hospices currently providing in-
patient bed services to NW London.  
 
The audit objective was to better understand the utilisation of our specialist hospice 
in-patient beds and to explore our hypotheses that some patients being admitted to 
these beds would have their palliative care needs better met within alternate care 
settings such as nursing homes or enhanced end-of-life beds. Understanding this 
information would also help determine current unmet demand for these enhanced 
end-of-life care beds.  
 
The audit involved a review of 100 consecutive hospice admissions across five in-
patient units in mid-January 2023. Of those 100 admissions, 24 cases had 
insufficient information to be included in this analysis, leaving a relevant sample 
population of 76 admissions.  
 
Of the 76 sampled hospice inpatient admissions, 20 cases (26%) were determined to 
have had their needs met with alternative care such as nursing home care (14 
cases) or enhanced end-of-life care beds (6 cases) if this second type of provision is 
available in the community. This audit demonstrated that 14.7 hospice in-patient 
beds could have been made available if these patients had been supported in 
alternate care settings. See section above (10.2a: Enhanced end-of-life care beds) 
for full details. 
 
Outputs from travel mapping exercise completed for current hospice in-patient 
units across NW London 
 
In-patient hospice unit bed provision currently works on the basis of catchment 
areas. In some cases, they overlap with the catchment area of other hospices. To 
understand how accessible, the units are to our population, we undertook a travel 
mapping analysis. We examined the travel times of small geographical areas at peak 

Page 124Page 124

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/co-designing-new-improved-model-care/ten-year-demand-projections-patient-hospice-care


73 | P a g e  
 

time across public transport and driving (see the full analysis). We looked at travel 
times for people accessing their closest hospice in-patient bed care unit (by travel 
time) and found that: 
 

 Average peak time travel was 40 minutes by public transport and 19 minutes 
by car (driving) 

 Populations in south Hillingdon and Hounslow have among the longest travel 
times to a hospice in-patient bed care unit because of the absence of 
alternatives in the area. 

 With Pembridge Palliative Care Services in-patient unit suspended, average 
peak time travel for the whole NW London population is increased (by three 
minutes for public transport and two minutes for car). 

 Looking more closely at the population for whom Pembridge Palliative Care 
Service is the closest hospice in-patient unit (in terms of travel time), shorter 
travel times to access the unit were experienced, when open, compared with 
the overall population travel times. The current suspension increases this 
group of residents travel time by 12 minutes on public transport and six 
minutes by car. The travel times for this group to the next nearest hospice is 
43 minutes by public transport and 23 minutes by car which is comparable to 
the experience of the whole population (see table below for more information). 

 Broadly, our hospice sites are located in areas within close proximity of 
deprived communities.  
 

 Average peak time 
travel when using 
public transport 

Average peak time 
travel when driving 

All current in-patient units 40minutes 19 minutes 

All currently available in-patient 
units (reflecting suspension of 
services at Pembridge Palliative 
Care Services in-patient unit) 

43 minutes 21 minutes 

Travel times for those people 
where Pembridge Palliative Care 
Services is their closest in-patient 
unit (when Pembridge Palliative 
Care Services in-patient unit 
open) 

31 minutes 17 minutes 

Impact of on directly affected 
populations with Pembridge 
Palliative Care Services in-
patient unit being suspended 

43 minute 23 minutes 

 
Why change is needed? 
 
We expect growth in-patient bed use to be in line with the growth in the overall 
number of deaths in the NW London population over time. This is the result of an 
ageing population, population growth and a number of other factors such as 
increasing morbidity from chronic illness.  

Page 125Page 125

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/co-designing-new-improved-model-care/nw-london-cspc-hospice-inpatient-units-travel-mapping-analysis


74 | P a g e  
 

 
We also know that our hospices are caring for patients who do not fully meet the 
admission criteria, but are admitted because they are not getting the support they 
need to stay in their own home or there is nowhere else for them to go.  
 
We know that the majority of people would prefer to die in their own home if they 
could. The model of care is proposing to increase the support to allow that to 
happen, be it in their own home or a nursing or care home bed. 
 
The introduction of enhanced end-of-life care beds will increase the overall number 
of beds available to NW London patients and these will be able to care for patients 
who need 24-hour round the clock care, but do not need the specialist palliative care 
support the hospice in-patient multidisciplinary team provide. Caring for these 
patients in enhanced end-of-life care home beds will also free up hospice capacity 
for patients who need that specialised support. 
 
We understand that our population healthcare needs can change over time, so it's 
important for us to regularly review and reassess our projections. While our analysis 
suggests that our current specialist hospice in-patient bed numbers should meet the 
needs of our population until 2031, we will continue monitoring utilisation rates and 
keeping an eye on factors such as population growth and healthcare trends. This 
way, we can make sure we can provide adequate care and make any necessary 
adjustments to meet the demands of our diverse communities in the future. 
 
When we factor all this in, we believe that the current number of in-patient beds 
operating in NW London will meet NW London patient need for the specialist 
palliative care our hospices provide until 2031. We are therefore not recommending 
an increase to our specialist hospice in-patient bed provision at this time as part of 
the new model of care. 
 
Although we are not recommending any changes to the number of hospice in-patient 
bed numbers that we purchase, this does not mean that in-patient bed services can 
continue as they are.  
 
The new model of care proposal for hospice in-patient unit beds will deliver 
excellent care for all NW London residents irrespective of which borough they 
live in. 
 
The recommended future model of care aims to provide highly specialised and 
comprehensive care, comfort, dignity and comprehensive symptom management for 
patients with life-limiting illnesses who have complex medical, psychological, 
emotional, and social needs.  
 
Led by consultants in palliative care medicine and supported by a diverse 
multidisciplinary team, our hospice in-patient bed units will collaborate to deliver 
personalised and compassionate care. 
 
The key elements of the service will include: 
 

Page 126Page 126



75 | P a g e  
 

 Location of services and setting of care: Patient care is primarily provided 
within a hospice setting and goes beyond a typical clinical environment that 
you would find in a hospital. The homely atmosphere creates a serene and 
tranquil experience, ensuring comfort for all who use these services. 

 Accessing the service: Patients are admitted to the hospices through 
referrals from healthcare professionals only, including GPs, adult community 
specialist palliative care teams, social care professionals, community nurses 
and other community services teams, as well as hospital teams. Self-referral 
is not supported. However, patients who make contact with the hospices to 
discuss hospice in-patient admission will be supported accordingly. 

 Length of stay: It is important to note that the in-patient bed care unit is not 
intended to be a long-term care facility. Instead, it serves as a temporary 
place where patients can receive specialised intensive 24-hour care and 
support. The typical duration of stay is around two weeks (14 days), although 
this can vary based on individuals’ needs, during which patients receive short-
term, intensive support from the hospice specialist multidisciplinary care team. 
Patients who require these services have a high degree of medical or social 
complexity, where their needs cannot be met at home with their regular care 
team. Some patients may pass away in the hospice, while others may 
stabilise and return to their usual place of care or move to another care 
setting, such as a nursing home or enhanced end-of-life care beds. Once a 
patient's condition stabilises and if they are not actively dying (meaning 
someone is in the final stages of life and death is approaching very soon), the 
hospice team will often work closely with them, and those important to them, 
to support transfer of their care such as returning home, moving to a care 
home for the first time or an enhanced end-of-life care bed, based on their 
evolving needs, 

 End-of-life care: For some patients, the hospice unit may provide care until 
end-of-life, while others may experience symptom stabilisation and transition 
to a different care setting.  

 Hours of operation: Services operate seven days a week, providing 24-hour 
care for patients on the in-patient bedded unit. Routine (planned) and 
emergency (unplanned) admissions are supported from Monday to Sunday, 
9am to 5pm, making sure there is continuous access to care8.  

 
  

                                                           
8 Typically, hospices run a reduced staffing structure at the weekend and accommodate planned and 
unplanned admissions as much as possible on a case-by-case basis. 

Page 127Page 127



76 | P a g e  
 

The admission and discharge criteria for these beds 
 

Hospice in-patient bed care will offer various admission categories and criteria to 
address specific patient needs, including: 
 

 Complex case admission: Assessment, case review, and symptom control 
for patients with complex needs. This category admits patients for typically up 
to two weeks when their symptoms become unmanageable at home. 
Psychological support is available, especially during crisis situations. 

 Specialist end-of-life care admission: Specialist end-of-life terminal care for 
patients in the advanced stages of a terminal illness. Admissions typically last 
two to three weeks, with a focus on end-of-life care. This may be planned or 
urgent, depending on the patient's condition. 

 Specialist rehabilitation admission: Rehabilitation for patients needing 
specialist physical, psychological, and spiritual support after palliative care 
treatments. Collaborative goal-setting supports the patient's recovery and 
overall well-being. 

 Specialist respite care admission: Short-term in-patient stays for patients 
with very complex specialist palliative care needs to support their carers who 
require a break and where other community respite options are not 
appropriate. This category benefits patients with highly complex needs or 
technology dependence. Respite care admissions typically last one to two 
weeks, with a maximum of two planned respite breaks allowed within a 
twelve-month period. 

 Who is eligible to be referred: Hospice in-patient unit bed care services are 
designed to cater for the needs of adults aged 18 and above who have 
complex life-limiting illness. These patients are usually no longer receiving 
treatment to try to cure their illness or disease. They may have various 
conditions such as cancer and other non-cancer diagnoses, including 
neurological disorders, advanced dementia, respiratory disease, heart failure, 
or organ failure. This also includes patients who are approaching the end-of-
life due to age, particularly those over 85 years old. The hospice offers a wide 
range of care and support options within the in-patient bed care unit, 
accommodating the diverse needs of patients at any stage following their 
diagnosis of a life-limiting illness.  

 
What will be different 
 
The new model of care will deliver two notable changes for hospice in-patient bed 
care services in NW London: 
 

 Expanded admission acceptance: By extending admissions for routine and 
planned care to seven days a week during core hours of 9am to 5pm, we are 
addressing the national ambition of improving access to care for patients with 
life-limiting illnesses. This change allows both planned and unplanned 
admissions to occur on any day. It makes sure that patients can promptly 
access comprehensive and specialised care. Removing the limitations of 
admission to specific days of the week eliminates unnecessary delays and 
enables individuals to receive the care they need when they need it. 

Page 128Page 128



77 | P a g e  
 

 Revised and standardised hospice in-patient bed admission criteria: We 
have updated and standardised the criteria for admitting patients to hospice 
in-patient bed care units across all providers. By implementing consistent 
clear admission criteria, we make sure that hospice beds across all of our 
boroughs are allocated to patients with complex care needs that require this 
consultant-led multidisciplinary team support. These criteria also support the 
discharge of patients on the continuing healthcare fast track and those who 
are routinely dying in hospitals. It's important to note that these changes do 
not compromise the care of complex patients requiring this support, as 
hospices will robustly triage their referrals and manage any waiting lists. By 
streamlining the flow within the system and addressing urgent care needs 
promptly, we optimise resource management and potentially increase our 
hospice bed capacity, enhancing the overall quality of care we provide. 

 
See section 7.7 Issue seven: How financially sustainable is community-based 
specialist palliative care now and in future for further information about the issues 
raised by the fact that the non-NHS hospice sector is reliant on a combination of 
NHS and non-NHS funding, with the latter requiring substantial fund raising. 
  

Page 129Page 129



78 | P a g e  
 

10.3 Service area 3: Hospice out-patient services, hospice day care services, 
and community-based specialist palliative care well-being services (including 
psychological and bereavement support) 
 
In this service area, we describe three service types, each comprising various 
specialised services. These services are primarily provided at the hospice but do not 
require an overnight stay. They cater not only to the patients but also extend support 
to their families, caregivers, and friends to promote overall well-being. 
 
The three service types in this third service area are: 
 

a) Hospice out-patient services 
b) Hospice day care services 
c) Community-based specialist palliative care well-being services (including 

psychological and bereavement support for patients and their families/ carers) 
 

These specialised services and programmes cater to individuals with life-limiting 
illnesses who don't require 24-hour in-patient care. They offer comprehensive care, 
comfort, and social interaction during the day, enabling patients to return home or to 
other care settings at night.  
 
The services are provided in the main by hospice specialist palliative care 
multidisciplinary teams and volunteers. They are largely delivered at the hospice but 
may also be offered through virtual means, leveraging technological advancements 
to align with patient preferences and optimise workforce productivity. 
 
NHS NW London is responsible for funding transport to a range of community 
services including these. Consistency of patient transport is being addressed via a 
NW London programme addressing ‘Non-Emergency Patient Transport (NEPTs)’. 
 
10.3a Hospice out-patient services 
 
Hospice out-patient services provide medical and supportive care to individuals with 
life-limiting illnesses without requiring them to stay in the hospice or visit a hospital. 
Patients receive care during the day and can return home afterward, maintaining a 
sense of normalcy and familiarity.  
 
The out-patient appointments or clinics offer one-on-one care from a team of 
palliative care experts, including doctors, nurses, therapists, psychologists, spiritual 
advisors, and social workers. These clinics focus on managing symptoms, relieving 
pain, and ensuring patients are as comfortable as possible during their advanced 
illness.  
 
The services are tailored to meet the unique needs of each patient, encompassing 
medication review, diagnostic tests, pain management, care planning, and 
rehabilitation. To access these services, patients need to have an advanced life-
limiting illness and may be referred by a healthcare professional or self-refer. 
Hospices often assist patients in arranging transportation to reach the hospice 
services location, ensuring accessibility for all. 
 

Page 130Page 130



79 | P a g e  
 

10.3b Hospice day care services 
 
Hospice day care services aim to provide care and support during the daytime for 
patients at the hospice, offering respite for their caregivers and families who need to 
take a break from providing constant supervision and support. These services 
encompass various social activities, therapeutic programs, and community events to 
enhance the overall well-being of patients.  
 
Additionally, day care services provide practical assistance, information, and advice 
to both patients and their families or caregivers. This includes welfare checks, 
financial advice, guidance on legal matters, support with making funeral 
arrangements, and connecting patients and families to other community resources 
that can be helpful to them.  
 
The services are often supported by hospice volunteers, who play a crucial role in 
creating a warm and compassionate environment. 
 
10.3c Community-based specialist palliative care well-being services 
(including psychological and bereavement support) 
 
Well-being services are designed to improve a person's overall health, happiness, 
and quality of life throughout their palliative care journey. These services focus on 
physical, emotional, social, and mental well-being, offering various activities, 
therapies, and support to promote positive outcomes and fulfilment. 
 
Complementary therapies are one aspect of well-being services and include non-
invasive supportive approaches that work alongside conventional medical 
treatments. These therapies provide additional comfort, relaxation, and symptom 
relief, addressing physical, emotional, and psychological needs.  
 
Common complementary therapies in palliative care may include massage therapy, 
music therapy, art therapy, mindfulness and meditation, aromatherapy, yoga, and 
Reiki.  
 
These services not are not funded by NHS NW London as they are not core 
specialist palliative care services as set out in the national adult specification for 
palliative and end-of-life care and supporting commissioning framework documents.  
 
Spiritual support is another vital component of well-being services, focusing on 
helping patients explore and find meaning, comfort, and peace in their spiritual 
beliefs and practices during their palliative care journey and beyond. It allows 
patients to connect with their inner beliefs, values, and sense of purpose, fostering 
spiritual well-being and coping with existential questions.  
 
Chaplains, spiritual counsellors, or trained professionals engage in conversations 
about faith, purpose, and connection to something greater than oneself, offering 
spiritual guidance and support tailored to the individual's beliefs and preferences. 
 
Emotional support is essential in helping patients and their families cope with the 
emotional challenges, fears, and uncertainties that arise from the diagnosis and 

Page 131Page 131

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/B1674-specialist-palliative-and-end-of-life-care-services-adult-service-specification.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/B1674-specialist-palliative-and-end-of-life-care-services-adult-service-specification.pdf


80 | P a g e  
 

progression of a life-limiting condition. Expert professionals and trained volunteers 
provide a compassionate presence, active listening, and validation of feelings, 
creating a safe space for patients and families to express their emotions and 
concerns. This ongoing emotional support addresses needs at different stages of the 
illness, treatment, and end-of-life care, promoting a sense of comfort and 
understanding. 
 
Psychological support is also a crucial aspect of well-being services, addressing the 
mental and emotional well-being of patients and their families through evidence-
based interventions. Trained mental health professionals, such as psychologists and 
counsellors, conduct assessments and offer counselling and psychotherapy to 
enhance coping strategies and improve resilience. Psychological support aims to 
promote better psychological adjustment and overall well-being during palliative 
care, addressing specific mental health concerns. These services are available to 
patients, their families, caregivers, and loved ones during advanced life-limiting 
illness, impending death, and the grieving process, providing essential emotional and 
practical assistance during a challenging time. 
 
Bereavement support is provided to individuals who have lost a loved one receiving 
care under the hospice or community-based palliative care services. It helps 
individuals navigate the grieving process and adjust to life after the death of their 
loved one. Bereavement support includes individual counselling, support groups, and 
resources tailored to address the unique needs and emotions experienced by 
individuals during the bereavement period. These services provide a safe and 
supportive space for individuals to express their grief, share memories of the 
deceased, and find ways to cope with the loss, offering essential support during the 
grieving process and beyond. 
 
The current provision of hospice out-patient, hospice day care, and 
community-based specialist palliative care well-being services in NW London 
 
The landscape of these hospice out-patient, day care, and well-being services in NW 
London is complex. The current provision of these services in NW London varies 
across different provider due to our hospices’ individual charitable statuses and 
independence from the NHS, and the fact that the NHS only partially funds, or in 
some cases, does not fund these services. For example, day care services and 
complementary services.  
 
This is the same picture nationally and regionally. This leads to hospices relying 
significantly on charitable funding to provide these services. However, the 
independence of these hospices in regards to these and other services is valuable, 
as it allows them to tailor and enhance services to best meet the unique needs of 
their local communities and pilot new services more readily than the NHS.  
 
As some of these services are fully funded by independent hospice charitable funds, 
it can lead to variations in service levels and access. The lack of a common core 
offer for some services results in inequitable care and outcomes for some patients 
across NW London. 
 

Page 132Page 132



81 | P a g e  
 

Table below: Current hospice out-patient, day care and well-being provision 
(that is funded by NHS NW London and not funded) 
(Click here to view a larger version of the table) 

 
 
For more comprehensive information on these types of services offered by each 
provider please see appendix G 
 
Current lymphoedema out-patient service provision for NW London (for cancer 
and non-cancer patients) 
 
The table below shows that there is currently a gap in out-patient lymphoedema 
service provision for non-cancer lymphoedema patients in Harrow.  
 

 
 
  

Page 133Page 133

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/application/files/2516/9243/7257/NW_London_CSPC_current_provision_of_outpatient_services.pdf
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/application/files/2516/9243/7257/NW_London_CSPC_current_provision_of_outpatient_services.pdf


82 | P a g e  
 

Why is change needed 
 
Each hospice offers unique and invaluable hospice out-patient, day care and well-
being services to their communities The landscape is complex and there is limited 
commonality in naming and grouping of services across providers.  
 
Where NHS NW London does not fund services in this service area, it is not within 
our gift to mandate a common core offer for these services. We would also not want 
to risk reducing innovation and the current high level of care and support being 
offered via our charitable hospice partners.  
 
Where we do fund services the new model of care working group recognised the 
benefit of aiming to standardise care as much as possible. However, given the 
current financial pressures for NHS NW London there is not likely to be any new 
investment to support this. 
 
The key issues and drivers for change include variation in services, inequitable 
access, and lack of cultural sensitivity. While some residents receive important and 
valued services, others lack access to quality care. 
 
Where NHS NW London does fund services, there is notable variation. The new 
model of care aims to establish a more equitable level of service and availability 
across NW London, promoting fairness and enhancing services with charitable 
funding. The change is needed to raise up the level of these boroughs and types of 
service: 
 

 For the boroughs of Ealing and Hounslow, raising up the level of hospice out-
patient services is required. 

 For the borough of Harrow, expansion of lymphoedema provision is required 
to support non-cancer related lymphoedema patients to receive this care 
more equitably. 

 The introduction of a common offer, and more robust pathway for 
psychological and bereavement support for all NW London boroughs to 
support more people and have improved patient outcomes. 

 
Proposed changes for services within the new model of care 
 
Under the new model of care, existing hospice out-patient services will remain with 
efforts made to level-up care in areas like Ealing and Hounslow where there is a gap 
in hospice out-patient services.  
 
The introduction of a common core service for lymphoedema services based on the 
national lymphoedema specification will allow us to deliver consistent and equitable 
care across all areas, including Harrow, for both cancer and non-cancer patients. 
This minimum common core offer will include: 
 

 Specialist support to care for individuals with chronic upper and lower limb 
lymphoedema, including support and education to help patients to self-
manage their symptoms. 

Page 134Page 134



83 | P a g e  
 

 Eligibility and admission criteria that welcomes all patients with primary and 
secondary lymphoedema, regardless of the underlying cause. 

 Referral system that allows patients to be referred to the service by various 
healthcare professionals involved in their care. Self-referral will be 
encouraged, allowing individuals to take an active role in seeking the care 
they need. 

 Qualified service team, consisting of highly qualified therapists who specialise 
in lymphoedema management. Staff will have a degree-level qualification and 
be well-versed in holistic management strategies, including rehabilitation, 
exercise and wound management. 

 Operational hours of weekdays from 9am to 5pm. To support continuity of 
care, there will be mechanisms in place to address urgent needs outside of 
these hours. 

 Triage system where patients are prioritised based on their needs and the 
nature of their lymphoedema. Patients requiring immediate attention will 
receive prompt care. 

 Wide range of core services covering a variety of comprehensive care 
approaches. These will include holistic assessments, personalised care 
planning and treatment, lymphatic drainage, skin care, compression therapy, 
exercise and weight management interventions, and education for self-
management. Staff will also refer and signpost patients to other services as 
needed. 

 
The new model also proposes introducing a common core offer for psychological 
support for patients and bereavement support services for their family, carers and 
those important to the patient within our community-based specialist palliative care 
provision for all of NW London. The key principles of this will include: 
 

 The acknowledgement that psychological adjustment and grief in the palliative 
care phase is healthy and normal, as is grieving after death. 

 A robust assessment process for more complex needs in both the palliative 
care phase and after death. 

 Personalised assessment and needs led care. 

 A range of evidenced-based support and therapeutic support which are based 
on assessment and need. 

 Integrating both psychological and bereavement services to make sure 
patients, families and those important to them are supported during the 
different stages of the end-of-life.  

 Palliative psychological family services, bereavement services and social 
support services will be closely aligned with a clear pathway. This will help 
make sure people are seen by the best service for them at that time, allowing 
for stepping up or stepping down levels of support flowing from the clear 
assessment process. 

 
The support available will include one-to-one counselling and group sessions 
provided by multidisciplinary psychosocial teams drawn from psychology, 
psychotherapy, counsellors, social workers, support workers and complementary 
therapists with appropriate training and knowledge of palliative care and 
bereavement.  

Page 135Page 135



84 | P a g e  
 

Who is eligible to be referred 
 
Eligibility for these psychological support and bereavement support services will be 
driven by need with a focus on patients who are in the palliative and last stage of life 
phases and family and carers during both the palliative phase and after 
bereavement. Need will be established through a holistic assessment by the 
community-based specialist palliative care psychological and bereavement 
practitioners within the hospice specialist palliative multidisciplinary team.  
 
A framework to support the understanding of the above core common offer 
information (please click here to view a larger version of the diagram) 
 

 
Source: Developed and signed off within the psychological support and bereavement 
subgroup of the Hillingdon Health and Care Partners 
 
The introduction of the model of care will lead to more consistent, personalised, and 
flexible support with a clear pathway and robust assessment process. The goal is to 
provide inclusive, culturally sensitive care to all residents of NW London, ensuring 
that expert staff with appropriate training can provide a wide range of care and 
support at the right time. 
 
Overall, the proposed changes as laid out in this service area aim to enhance the 
quality of care and support for patients and their families, promoting better well-being 
and outcomes throughout the palliative care journey.  
 
The new model seeks to address the current gaps and variation in service provision, 
improve access to services, and create a more standardized approach to care while 
respecting the individuality and diversity of each hospice's community. By 
implementing these changes, NW London can offer comprehensive, holistic, and 
equitable care for individuals with life-limiting illnesses and their families. 
 

Page 136Page 136

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/application/files/1416/9261/6370/NWL_London_CSPC_bereavement_and_psychological_support_pathway.pdf


85 | P a g e  
 

See appendix G to view a table detailing current hospice out-patient, day care and 
well-being provision. 
11. The key enablers that will help us deliver the new model of care 
 
A key feature in the feedback we received from local people was the need to make 
sure we put in place effective ways of working and the systems and processes that 
are needed to support the delivery of high quality palliative and end-of-life care.   
 
There was a particular emphasis on the need to reduce health inequalities and have 
a palliative care workforce (generalist and specialist) that is both sustainable and 
understands the cultural and faith requirements of our diverse communities.  
 
We have identified five key enablers that we will need to develop and put in place to 
support the successful implementation and delivery of our new model of care and 
achieve the improvements in care we aim to deliver:  
 

 Workforce development 

 Reducing inequalities 

 Data, digital and technology 

 Organisational development 

 Leadership, governance and integration 
 
Diagram showing the enablers we need to support delivery of the model of 
care (please click here to view a larger version of the diagram) 
 

 
 
Enablers typically refer to essential components or factors that facilitate or support 
the successful implementation of a project, an initiative or process. Some people 
might call enablers building blocks, cross cutting changes or the infrastructure 
necessary for achieving the desired outcome. The aim is to remove barriers, 
improving efficiency, and supporting overall success. They serve as fundamental 
pieces, that have impact across different aspects of the project and organisation and 
are supportive in the functioning of the system. The important thing is that they 
address ways of working rather than them being new services. 
 

Page 137Page 137

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/application/files/7316/9261/6519/NW_London_CSPC_and_the_enablers.pdf


86 | P a g e  
 

While enablers may not be considered as direct patient care, they provide the 
essential support mechanisms needed for the workforce and organisations to deliver 
care effectively. By identifying and leveraging enablers, projects and programmes 
can overcome challenges and maximise their impact on improving patient outcomes 
and achieving the intended goals. 
 
The five supporting enablers listed above and their associated strategies and activity 
are needed to make sure we can deliver the future model of care. They are not 
options which require long-listing, short-listing or public consultation, but rather 
consistently underpin all elements of future working arrangements for the new model 
of care.  
 
Developing a detailed picture of what each of these enablers means and how that 
translates into the offer to patients has not been a part of the model of care working 
group’s remit to date. However, there have been some productive discussions about 
what could be included. We anticipate building further detail for each of these 
enablers at a later stage through collaborative task and finish groups as part of the 
model of care implementation planning.  
 
11.1 Workforce development to address the need for a pipeline of skilled 
workers into the future  
 
High quality palliative and end-of-life care services require multidisciplinary teams to 
work collaboratively across all care settings, with sufficient workforce with the 
appropriate skill mix, supported by high quality education, training and professional 
development.9  
 
Our workforce development strategy will need to align with the developing NW 
London health and care strategy and is seen as a priority that will need to be 
addressed as a matter of urgency. However, we need to recognise that some issues 
such as workforce recruitment and retention are long-term national structural 
problems and there are no quick fixes. There is an opportunity for our non NHS 
providers to work alongside our wider NHS approach. 
 
This enabler has two parts. Firstly, to ensure that there is a workforce plan in place 
and the right workforce to support patients with community-based specialist palliative 
and end-of-life care needs. And secondly, that there are staff across all settings of 
care who have the requisite skills, from the specialists to the generalists supporting 
people with palliative and end-of-life care needs as part of their wider roles such as 
GPs, community nursing staff and those working in care homes. It is important that 
staff delivering care have access to training, including in the identification of people 
in the last year of life, and in difficult conversations and personalised care planning.  
 
It is also important that staff are supported to attend appropriate training and 
development, and to identify their leaning, training and education needs. Workforce 
planning, resilience, well-being and improving training and education for all staff 
working in palliative and end-of-life care, not just specialist palliative care, were 

                                                           
9 Palliative and End-of-life Care, Statutory Guidance for Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) NHS England, 
29 September 2022.  

Page 138Page 138

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/about-us/nw-london-health-and-care-strategy
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/about-us/nw-london-health-and-care-strategy


87 | P a g e  
 

highlighted within our engagement work and in the new model of care working group 
discussions.  
 
A community-based specialist palliative care workforce development strategy will be 
jointly developed across all charitable and NHS organisations to support workforce 
development and service delivery. Sharing of good practice within this specialism, 
meaning different providers collaborating on different areas, the aim will be to 
develop a provider collaborative that will jointly work together on improvement 
initiatives. This will seek to address recruitment, retention and shortage of key 
workforce including community nursing specialist and palliative care consultants. It 
will also support staff to work at the top of their competencies and bands, and foster 
innovation. 
 
Some examples of strategies that can be used to support this work include: 
 

 Creating flexible career pathways across all the organisations within the NW 
London Integrated Care System. 

 Development of hospice provider collaboration to explore specific workforce 
planning and efficiencies across their organisations. 

 Developing an inclusive culture and practices. 

 Improving staff wellbeing and providing better support. 

 Doing things differently - looking at hard to recruit roles and redesigning 
models of care to make services and roles better for staff and patients. 
Ongoing professional development by making sure effective education and 
training programmes are in place (face to face and virtually) for continuous 
learning and skill enhancement to support the sector to deliver future ways of 
providing care, new roles and advancement opportunities, new 
apprenticeships and career pathways through the NW London health and 
care skills academy. 

 Increased utilisation of staff competencies and optimisation of clinical time 
through role expansion that supports staff to work to the top of their 
competency bands/ roles 

 Embedding use of technology into care delivery to augment care and optimise 
productively. For example, remote monitoring, virtual consolations using 
tablets, electronic health records for efficient documentation, and mobile 
applications for improved communication and information sharing. 

 
The workforce development enabler is integral to equipping healthcare professionals 
and support staff with the necessary skills and knowledge to deliver high-quality 
palliative care. By providing specialised training programmes encompassing pain 
management, symptom control, communication, and emotional support, we can 
enhance the competency of the workforce.  
 
Cultivating interdisciplinary collaboration among doctors, nurses, social workers, 
psychologists, and chaplains will facilitate a holistic approach to patient care. A 
skilled and collaborative workforce will not only improve patient outcomes but also 
contribute to more sustainable and efficient care delivery. 
 
Whilst we are engaging on this model of care we can continue to work with providers 
and the NW London workforce team to develop more concrete and time-lined plans 

Page 139Page 139



88 | P a g e  
 

to ensure the identified work on recruitment/retention and the current capacity gaps 
are progressed to support delivery timescales.   
 
11.2 Reducing inequalities in access, outcomes and experience 
 
We know that we need to do to more to reach all of our diverse communities as 
some are not using community-based specialist palliative care. Our engagement 
found there was a lack of awareness in certain communities and that there was a 
need to take into account the diverse cultural and faith practices and beliefs of NW 
London residents.  
 
Making sure there is equitable access 
 
To make sure there is equitable access to community-based specialist palliative care 
for all individuals in the community that need it, we must address disparities that 
hinder access to services. Strategies to support that could include: 
 

 A commitment from providers ongoing outreach programmes, with a focus on 
communities that are not currently using community-based specialist palliative 
care by fostering partnerships and collaborations with diverse community 
organisations, faith-based groups, and cultural communities. 

 Developing a culturally competent workforce by providing comprehensive 
cultural competency training programmes for all staff members. These 
programmes should include education on diverse cultural backgrounds, 
beliefs, values and practices that may impact the delivery of palliative and 
end-of-life care. Such cultural competency training can help us identify and 
reach underserved populations. 

 Incorporate culturally sensitive care planning into the model. This includes 
assessing and documenting patients' cultural values, preferences, and 
traditions, and integrating these considerations into their individualised care 
plans. Encourage staff members to actively seek input from patients and 
families regarding their cultural needs and preferences. 

 Ensure language access services are readily available to overcome language 
barriers. This may involve providing interpretation services, translation of 
essential documents, and employing multilingual staff members who can 
effectively communicate with patients and families in their preferred language. 

 Ensure that staff members are trained to respect and accommodate diverse 
religious and spiritual beliefs. Support the availability of chaplains, spiritual 
counsellors, or clergy members who can provide guidance and support 
patients and families in addressing their spiritual needs. 

 Embracing technologies in delivery of care will extend care to remote or 
underserved areas and support more patients who have a preference for 
remote delivery of care where appropriate. This will also help streamlining 
services and making them more efficient. By focusing on equitable access, we 
aim to improve patient outcomes while ensuring that the care is delivered in a 
culturally competent manner. 

 
Outcomes and experience 
 

Page 140Page 140



89 | P a g e  
 

 This needs more focused work with our residents and providers on patient, 
family and carer outcomes and experience, the next steps on which will be 
picked up within task and finish groups and engagement plans. 

 
11.3 Data, digital and technology to support future service planning 
 
Embracing data, digital tools, and technology can significantly enhance the 
sustainability, effectiveness, and efficiency of our community-based specialist 
palliative care services. Linking into NHS NW London health and care strategy there 
is a recognition amongst all providers that we need to make more use of new and 
innovative technologies to improve and support clinical decision making. 
 
Some potential strategies could include a commitment to greater use of remote 
monitoring technologies and telehealth services, which can proactively manage 
patient symptoms, leading to better patient outcomes and reducing the burden on 
acute care settings. 
 
This could include: 
 

 Working together to support coding and counting activity in the same way so 
we can understand differences in the care services provided by our various 
providers in more easily comparable ways. 

 Supporting implementation of shared records and standardisation of clinical 
systems in as much as possible, so all clinicians supporting the health and 
care of an individual can see their information across multiple care settings. 
For example, implementing electronic health records and facilitating and 
embedding use of the health information exchange and London care record 
can support streamlining the data sharing among healthcare providers and 
sectors. This will promote care coordination, reduce duplication of efforts and 
prevent patients having to repeat themselves at each appointment. Use of the 
Universal Care Plan (UCP) to support recording and sharing of patient 
preferences and care plans will improve this further 

 Creating new ways to provide care using advances in technology through, for 
example, virtual wards and home remote monitoring. 

 Developing a single dataset of timely, detailed health and care information, 
that can help clinicians provide the right care and support for patients. 

 Developing systems to provide a NW London wide overview and 
management of demand, capacity and patient flows across hospitals and 
primary care services. 

 Automating advice and guidance from clinical specialists to support GPs with 
referrals. 

 
11.4 Organisational development to support working together differently  
 
Organisational development is vital for creating an environment that supports the 
effective implementation of the new model of care. Some suggested strategies that 
could be explored by the enabler working groups could include more emphasis on 
adopting a patient-centred approach which will empower patients and their families 
in care planning, fostering a sense of ownership and improved decision-making.  
 

Page 141Page 141



90 | P a g e  
 

Continuous quality improvement initiatives could also help to drive efficiency and 
streamline processes, leading to more effective and sustainable care.  
 
Developing more transparent communication within the NW London ICS will help 
make sure that feedback from staff, patients, and families is valued, allowing for 
necessary adjustments and ultimately supporting the overall aim of improving patient 
outcomes and experience.  
 
Additionally, actively recruiting and retaining a diverse workforce that reflects the 
cultural diversity of the community being served is important This includes promoting 
inclusivity in hiring practices and creating an environment that values and respects 
cultural differences. 
 
11.5 Leadership, governance and integration 
 
Leadership 
 
Moving forward good leadership, integration and governance will be key if we are to 
deliver the new model of care and associated service and organisational 
development that is needed. We will need to build on the excellent leadership 
already shown by all providers as we have carried out this review, to further support:  
  

 Strengthening collaboration and partnership working internally with 
organisations and between wider care system partners to make sure that 
patients are at the centre of the care delivery and co-design of services.  

 Establishing strong governance structures to oversee and ensure the delivery 
of high-quality palliative care services. 

 Providing leadership that fosters a culture of excellence, compassion, and 
continuous improvement. 

 
Governance 
 
Clearer expectations of ways of working between organisations in any given 
geography depend on robust clinical and organisational governance.  As much as 
patients want to know who to contact, it is critical that other partners also know that 
line of accountability. Governance doesn’t take away from the need to work flexibly 
and collaboratively across organisational boundaries but rather provides the safety 
nets for certainty on reporting lines and what happens when things do not go as 
planned.    
 
Integration 
 
Integration is both a cultural change and a major practical difference in how services 
work together. It includes: 

 Reducing boundaries between organisations by fostering ‘one team’ ethos. 

 Reducing handoffs and the need for people to tell their story repeatedly. 

 Coordination functions that remove the need for patients and carers to act as 
coordinators, and also free up our more specialist staff. 

 Multidisciplinary teams and meetings as a way of working to plan with 
residents for theirs care needs across community-based specialist palliative 

Page 142Page 142



91 | P a g e  
 

care services in the first instance, as well as the wider health and care system 
in the community and acute hospitals.  

 Integration across NW London and the community-based specialist palliative 
care and hospice sector through regular sharing forums. Facilitating improved 
information sharing between teams, organisation and sectors through use of 
shared care records where possible, including electronic patient records, the 
health information exchange (London Care Record) and the Universal Care 
Plan (UCP). 

 Fostering collaborative care models such as multidisciplinary teams within 
organisations and across organisations working together to provide 
comprehensive and holistic care. This maybe through encouraging regular 
team meetings, multidisciplinary rounds across community-based specialist 
palliative care services and wider system partners to support shared decision-
making, optimising the use of the specialist workforce and enhancing patient 
outcomes. 

 Emphasising effective communication and care coordination among the 
healthcare providers involved in palliative care - implementing tools and 
platforms that facilitate seamless information sharing, care planning, and 
follow-up. 

 Creating platforms for staff members to share their experiences, ideas, and 
best practices with their colleagues and encouraging regular learning forums, 
case discussions, and peer mentoring to promote collaboration and 
knowledge exchange. 
 

Through collaborative efforts and the careful consideration and development of 
strategies within the model of care implementation planning and enabler working 
groups, we can create a robust framework for supporting the successful delivery of 
the NW London community-based specialist palliative care services new model of 
care. By embracing these enablers, we aspire to improve patient outcomes, enhance 
care coordination, address workforce challenges, promote integration, and deliver 
value for money, all in line with the overarching goals of the new care model. 
 
The next steps for this work is to scope and define the various task and finish groups 
for each of the enablers, supported by NW London ICS expert leads.  
 

Page 143Page 143

https://ucp.onelondon.online/about/
https://ucp.onelondon.online/about/


92 | P a g e  
 

12. Engaging on the new model of care and next steps  
 
12.1 Tell us what you think? 
 
We believe the proposed new model of care describes what good community-based 
specialist palliative care should look like in NW London for the next five years and 
beyond. The model of care responds to the needs of our population and authentically 
reflects the views of our communities, people with lived experiences of palliative and 
end-of-life care services and bereavement, our clinicians and our providers. 
 
We appreciate this has taken longer than residents and stakeholders would have 
liked. However, we needed to make sure the model of care responds to the needs of 
our population and authentically reflects the views of our communities, people with 
lived experiences of palliative and end-of-life care services and bereavement, our 
clinicians and our providers. 
 
This model of care is the culmination of time invested by all members of the NW 
London model of care working group to describe what high quality community-based 
specialist palliative care is required for our communities.   
 
We are also pleased that the model of care is supported by the NW London 
community-based specialist palliative care steering group that included all hospice 
and NHS providers of community-based specialist palliative care services in NW 
London. 
 
We now want to get feedback on our recommended model of care.   
 
You can provide your feedback by completing our short online survey. 
 
You can also provide feedback by attending one of our engagement meetings where 
we will be able to discuss where we have got to so far and answer your questions, 
please visit www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/cspc to find out more. 
 
In the meantime, if you have any comments or questions please email 
nhsnwl.endoflife@nhs.net 
 
  

Page 144Page 144

https://form.jotform.com/232131780320039
http://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/cspc
mailto:nhsnwl.endoflife@nhs.net


93 | P a g e  
 

12.2 How we will use your feedback  
 
We will analyse and consider all feedback received and make changes to the model 
of care as needed. 

 
The next phase will require us to consider how we can introduce the model of care. 
At the outset of our work, we described a process where we would generate a long 
list of options through which we could deliver the change. We would then whittle 
these down using hurdle criteria that have already been developed and agreed by 
the model of care steering group.  
 
The shortlisted options would then require further development and appraisal before 
we identify recommendations.  
 
Following the appraisal process, we will work with our Borough Based Partnerships, 
local residents and palliative and end-of-life care stakeholders to decide whether the 
new service standards can be delivered by existing service structures or whether a 
service change is needed.  
 
If it is deemed that a substantial service change is needed, we will need to consider 
if a public consultation is necessary. If consultation is needed the options will then go 
into the development of a pre-consultation business case which will be presented to 
the NHS NW London Board for approval. 
 
How we will use hurdle criteria to shortlist ideas 
 
We will use hurdle criteria to filter the number of ideas generated through this 
engagement exercise in order to create a manageable short list of options that we 
can then analyse further. The hurdle criteria are detailed in the table below. 

Page 145Page 145

https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/boroughs
https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/about-nhs-nw-london/board


94 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 
Evaluation of short-listed options 
 
Following the shortlisting, we will delve further into these four areas to examine the 
merits and shortfalls of the options.  
 
An equality health impact assessment will then be carried out on the short-listed 
options. 
 
We will then work with our Borough Based Partnerships, local residents and palliative 
and end-of-life care stakeholders to decide whether the new service standards can be 
delivered by existing service structures or whether a service change is needed. If it is 
deemed that substantial service change is needed, we will then need to consider if a 
public consultation is necessary.  
 
12.3 Next steps 
 
Engagement will continue and our current estimation is that we expect to be clearer 
on a set of recommendations emerging from the ongoing engagement and 
shortlisting process in Autumn 2023.  
 
At that point, we will be able to communicate further details of our forward plan. 
 
 
 
  

Page 146Page 146



95 | P a g e  
 

13. Concluding comments 
 
We recognise the length of time the programme has taken to develop this model, but 
stand by the importance of doing this in partnership with local residents and we are 
grateful for your patience.  
 
By taking time to listen to the views of our local residents and bringing together these 
voices with our clinicians and providers, we have designed something that is specific 
to our communities and our needs. It would not have been possible without the 
ongoing contributions of everyone involved.  
 
By providing us with comments on the model of care described in this document, we 
believe you can help us move closer to agreeing what community-based specialist 
palliative care should look like in NW London.  
 
We can then progress through the process outlined above to establish the best way 
of delivering the model of care. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 147Page 147



96 | P a g e  
 

Appendix A: NW London community-based specialist palliative care new 
model of care working group  
 
What is the new model of care working group? 
 
The new model of care working group was asked to develop and co-design a new 
model of care for community-based specialist palliative care, based on best practice 
and evidence, to help us develop high quality community-based specialist palliative 
care that is delivered equitably and sustainably across NW London.  
 
The new model of care aims to make sure people have a choice, get the right care, 
at the right time, by the right team and in the right place, alongside their wishes and 
preference. Through it, all residents, no matter their circumstances, will be able to 
access the services they need. 
 
Co-design is the method of involving users (people), stakeholders (decision makers) 
and practitioners (front line staff) in the process of design. Whenever we are 
designing new services and patient pathways, it is important that anyone who would 
like to contribute has the opportunity to input into the process. 
 
Who were the members of the NW London community-based specialist 
palliative care new model of care working group? 
 
Membership of the NW London community-based specialist palliative care new 
model of care working group consisted of local residents and carers with lived 
experience of palliative and end-of-life care services, practitioners and other 
palliative and end-of-life care stakeholders.   
 
It included: 
 

 NW London NHS community specialist palliative care and NW London 
Hospice providers (Also see Appendix 1) 

 Twelve patients and carer representatives 

 Primary care representatives 

 Acute hospital specialist palliative care representatives 

 Acute hospital discharge representatives 

 NW London care homes lead 

 London Ambulance Service 

 Community nursing representatives 

 Continuing Health Care (CHC) representatives 
 
We also invited additional topic or other programme related stakeholders when 
needed.  
 
This helped ensure that the new model of care supports integrated care as it is 
developed with all appropriate interdependent programmes and considers the patient 
journey through the whole pathway. 
 
What was the new model of care working group’s remit? 
 

Page 148Page 148

https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/nw-london-nhs-community-based-specialist-palliative-care-spc-providers-and-nw-london-hospice-providers
https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/nw-london-nhs-community-based-specialist-palliative-care-spc-providers-and-nw-london-hospice-providers
https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/your-health-services/your-services/continuing-healthcare


97 | P a g e  
 

The NW London community-based specialist palliative care new model of care 
working group was asked to: 
 

 Develop a new model of care that will help us decide what type of services we 
need and what the common core offer that every patient in NW London should 
have access to. 

 Develop a set of good practice and evidence-based core service standards, 
requirements and service definitions. These will demonstrate what we believe 
good community-based specialist palliative care looks like for all our residents. 

 Develop a set of co-designed principles that will help us to successfully design 
and deliver the new patient-centred model of care across NW London. 

 Support the development of a long list of options for delivery of the new model 
of care. 
 

The model of care working group also looked at the future need of the NW London 
population over the next five plus years. In particular: 
 

 The future requirements for in-patient bedded services and what they could look 
like. 

 The principles by which we will decide the size and shape of future palliative in-
patient services and the number of beds required 

 The future requirements for other community-based services (hospice at home, 
community-based specialist palliative care teams, psychological and 
bereavement support, 24/7 specialist palliative care advice line, out-patients, 
day hospice services). 

 The principles by which we will decide the size and shape of these community-
based services for the future. 

 They have also put forward recommendations as to what supporting services 
activity (for example, improving uptake of the London Urgent Care Plan (UCP) 
and having a workforce recruitment and retention plan) are needed to deliver 
good community-based specialist care services and the mechanisms for 
developing these programme enablers. 

 
The model of care is being designed to support local flexibility and equity of access. 
This means that the local Borough Based Partnerships will have the ability to develop 
additional services beyond the NW London core service offer if they wish to, based on 
their local priorities and local population needs. 
 
What happened in the model of care working group? 
 
The model of care working group met 38 times over the course of twelve months or 
so and we thank them for their hard work and determination in helping us deliver 
excellent community-based specialist palliative care services for NW London 
residents.  During the meetings they were provided with detailed background evidence 
and information and discussed what good community-based specialist care services 
should look like and what future capacity and demand for these services will be. 
 
The background evidence and information they were provided with included: 
 

Page 149Page 149

https://ucp.onelondon.online/


98 | P a g e  
 

 The eight broad reasons why we are doing this, national and regional good 
practice and evidence 

 The wonderful, rich feedback we have received from our residents, healthcare 
professionals and various other stakeholders through our engagement 

 The current and projected future demand for our services and the capacity and 
the structure of our workforce that will be needed to deliver it.  

 
Many local residents have been kind enough to share their stories to illustrate both the 
good experiences and the challenges that people face when using community-based 
specialist palliative care services. We need to learn from their experiences and the 
feedback was used in the model of care working group meetings so it could directly 
influence the discussions taking place on a topic-by-topic basis. 
 
The work of the review programme and the new model of working group to 
date 
 
The minutes for the model of care working group’s meetings can be found here. 
 
A summary of the review programme’s work is provided in the table below. 
 

Task 

Considered 
by the new 
model of care 
working 
group? 

Further detail 

Defining what 
the core 
elements of 
care and 
service 
delivery are 

Yes 

The national service specification for palliative 
and end-of-life care and the starting point for 
this work. 
 
The working group are further defining these 
based on our resident and population needs. 

Defining how 
much of these 
key elements 
we need 

Yes 

This isn’t covered in the national specification, 
but is critical if we are to make sure we are able 
to introduce a model of care across NW 
London. Note that ‘How much’ includes hours, 
staffing and capacity. 

Defining how 
services 
should be 
delivered 

Partially 

For example, we may want to define elements 
such as access (including geographical 
availability) but not how services are integrated 
at a local borough level. 

Defining where 
services are to 
be delivered 

No 

The new Model of care working group will put 
forward some recommendations that will be 
included in the long-list of service change 
options that will be developed further following 
more engagement with the public and other 
stakeholders. These options will go through an 
appraisal process and be subject to public 
consultation if deemed necessary 

Page 150Page 150

https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/application/files/8216/3768/6784/NW_London_ICS_Community-based_specialist_palliative_care_review.pdf
https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/application/files/8216/3768/6784/NW_London_ICS_Community-based_specialist_palliative_care_review.pdf
https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/how-get-involved/interim-engagement-outcome-report
https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/how-get-involved/model-care-working-group


99 | P a g e  
 

Who delivers 
elements 

No 
Future programme work once model of care 
and option have been agreed. 

How much it 
costs 

No Not considered at this stage. 

 
 

Page 151Page 151



100 | P a g e  
 

` 

Appendix B: The NW London community-based specialist palliative care 
steering group 
 
The purpose of the NW London community-based specialist palliative care steering 
group is to provide executive oversight and governance as we seek to deliver quality 
improvements to community-based specialist palliative care. 
 

 This includes providing strategic direction and decision-making, reviewing 
escalations and challenges from the working group(s) and determining where 
further escalation is needed. 

 Ensuring there is robust engagement with the user/clinical reference group of 
patients and clinicians, and ensuring that cross-cutting functions of finance, 
communications, and data are incorporated consistently across the working 
group(s), including ensuring that data reporting requirements are provided to 
NHS NW London ICS, as required. 

 
Who are the members of the steering group? 
 
Key palliative and end-of-life care stakeholders (generalist and specialist) including 
two patient and carer representatives: 

 NW London NHS community specialist palliative care  and NW London 
Hospice providers (Also see Appendix 1) 

 Two patient and carer representatives 

 Clinical leads 

 NW London Last Phase of Life programme and care homes GP clinical lead 

 Acute hospital specialist palliative care clinical lead (consultant) 

 Acute hospital specialist palliative care nurse lead 

 Community services professional lead 

 NW London ICS Local Care Programme Team (four members) 

 NW London ICS Finance Lead 

 NW London ICS Communications Lead 
 
We also invited additional topic or other programme related stakeholders when 
needed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 152Page 152

https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/nw-london-nhs-community-based-specialist-palliative-care-spc-providers-and-nw-london-hospice-providers
https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/get-involved/cspc/nw-london-nhs-community-based-specialist-palliative-care-spc-providers-and-nw-london-hospice-providers


101 | P a g e  
 

Appendix C: Model of care development 
 
Bibliography: Key documentation used in the development of the NW London 
community-based specialist palliative care new model of care 
 
Local documentation 
 
1. Engagement feedback engagement feedback  
2. Strategic review of the palliative care that involved four CCGs (Brent, 

Hammersmith & Fulham, Westminster and Central London) 
 

National documentation 
 
1. Cicely Saunders International and King’s College London. A Right to be Heard: 

Better palliative and end-of-life care for people with dementia, May 2023. 
2. Department of Health and Social Care. Health and Care Act 2022 
3. Local Government Association. End-of-life care: guide for councils, September 

2020. 
4. London Councils, Mayor of London, NHS England, Public Health England. Our 

Vision for London: The next steps on our journey to becoming the healthiest 
global city, London’s Health and Care Vision , 2019. 

5. Marie Curie. Better End-of-life research report, 2021.   
6. Marie Curie. Better End-of-life research report, July 2022. 
7. NHS England. Comprehensive Model of Personalised Care, November 2018. 
8. NHS England. NHS Long Term Plan, 2019. 
9. NHS England. National frameworks (Ambitions for Palliative and End-of-life Care: 

A national framework for local action 2021-2026, May 2021.   
10. NHS England. National Service Specification for Palliative and end-of-life care: 

Adults, 26 January 2023.  
11. NHS England. Palliative and end-of-life care: Statutory guidance for integrated 

care boards, Sept 2022. 
12. NHS England. Universal Principles for Advance Care planning, March 2022.  
13. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Care of dying adults in the last 

days of life | Guidance | NICE [NG31]. December 2015. 
14. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. End-of-life care for adults 

Quality standard [QS13], November 2011. 
15. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. End-of-life care for adults: 

service delivery [NG142], October 2019. 
16. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. NICE Guideline: Improving 

supportive and palliative care for adults with cancer: Cancer service guideline 
[CSG4]). March 2004. 

17. Office for National Statistics. National Survey of Bereaved People (VOICES): 
England, (2015), April 2016. 

18. Office for National Statistics. Death registration summary statistics, England and 
Wales, 2022. Death registration summary statistics, England and Wales - Office 
for National Statistics 

19. Public Health England and Office for Health Improvement and Disparities (OHID). 
Palliative and End-of-life care profiles, Fingertips Public Health Data. 

20. The Lancet Global Health. The Lancet Commission on Palliative Care and Pain 
Relief (2017), March 2018. 

Page 153Page 153

https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/application/files/3516/4207/1384/Tri-borough_palliative_care_engagement_report_July_2020.pdf
https://democracy.lbhf.gov.uk/documents/s111947/Item%207.2%20Penny%20Hansford%20Independent%20Review%20Palliaive%20Care%20Report.pdf
https://www.kcl.ac.uk/nmpc/assets/a-right-to-be-heard-policy-brief.pdf
https://www.kcl.ac.uk/nmpc/assets/a-right-to-be-heard-policy-brief.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/31/contents/enacted
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/end-life-care-guide-councils
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/11448_hlp_london_vision_-_annual_report_2019_full_version.pdf
https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/policy/better-end-life-report-2021
https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/policy/better-end-life-report
https://www.england.nhs.uk/personalisedcare/comprehensive-model-of-personalised-care/
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/ambitions-for-palliative-and-end-of-life-care-a-national-framework-for-local-action-2021-2026/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/ambitions-for-palliative-and-end-of-life-care-a-national-framework-for-local-action-2021-2026/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/service-specifications-for-palliative-and-end-of-life-care-adults/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/service-specifications-for-palliative-and-end-of-life-care-adults/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/palliative-and-end-of-life-care-statutory-guidance-for-integrated-care-boards-icbs/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/palliative-and-end-of-life-care-statutory-guidance-for-integrated-care-boards-icbs/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/london/wp-content/uploads/sites/8/2022/05/Universal-Principles-for-Advance-Care-Planning-ACP.pdf
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng31
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng31
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/QS13
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/QS13
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/NG142
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/NG142
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/csg4
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/csg4
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/csg4
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthcaresystem/bulletins/nationalsurveyofbereavedpeoplevoices/england2015
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthcaresystem/bulletins/nationalsurveyofbereavedpeoplevoices/england2015
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/deathregistrationsummarystatisticsenglandandwales/2022
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/deathregistrationsummarystatisticsenglandandwales/2022
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/end-of-life
https://www.thelancet.com/journals/langlo/article/PIIS2214-109X(18)30082-2/fulltext
https://www.thelancet.com/journals/langlo/article/PIIS2214-109X(18)30082-2/fulltext


102 | P a g e  
 

21. The Muslim Council of Britain. Muslim Voices: The palliative care needs of British 
Muslims during the Covid-19 pandemic and beyond, February 2023.  

22. NHS Benchmarking Network. National Audit of Care at the End-of-life: Fourth 
round of the audit (2022/23) report 

23. Pask S, Davies JM, Mohamed A, Leniz J, Chambers RL, McFarlane P, Bone AE, 
Barclay S, Higginson IJ, Sleeman KE & Murtagh FEM (King’s College London, 
Cicely Saunders Institute; Hull York Medical School at the University of Hull; and 
University of Cambridge, UK). Better End-of-life 2022. Mind the gaps: 
understanding and improving out-of-hours care for people with advanced illness 
and their informal carers. Research report. London (UK): Marie Curie. (November 
2022) https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/globalassets/media/documents/policy/beol-
reports-2022/better-end-of-life-report-2022.pdf  

24. Independent report by Healthcare Safety Investigation Branch NI-000835: 
Variations in the delivery of palliative care services to adults (July 2023)  
  

Page 154Page 154

https://mcb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/J437_MCB_MC_Report_280223.pdf
https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/nhsbn-static/NACEL/2023/NACEL%202022%20Summary%20Report%20-%20Final.pdf
https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/nhsbn-static/NACEL/2023/NACEL%202022%20Summary%20Report%20-%20Final.pdf
https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/globalassets/media/documents/policy/beol-reports-2022/better-end-of-life-report-2022.pdf
https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/globalassets/media/documents/policy/beol-reports-2022/better-end-of-life-report-2022.pdf
https://hsib-kqcco125-media.s3.amazonaws.com/assets/documents/hsib-report-variations-in-the-delivery-of-palliative-care-services-to-adults.pdf
https://hsib-kqcco125-media.s3.amazonaws.com/assets/documents/hsib-report-variations-in-the-delivery-of-palliative-care-services-to-adults.pdf


103 | P a g e  
 

Appendix D: Continuum of care 
 
What is a continuum of care in the context of specialist palliative care and 
hospice care services?  
 
A care continuum is a description of how a patient would be moving up and down the 
levels of specialist support based on their changing needs and preferences. 
 
In the context of specialist palliative care and hospice care services, a continuum of 
care refers to a seamless and coordinated progression of services that are tailored to 
meet the evolving needs and preferences of patients facing advanced illnesses. It 
recognizes that patients' care requirements change over time and ensures that 
appropriate levels of support are provided at each stage of their journey. 
 
The continuum of care encompasses various levels of specialist support, with 
includes the following components: 
 

 Adult community-based specialist palliative care team: This care is 
provided in the patient's home or community setting. It involves a team of 
healthcare professionals, including doctors, nurses, social workers, and 
counsellors, who specialize in palliative care. They focus on managing 
symptoms, providing emotional and psychosocial support, and helping 
patients and their families navigate the challenges of living with a serious 
illness. 

 Hospice at home service: When a patient's needs become more complex, 
they may require additional support that can be provided through a hospice at 
home service. This involves a dedicated team of healthcare professionals who 
deliver comprehensive palliative care in the patient's home environment. They 
ensure symptom management, emotional support, and coordination of care, 
while respecting the patient's desire to be in familiar surroundings. 

 Hospice in-patient bed care: In some cases, patients may require a higher 
level of care that cannot be adequately provided at home. Hospice in-patient 
care service offers a specialized facility where patients receive 24/7 medical 
support and symptom management. This level of care may be needed when a 
patient's symptoms become difficult to manage at home or when complex 
interventions, such as pain management, require a more controlled 
environment. 

 Hospice out-patient clinics, day care and well-being services: Out-patient 
clinics provide specialized consultations, assessments, and treatments for 
patients who do not require in-patient care. Patients may visit these clinics for 
routine check-ups, medication adjustments, counselling sessions, or 
specialized interventions such as palliative chemotherapy or radiation therapy. 
Day care and well-being services aim to improve the overall well-being of 
patients and provide respite for caregivers. Patients attend day care centres 
or well-being programs where they can engage in therapeutic activities, 
receive social support, and access complementary therapies to enhance their 
quality of life. 

 Lymphoedema services: Lymphoedema services are specialized programs 
that manage and treat swelling caused by lymphatic system dysfunction. 
These services include assessment, compression therapy, exercises, and 

Page 155Page 155



104 | P a g e  
 

education to help patients manage and alleviate symptoms related to 
lymphoedema. 

 Bereavement and psychological support services. 

 24/7 specialist palliative care advice line. 

 Nursing home enhanced end-of-life care beds and enhanced care for care 
homes.  
 

The movement of patients up and down the levels of specialist support within the 
continuum of care is based on their changing needs and preferences. As a patient's 
condition progresses or becomes more complex, they may require a higher level of 
care, such as transitioning from community-based specialist palliative care to a 
hospice at home service or a hospice in-patient care service. This may be due to 
worsening symptoms, increased care needs, or the need for more intensive medical 
interventions. 
 
Conversely, as a patient's condition stabilises or improves, they may have the option 
to transition back to a lower level of care, such as moving from in-patient care to 
hospice at home or community-based specialist palliative care. This transition allows 
patients to receive the optimum care and support they need in a less intensive 
setting that aligns with their preference for being at home or in the community. 
 
The movement within the continuum of care is driven by the goal of providing 
patient-centred care that matches the individual's needs and preferences at any 
given time. It ensures that the level of support provided is appropriate to address the 
physical, emotional, and psychosocial aspects of the patient's condition, while also 
considering the patient's desire for autonomy, comfort, and quality of life. 
 
Overall, the continuum of care in specialist palliative care and hospice services offers 
a flexible and adaptive approach to meeting the changing needs and preferences of 
patients, providing them with the most appropriate level of support throughout their 
journey with advanced illness. 
 

Patient story example 
 
Sarah, a 65-year-old with advanced-stage cancer, received care at home from a 
palliative care team. As her symptoms worsened, she transitioned to a hospice at 
home service for round-the-clock support. When her pain became harder to 
manage, she moved to a hospice in-patient facility. After her pain improved, she 
returned to the hospice at home service. As her condition progressed further, she 
went back to the hospice in-patient facility for specialised care. The care team 
adjusted her support based on her changing needs to ensure comfort and well-
being throughout her journey. 

 
 
 
  

Page 156Page 156



105 | P a g e  
 

Appendix E: Summary of service improvements by NW London borough 
 

Brent 

Summary of service improvements for Brent residents with the proposed 
new and improved model of care for community-based specialist palliative 
care services for adults 
 
The proposed NW London community specialist palliative care model of care for 
adults (18+) will deliver the following services for Brent residents. Some of these 
services already exist but will have been expanded, whilst some of them will be 
available for the first time: 
 
Adult community specialist palliative care team 

 This service already exists but the opening hours of this team will increase 
to 8am - 8pm from current 9am to 5pm.  Brent residents will therefore have 
access to a 7-day service that operates 12 hours a day to support their 
care needs.  
 

Community specialist in-patient beds 

 Brent residents will have access to an increased number of beds in the 
community, which includes the introduction of dedicated enhanced end-of-
life care beds for patients who do not require a hospice in-patient bed but 
cannot stay at home due to their needs, do not wish to stay at home, and 
do not want to or need to be in a hospital. These beds will be available for 
residents in all boroughs of NW London. They are currently only available 
in Hillingdon.  

 Brent residents will continue to have access to specialist hospice in-patient 
bed care. 

 
24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice  

• Brent residents who are known to community-based specialist palliative 
care services already have access to this 24/7 advice via their local 
hospice.  

• This existing service will be expanded to support Brent residents who are 
unknown to the community-based specialist palliative care services. They 
will be able to call a local 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice 
line for the first time and receive advice and support.  

 
Hospice out-patient multidisciplinary clinics and well-being services 

• Brent residents will continue to have access to out-patient clinics, including 
lymphoedema services that will be improved with a common core offer of 
support.  

• Brent residents will have improved access to bereavement and 
psychological support services with a common core offer, including 1:1 and 
group support, and a clearer pathway to access these services.  

 
The proposed care model aims to offer more personalised and culturally sensitive 
care to address the diverse needs of the entire NW London population, including 
the specific needs of Brent residents and underserved communities.  

Page 157Page 157



106 | P a g e  
 

 
The model seeks to achieve this through a number of design principles and 
enablers which support tailoring services to individual preferences, cultural 
competence training for staff, and actively collaborating with local organisations 
and partners.  
 
The ultimate goal is to ensure fair access to high-quality community-based 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care for all Brent residents, while creating a 
supportive and inclusive environment throughout all aspects of care and services. 
 

 
  

Page 158Page 158



107 | P a g e  
 

Ealing 

Summary of service improvements for Ealing residents with the proposed 
new and improved model of care for community-based specialist palliative 
care services for adults 
 
The proposed NW London community specialist palliative care model of care for 
adults (18+) will deliver the following services for Ealing residents. Some of these 
services already exist but will have been expanded, whilst some of them will be 
available for the first time: 
 
Adult community specialist palliative care team 

 This service already exists but the opening hours of this team will increase 
to 8am - 8pm from current 9am to 5pm.  Ealing residents will therefore 
have access to a 7-day service that operates 12 hours a day to support 
their care needs.  
 

Community in-patient bed care 

 Ealing residents will have access to an increased number of beds in the 
community, which includes the introduction of dedicated enhanced end-of-
life care beds for patients who do not require a hospice in-patient bed but 
cannot stay at home due to their needs, do not wish to stay at home, and 
do not want to or need to be in a hospital. These beds will be available to 
all boroughs of NW London. They are currently only available in Hillingdon.  

 Ealing residents will continue to have access to specialist hospice in-
patient bed care. 

 
24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice  

• Ealing residents who are known to community-based specialist palliative 
care services already have access to this 24/7 advice via their local 
hospice.  

• This existing service will be expanded to support Ealing residents who are 
unknown to the community-based specialist palliative care services. They 
will be able to call a local 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice 
line for the first time and receive advice and support.  

 
Hospice out-patient multidisciplinary clinics and well-being services 

• Ealing residents will continue to have access to out-patient clinics, 
including lymphoedema services that will be improved with a common core 
offer of a common core offer lymphoedema support and expanded out-
patient clinics to include medical and nurse led clinics 

• Ealing residents will have improved access to bereavement and 
psychological support services with a common core offer, including 1:1 and 
group support, and a clearer pathway to access these services.  

 
The proposed care model aims to offer more personalised and culturally sensitive 
care to address the diverse needs of the entire NW London population, including 
the specific needs of Ealing residents and underserved communities.  
 

Page 159Page 159



108 | P a g e  
 

The model seeks to achieve this through a number of design principles and 
enablers which support tailoring services to individual preferences, cultural 
competence training for staff, and actively collaborating with local organisations 
and partners.  
 
The ultimate goal is to ensure fair access to high-quality community-based 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care for all Ealing residents, while creating a 
supportive and inclusive environment throughout all aspects of care and services. 
 

 
  

Page 160Page 160



109 | P a g e  
 

Hammersmith and Fulham 

Summary of service improvements for Hammersmith & Fulham residents 
with the proposed new and improved model of care for community-based 
specialist palliative care services for adults 
 
The proposed NW London community specialist palliative care model of care for 
adults (18+) will deliver the following services for Hammersmith & Fulham 
residents. Some of these services already exist but will have been expanded, 
whilst some of them will be available for the first time: 
 
Adult community specialist palliative care team 

 This service already exists but the opening hours for the team will increase 
to 8am - 8pm from current 9am to 5pm.  Hammersmith & Fulham residents 
will therefore have access to a 7-day service that operates 12 hours a day 
to support their care needs.  

 
Hospice at home 

• Hammersmith & Fulham residents will have access for the first time a 
Hospice at Home service. This service currently does not exist.  

• This service supports up to 24-hour care at home (including overnight 
sitting) if needed in close collaboration with usual community care teams.  
 

Community specialist in-patient bed care 
• Hammersmith & Fulham residents will have access to an increased 

number of beds in the community, which includes dedicated enhanced 
end-of-life care beds for patients who do not require a hospice in-patient 
bed but cannot stay at home due to their needs, do not wish to stay at 
home, and do not want to or need to be in a hospital. These beds will be 
available to all boroughs of NW London. They are currently only available 
in Hillingdon.  

• Hammersmith & Fulham residents will continue to have access to 
specialist hospice in-patient bed care. 
 

24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice  
• Hammersmith & Fulham residents who are known to community-based 

specialist palliative care services already have access to this 24/7 advice 
via their local hospices/ specialist palliative care providers.  

• This existing service will be expanded to support Hammersmith & Fulham 
residents who are unknown to the community-based specialist palliative 
care services. They will be able to call a local 24/7 specialist palliative care 
telephone advice line for the first time and receive advice and support.  

 
Hospice out-patient multidisciplinary clinics and well-being services 

• Hammersmith & Fulham residents will continue to have access to out-
patient clinics, including lymphoedema services that will be improved with 
a common core offer of support.   

• Hammersmith & Fulham residents will have improved access to 
bereavement and psychological support services with a common core 

Page 161Page 161



110 | P a g e  
 

offer, including 1:1 and group support, and a clearer pathway to access 
these services.  

 
The proposed care model aims to offer more personalised and culturally sensitive 
care to address the diverse needs of the entire NW London population, including 
the specific needs of Hammersmith & Fulham residents and underserved 
communities.  
 
The model seeks to achieve this through a number of design principles and 
enablers which support tailoring services to individual preferences, cultural 
competence training for staff, and actively collaborating with local organisations 
and partners.  
 
The ultimate goal is to ensure fair access to high-quality community-based 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care for all Hammersmith & Fulham residents, 
while creating a supportive and inclusive environment throughout all aspects of 
care and services.  

 
  

Page 162Page 162



111 | P a g e  
 

 

Harrow 

Summary of service improvements for Harrow residents with the proposed 
new and improved model of care for community-based specialist palliative 
care services for adults 
 
The proposed NW London community specialist palliative care model of care for 
adults (18+) will deliver the following services for Harrow residents. Some of 
these services already exist but will have been expanded, whilst some of them 
will be available for the first time: 
 
Adult community specialist palliative care team 

 This service already exists but the opening hours of this team will increase 
to 8am - 8pm from current 9am to 5pm.  The service will also be expanded 
to operate 7-days a week as opposed to the current 5 days a week 
(Monday to Friday). Harrow residents will therefore have access to a 7-day 
service that operates 12 hours a day to support their care needs.  
 

Community in-patient bed care 

 Harrow residents will have access to an increased number of beds in the 
community, which includes the introduction of dedicated enhanced end-of-
life care beds for patients who do not require a hospice in-patient bed but 
cannot stay at home due to their needs, do not wish to stay at home, and 
do not want to or need to be in a hospital. These beds will be available to 
all boroughs of NW London. They are currently only available in Hillingdon.  

 Harrow residents will continue to have access to specialist hospice in-
patient unit bed care. 

 
24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice  

• Harrow residents who are known to community-based specialist palliative 
care services already have access to this 24/7 advice via their local 
hospice.  

• This existing service will be expanded to support Harrow residents who are 
unknown to the community-based specialist palliative care services. They 
will be able to call a local 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice 
line for the first time and receive advice and support.  

 
Hospice out-patient multidisciplinary clinics and well-being services 

• Harrow residents will continue to have access to out-patient clinics, 
including lymphoedema services that will be improved with a common core 
offer of support, as well as expanded to support non-cancer lymphoedema 
diagnoses which is currently a gap in provision for Harrow. 

• Harrow residents will have improved access to bereavement and 
psychological support services with a common core offer, including 1:1 and 
group support, and a clearer pathway to access these services.  

 
The proposed care model aims to offer more personalised and culturally sensitive 
care to address the diverse needs of the entire NW London population, including 
the specific needs of Harrow residents and underserved communities.  

Page 163Page 163



112 | P a g e  
 

 
The model seeks to achieve this through a number of design principles and 
enablers which support tailoring services to individual preferences, cultural 
competence training for staff, and actively collaborating with local organisations 
and partners.  
 
The ultimate goal is to ensure fair access to high-quality community-based 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care for all Harrow residents, while creating a 
supportive and inclusive environment throughout all aspects of care and services. 

 
  

Page 164Page 164



113 | P a g e  
 

 

Hillingdon 

Summary of service improvements for Hillingdon residents with the 
proposed new and improved model of care for community-based specialist 
palliative care services for adults 
 
The proposed NW London community specialist palliative care model of care for 
adults (18+) will deliver the following services for Hillingdon residents. Some of 
these services already exist but will have been expanded, whilst some of them 
will be available for the first time: 
 
Adult community specialist palliative care team 

 This service already exists but the opening hours of this team will increase 
to 8am - 8pm from current 9am to 5pm. Hillingdon residents will therefore 
have access to a 7-day service that operates 12 hours a day to support 
their care needs.  
 

Community in-patient bed care 

 Hillingdon residents currently have access to dedicated enhanced end-of-
life care beds for patients who do not require a hospice in-patient bed but 
cannot stay at home due to their needs, do not wish to stay at home, and 
do not want to or need to be in a hospital. This service will be improved 
through a common core offer that will be available to all boroughs of NW 
London.  

 Hillingdon residents will continue to have access to specialist hospice in-
patient unit bed care. 

 
24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice  

• Hillingdon residents who are known to community-based specialist 
palliative care services already have access to this 24/7 advice via their 
local hospice and specialist palliative care providers.  

• This existing service will be expanded to support Hillingdon residents who 
are unknown to the community-based specialist palliative care services. 
They will be able to call a local 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone 
advice line for the first time and receive advice and support.  

 
Hospice out-patient multidisciplinary clinics and Well-being services 

• Hillingdon residents will continue to have access to out-patient clinics, 
including lymphoedema services that will be improved with a common core 
offer of support.   

• Hillingdon residents will have improved access to bereavement and 
psychological support services with a common core offer, including 1:1 and 
group support, and a clearer pathway to access these services.  

 
The proposed care model aims to offer more personalised and culturally sensitive 
care to address the diverse needs of the entire NW London population, including 
the specific needs of Hillingdon residents and underserved communities.  
 

Page 165Page 165



114 | P a g e  
 

The model seeks to achieve this through a number of design principles and 
enablers which support tailoring services to individual preferences, cultural 
competence training for staff, and actively collaborating with local organisations 
and partners.  
 
The ultimate goal is to ensure fair access to high-quality community-based 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care for all Hillingdon residents, while creating 
a supportive and inclusive environment throughout all aspects of care and 
services.  

 
  

Page 166Page 166



115 | P a g e  
 

 

Hounslow 

Summary of service improvements for Hounslow residents with the 
proposed new and improved model of care for community-based specialist 
palliative care services for adults 
 
The proposed NW London community specialist palliative care model of care for 
adults (18+) will deliver the following services for Hounslow residents. Some of 
these services already exist but will have been expanded, whilst some of them 
will be available for the first time: 
 
Adult community specialist palliative care team 
This service already exists but the opening hours of this team will increase to 8am 
- 8pm from current 9am to 5pm.  Hounslow residents will therefore have access 
to a 7-day service that operates 12 hours a day to support their care needs.  
 
Community in-patient bed care 

 Hounslow residents will have access to an increased number of beds in 
the community, which includes the introduction of dedicated enhanced 
end-of-life care beds for patients who do not require a hospice in-patient 
bed but cannot stay at home due to their needs, do not wish to stay at 
home, and do not want to or need to be in a hospital. These beds will be 
available to all boroughs of NW London. They are currently only available 
in Hillingdon.  

 Hounslow residents will continue to have access to specialist hospice in-
patient unit bed care. 

 
24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice  

• Hounslow residents who are known to community-based specialist 
palliative care services already have access to this 24/7 advice via their 
local hospice.  

• This existing service will be expanded to support Hounslow residents who 
are unknown to the community-based specialist palliative care services. 
They will be able to call a local 24/7 specialist palliative care telephone 
advice line for the first time and receive advice and support.  

 
Hospice out-patient multidisciplinary clinics and well-being services 

• Hounslow residents will continue to have access to out-patient clinics, 
including lymphoedema services that will be improved with a common core 
offer of lymphoedema support and expanded out-patient clinics to include 
medical and nurse led clinics 

• Hounslow residents will have improved access to bereavement and 
psychological support services with a common core offer, including 1:1 and 
group support, and a clearer pathway to access these services.  

 
The proposed care model aims to offer more personalised and culturally sensitive 
care to address the diverse needs of the entire NW London population, including 
the specific needs of Hounslow residents and underserved communities.  
 

Page 167Page 167



116 | P a g e  
 

The model seeks to achieve this through a number of design principles and 
enablers which support tailoring services to individual preferences, cultural 
competence training for staff, and actively collaborating with local organisations 
and partners.  
 
The ultimate goal is to ensure fair access to high-quality community-based 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care for all Hounslow residents, while creating 
a supportive and inclusive environment throughout all aspects of care and 
services. 

 
  

Page 168Page 168



117 | P a g e  
 

 

Kensington & Chelsea 

Summary of service improvements for Kensington & Chelsea residents with 
the proposed new and improved model of care for community-based 
specialist palliative care services for adults 
 
The proposed NW London community specialist palliative care model of care for 
adults (18+) will deliver the following services for Kensington & Chelsea 
residents. Some of these services already exist but will have been expanded, 
whilst some of them will be available for the first time: 
 
Adult community specialist palliative care team 

 This service already exists but the opening hours of this team will increase 
to 8am - 8pm from current 9am to 5pm.  Kensington and Chelsea residents 
will therefore have access to a 7-day service that operates 12 hours a day 
to support their care needs.  

 
Hospice at home 

• This service already exists, but will be improved with a common core offer 
which includes support up to 24-hour care at home (including overnight 
sitting) if needed in close collaboration with usual community care teams.  
 

Community in-patient bed care 

 Kensington and Chelsea residents will have access to an increased 
number of beds in the community, which includes the introduction of 
dedicated enhanced end-of-life care beds for patients who do not require a 
hospice in-patient bed but cannot stay at home due to their needs, do not 
wish to stay at home, and do not want to or need to be in a hospital. These 
beds will be available to all boroughs of NW London. They are currently 
only available in Hillingdon.  

 Kensington and Chelsea residents will continue to have access to 
specialist hospice in-patient unit bed care. 

 
24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice  

• Kensington and Chelsea residents who are known to community-based 
specialist palliative care services already have access to this 24/7 advice 
via their local hospice and specialist palliative care providers.  

• This existing service will be expanded to support Westminster residents 
who are unknown to the community-based specialist palliative care 
services. They will be able to call a local 24/7 specialist palliative care 
telephone advice line for the first time and receive advice and support.  

 
Hospice out-patient multidisciplinary clinics and well-being services 

• Kensington and Chelsea residents will continue to have access to out-
patient clinics, including lymphoedema services that will be improved with 
a common core offer of support.   

• Kensington & Chelsea residents will have improved access to 
bereavement and psychological support services with a common core 

Page 169Page 169



118 | P a g e  
 

offer, including 1:1 and group support, and a clearer pathway to access 
these services.  

 
The proposed care model aims to offer more personalised and culturally sensitive 
care to address the diverse needs of the entire NW London population, including 
the specific needs of Kensington & Chelsea residents and underserved 
communities.  
 
The model seeks to achieve this through a number of design principles and 
enablers which support tailoring services to individual preferences, cultural 
competence training for staff, and actively collaborating with local organisations 
and partners.  
 
The ultimate goal is to ensure fair access to high-quality community-based 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care for all Kensington & Chelsea residents, 
while creating a supportive and inclusive environment throughout all aspects of 
care and services.  

 
  

Page 170Page 170



119 | P a g e  
 

 

Westminster 

Summary of service improvements for Westminster residents with the 
proposed new and improved model of care for community-based specialist 
palliative care services for adults 
 
The proposed NW London community specialist palliative care model of care for 
adults (18+) will deliver the following services for Westminster residents. Some of 
these services already exist but will have been expanded, whilst some of them 
will be available for the first time: 
 
Adult community specialist palliative care team 

 This service already exists but the opening hours of this team will increase 
to 8am - 8pm from current 9am to 5pm.  Westminster residents will 
therefore have access to a 7-day service that operates 12 hours a day to 
support their care needs.  

 
Hospice at home 

• This service already exists, but will be improved with a common core offer 
which includes support up to 24-hour care at home (including overnight 
sitting) if needed in close collaboration with usual community care teams.  

 
Community specialist in-patient bed care  

 Westminster residents will have access to an increased number of beds in 
the community, which includes the introduction of dedicated enhanced 
end-of-life care beds for patients who do not require a hospice in-patient 
bed but cannot stay at home due to their needs, do not wish to stay at 
home, and do not want to or need to be in a hospital. These beds will be 
available across all boroughs of NW London. They are currently only 
available in Hillingdon.  

• Westminster residents will continue to have access to specialist hospice in-
patient unit bed care. 
 

24/7 specialist palliative care telephone advice  
• Westminster residents who are known to community-based specialist 

palliative care services already have access to this 24/7 advice via their 
local hospice and specialist palliative care providers.  

• This existing service will be expanded to support Westminster residents 
who are unknown to the community-based specialist palliative care 
services. They will be able to call a local 24/7 specialist palliative care 
telephone advice line for the first time and receive advice and support.  

 
Hospice out-patient multidisciplinary clinics and well-being services 

• Westminster residents will continue to have access to out-patient clinics, 
including lymphoedema services that will be improved with a common core 
offer of support.   

• Westminster residents will have improved access to bereavement and 
psychological support services with a common core offer, including 1:1 and 
group support, and a clearer pathway to access these services.  

Page 171Page 171



120 | P a g e  
 

 
The proposed care model aims to offer more personalised and culturally sensitive 
care to address the diverse needs of the entire NW London population, including 
the specific needs of Westminster residents and underserved communities.  
 
The model seeks to achieve this through a number of design principles and 
enablers which support tailoring services to individual preferences, cultural 
competence training for staff, and actively collaborating with local organisations 
and partners.  
 
The ultimate goal is to ensure fair access to high-quality community-based 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care for all Westminster residents, while 
creating a supportive and inclusive environment throughout all aspects of care 
and services.  

 
 
  

Page 172Page 172



121 | P a g e  
 

Appendix F: Glossary 
 

Term Definition 

Advance care 
planning 

Advance care planning (ACP) is the term used to describe 
the conversation between people, their families and carers 
and those looking after them about their future health and 
care wishes and priorities.  
 
It is a way for a person to think ahead, to describe what’s 
important to them and have this recorded to ensure other 
people know their wishes to help that person to live well 
right to the end of their life.  
 
Advance Care planning is a key means of improving care 
for people nearing the end-of-life and of enabling better 
planning and provision of care, to help them live well and 
die well in the place and the manner of their choosing. 
 

Bed days Bed days are the number of days a patient spends in a 
hospital, hospice, or healthcare facility as an admitted 
patient staying overnight. For example, if someone is 
admitted and stays for three days, that's counted as three 
in-patient bed days. 
 
This is used to see how long patients stay in beds for 
medical care. The individuals and organisations who 
commission or oversee these services use bed days as a 
way to measure and manage healthcare resources. It helps 
them understand how efficiently hospices and hospitals are 
working. 

Borough based 
partnership  

Borough based partnerships are collaborative arrangements 
between organisations responsible for arranging and 
delivering health and care services and others with a role in 
improving health and wellbeing. 
 
In NW London these are the eight local borough based 
partnerships who deliver the strategy. These partnerships 
include can include local authorities, primary care, 
community care, mental health, acute trusts and the 
voluntary sector. Each partnership is collaborating at 
borough level to tackle local challenges, improve the health 
and wellbeing of the local population and reduce the health 
inequalities that exist within their borough. 
 

Care pathways Care pathways map out the care journey an individual can 
expect. They are multi-professional, crossing organisational 
boundaries, and can act as a prompt for consistent 
approaches to patient care.  
 

Page 173Page 173



122 | P a g e  
 

Clinical Nurse 
Specialist (CNS) 
 

A Clinical Nurse Specialist (CNS) is a nurse with advanced 
knowledge and training in a specific area of healthcare. 
They are usually an NHS Band 7. They work closely with 
patients, providing specialised care and managing complex 
cases. They are experts in their field and may also be 
involved in research, teaching, and shaping healthcare 
policies related to their specialty.  
 
A CNS working in community specialist palliative care is a 
highly skilled and experienced nurse who specialises in 
providing expert care and support to individuals with serious 
life limiting illnesses. They work outside of hospitals, in the 
community, to help patients and their families manage pain, 
symptoms, and emotional challenges associated with life-
limiting or terminal illnesses. These nurses are trained to 
understand and address the unique needs of patients who 
require palliative care, which focuses on enhancing their 
quality of life, providing comfort, and meeting their physical, 
emotional, and spiritual needs during this sensitive time.  
 
The CNS collaborates with a team of healthcare 
professionals to ensure that patients receive the best 
possible care and support, and they may also provide 
education and guidance to both patients and their families 
to help them cope with the challenges they may face. 
 

Co-design Co-design is the method of involving users (people), 
stakeholders (decision makers) and practitioners (front line 
staff) in the process of service design.  
 

Common core 
service / offer 

A common core service or offer (in this context) describes a 
consistent standard to be provided across all services 
provided to the public in NW London. 
 
The terms of the common core service or offer are designed 
to make sure all the public in each of the NW London 
boroughs have access to a consistent level of high quality 
care, reducing inequality and unwanted variation. 
 

Community-based 
specialist palliative 
care (CSPC) 

Community-based specialist palliative care refers to 
providing specialised care for individuals with life-limiting 
illnesses and those close to them outside of a hospital, 
typically in their own homes, care homes, or hospices.  
 
These services aim to manage symptoms, enhance quality 
of life, and provide support during the end-of-life process. 
The goal is to collaborate with patients and their loved ones, 
tailoring care to meet their specific needs and wishes, and 
ultimately improving the overall quality of their life and 
death. 

Page 174Page 174



123 | P a g e  
 

 

Complementary 
therapies 
 

When a non-mainstream medical practice is used together 
with conventional medicine, it's considered 
"complementary". 
 
A number of complementary therapies and may be used 
with the intention of treating or curing a health condition with 
examples including homeopathy and acupuncture. 

Continuing 
healthcare (CHC) 
 

NHS continuing healthcare (CHC) is social care funded by 
the NHS and can be provided in a variety of settings outside 
hospital, including the patient's own home or a care home. It 
is sometimes called fully-funded care. 
 
A person's eligibility for NHS continuing healthcare is based 
on their assessed needs, and not on any particular 
diagnosis or condition. 
 

Continuum of care 
 

See appendix D. 

Cultural competency Cultural competence refers to an organization's or 
individual’s overall respect for and understanding of 
different cultures, as defined by nationalities, religions, 
languages, customs, behaviours and ethnicities and their 
ability to effectively interact, work and develop meaningful 
relationships with people or groups from different cultural 
backgrounds. 
 

Discharge hubs 
 

A discharge hubs role is to assess a person's ability to 
manage safely with daily tasks, supporting their discharge 
or admission to hospital. This typically involves working 
together with community and hospital based services. 
 

Domiciliary home 
care staff 

Domiciliary home care staff, also known as home carers or 
private carers, help people live independently in their own 
homes through daily visits or live-in care. 
 
Their role is focused on helping people with personal care, 
medication, household tasks and other activities which 
assist them in maintaining their quality of life. 
 

Enablers Enablers typically refer to essential components or “building 
blocks” that facilitate or support the successful 
implementation of a project or process   
 
They serve as fundamental pieces, that have impact across 
different aspects of the project or process and are 
supportive in the functioning of the system and delivery of 
good care 
 

Page 175Page 175



124 | P a g e  
 

They address ‘ways of working’ rather than new service 
elements and in this document we refer to five (see chapter 
11) that we will need to develop and put in place to support 
the successful delivery of our new model of care. 
 

End-of-life care End-of-life care is a specific type of care for individuals 
nearing the final stages of their life. It aims to ensure 
comfort, dignity, and support, managing symptoms and 
providing emotional and practical assistance. 
 

Equality and Health 
Inequalities 
Assessment (EHIA) 

An Equality and Health Inequalities Assessments (EHIA) 
assess the (potential) impact of a decision on the “protected 
characteristics” as outlined in the Equality Act 2010. 
 

Evaluation criteria Evaluation criteria are a benchmark, standard, or factor 
against which conformance, performance, and suitability of 
a technical capability, activity, product, or plan is measured. 

 

Health Care 
Assistants (HCAs) 

Healthcare assistants or HCAs are an integral part of the 
team that supports medical staff and patients in many 
different care settings, including hospitals, GP surgeries and 
in the community. They typically work under the supervision 
of qualified nurses and carry out a wide range of tasks with 
the sole purpose of caring for, supporting and providing 
information to patients and their families. 
 
Some of the typical responsibilities of a HCA might include 
but are not limited to: looking after the physical comfort of 
patients; taking and recording basic observations such as 
blood pressure and temperature; helping patients to eat and 
to move about if they have mobility problems; catheter care 
(as well as inserting/removing); wound care; helping 
patients to mobilise and recover from surgery; and listening 
and talking to patients. 
 

Home and usual 
place of residence:  

What we mean when we say home or usual place of 
residence is a place in the community where a patient lives 
most of the time and feels comfortable. It's where a patient 
has their own space and belongings and normally live most 
of the time/ spend the majority of their days and nights. It's 
the place you call home. It could be an apartment, house, 
hostel or shelter, dedicated care setting (care home 
(nursing, residential, learning disability care home), 
sheltered housing and supported living accommodation and 
mental health facility) where you have a consistent living 
arrangement at this place. 
 
. 
 

Page 176Page 176



125 | P a g e  
 

 

Hurdle criteria A set of criteria used to filter the viability of options in a 
scenario or project. 
 
In this case of this project, the hurdle criteria will be used to 
filter the number of ideas generated through the 
engagement exercise in order to create a manageable short 
list of options that we can then analyse further. This will be 
undertaken by the NW London community-based specialist 
palliative care Steering Group, members of which include 
providers of care and patient representatives. 
 

Integrated Care 
Boards (ICBs) 

Integrated care boards (ICBs) replaced clinical 
commissioning groups (CCGs) in the NHS in England from 
1 July 2022. 
 
An integrated care board (or ICB) is a statutory NHS 
organisation which is responsible for developing a plan for 
meeting the health needs of the population, managing the 
NHS budget and arranging for the provision of health 
services in a geographical area. 
 

Integrated care 
systems (ICSs) 

Integrated care systems (ICSs) are partnerships of 
organisations that come together to plan and deliver joined 
up health and care services, and to improve the lives of 
people who live and work in their area. 
 
The NW London ICS consists of all NHS organisations and 
local authorities in NW London. 
 

In-patient bed care In-patient bed care refers to individuals needing and 
receiving care within in a dedicated healthcare environment 
(for example in a hospice, hospital or nursing home), which 
has round the clock medical support and monitoring from 
healthcare professionals. 
 

In-reach In-reach health services are medical services that are 
delivered to patients who are already admitted or residing in 
a particular healthcare setting, like a hospital, nursing home, 
or hospice.  
 
Instead of patients going out to seek medical care, the care 
comes to them within the confines of the facility where they 
are receiving care or residing. This approach aims to 
enhance patient access to necessary medical attention, 
convenience, and continuity of care while minimizing the 
need for external transfers or travel. 
 

Generalist palliative 
and end-of-life care 

Generalist palliative and end-of-life care is the fundamental 
level of palliative and end-of-life care support provided by 

Page 177Page 177



126 | P a g e  
 

healthcare professionals such as a general practitioner 
(GP), community nurses (including district nurses), care 
home staff, therapists, domiciliary home care staff (for 
example care agency staff either arranged by the council, 
through continuing health care or privately) and hospital 
ward staff who have a general understanding of and training 
in palliative care. 
 
They provide support to patients with serious illnesses or 
nearing the end-of-life in their usual place of residence 
(which may be their home, a care or nursing home or a 
sheltered housing facility) or a medical facility such as a 
hospital or hospice. The majority of people with life-limiting 
and advance illness will only need this level of support 
through their journey of palliative and end-of-life care.  
 

Model of care A model of care is a framework that explains what care will 
be provided and how services work together to deliver care 
that meets the needs of the population and incorporates 
best practice.  
 

Multidisciplinary 
teams (MDT) 

A Multidisciplinary Team (MDT) is a group of professionals 
from one or more clinical disciplines who together make 
decisions regarding recommended treatment of individual 
patients. 
 

Palliative care Palliative care is a treatment, care and support approach 
that focuses on improving quality of life by managing 
symptoms, relieving pain, and addressing the side effects of 
a patients’ condition. It also provides support for emotional 
and practical needs, along with those of family, friends and 
care givers. 
 

Patient outcomes 
 

Patient outcomes are the results from care and treatments 
patients have received whilst in hospital, other clinical or 
care settings. 
 

Preceptorship Preceptorship is a period of structured transition to guide 
and support newly qualified practitioners, helping them 
integrate into their new team and place of work. 
 

Personalised care 
planning 

Personalised care and support planning is a series of 
facilitated conversations in which a patient, their family or 
those close to them can actively participate in exploring the 
management of the patients’ health and well-being within 
the context of their whole life and family situation. 
 

Single and double 
handed care 

"Single-handed care" refers to providing care or assistance 
to someone using just one caregiver or healthcare worker. 

Page 178Page 178



127 | P a g e  
 

"Double-handed care" refers to providing care or assistance 
to someone using two caregivers or healthcare workers 
working together. 
 

Specialist palliative 
and end-of-life care 

Specialist palliative and end-of-life care is an advanced and 
specialist level of palliative and end-of-life care provided by 
expert health care professionals who have received 
specialised training in this field. Care is provided by a 
specialist palliative care multi-disciplinary team (doctor, 
nurse, therapist) who work with your regular care teams in 
the community to provide additional support and guidance 
for complex symptoms and challenges.  
 
This type of care is required by individuals with advanced 
and life-limiting illness that have complex needs (can be 
medical and social). This care is usually provided in special 
palliative care units, hospices, or at home/ usual place of 
residence via the specialist multi-disciplinary team across 
services. This type of specialist care is not required by 
everybody with palliative care needs and at the end-of-life.  
 

Those important to 
the patient 

The phrase ‘those important to the patient’ can refer to 
family, carers or friends that a patient wish to involve in 
discussions or decisions about the care they receive.  
 

Triage Most simply, the general purpose of triage is to sort patients 
by level of acuity to inform care decisions. 
 

Unknown patients By ‘unknown’ patients, we mean patients who have not 
previously received care from community specialist 
palliative care services (and are therefore not registered 
with, or are unknown, to the services).   
 

Universal Care Plan 
(UCP 

The Universal Care Plan (UCP) is an NHS service that 
enables people living in London to have their care and 
support needs and preferences digitally shared with 
healthcare professionals across the capital. 
 
It is the recommended platform for urgent and end-of-life 
care plans in NW London and London.  
 

  

Virtual wards Virtual wards allow patients to get hospital-level care at 
home safely and in familiar surroundings. 
 
Just as in hospital, people on a virtual ward are cared for by 
a multidisciplinary team who can provide a range of tests 
and treatments. This could include blood tests, prescribing 
medication or administering fluids through an intravenous 
drip. 

Page 179Page 179



128 | P a g e  
 

 
Patients are reviewed daily by the clinical team and the 
‘ward round’ may involve a home visit or take place through 
video technology. Many virtual wards use technology like 
apps, wearables and other medical devices enabling clinical 
staff to easily check in and monitor the person’s recovery. 
 

 
  

Page 180Page 180



129 | P a g e  
 

Appendix G current hospice out-patient, hospice day care and well-being 
services provision 
 

Provider Borough 
served for 
these 
services 

Services provided (named as per provider website) 

St Luke’s 
Hospice 

Harrow,  
Brent  

Out-patient clinic services: These appointment based 
(one-to-one) consultant in specialist palliative medicine and 
specialist nurse led clinics (in person and virtual) provide 
access to specialist care with an emphasis on empowering 
patients to manage their own health and wellbeing through: 

 Ongoing monitoring and management of symptoms 
and conditions 

 Specialist advice on side-effects from treatment 

 Personalised care planning 

 Ongoing support, including coping strategies and 
psychological support 

 Signposting to other appropriate services 
 
Well-being services: These include:  

 Physiotherapy – a physiotherapist assesses the 
patient and provides an exercise programme to ease 
symptoms and maintain mobility and fitness. It helps 
prevent falls, strengthens muscle weakness and 
eases joint pain. Exercise groups are also offered. 

 Complementary therapy - Complementary Therapists 
work alongside medical and nursing staff to improve 
the wellbeing of patients and carers. The following 
therapies are offered: aromatherapy, massage, 
reflexology, reiki, relaxation, art & crafts, moments in 
life (memory work), gardening for hope. 

 Social activities and arts and crafts sessions.  

 Emotional and practical support – a specialist team 
including palliative care social workers, family support 
workers and trained volunteers provide additional 
emotional and practical support to help patients and 
those important to them. 

 Welfare benefits, advocacy and practical support - 
providing practical help, information and advice 
regarding 
welfare benefits, care packages, housing, transport 
and mobility (formexample, disabled parking badges). 

 Supporting children – the team can work with patients 
to assess their children’s needs and guide patient and 
family members in supporting children in the family. 

 Spiritual Care. 

 Advance care planning support. 

Page 181Page 181

https://www.stlukes-hospice.org/supporting-you/our-services/outpatient-services/
https://www.stlukes-hospice.org/supporting-you/our-services/wellbeing-services/


130 | P a g e  
 

 Support for carers – a team of specialist workers and 
volunteers can meet with patients at the hospice, or in 
their own home (North Brent and Harrow), on their 
own or with anyone they choose to be there. They 
can provide emotional and practical support, explore 
ways to help carers cope, help build confidence and 
identify and develop personal, professional and 
community support networks. 

 
Bereavement support service for family, carers and 
friends:  

 The Bereavement Support Team provides 
bereavement support for anyone including family, 
carers and those important to them who has 
experienced the death of a loved one who was under 
the care of the Hospice. They offer one-to-one, group 
and virtual support as needed.  

 

St John’s 
Hospice  

Westminster, 
Hammersmith 
& Fulham 
(lymphoedema 
services only) 

Day care unit day services: 

 The day care unit encompasses the hospice belief 
that hospice care is long-term and holistic – the focus 
is not only on physical care but on supporting the 
patient and those close to patient, to maintain quality 
of life, mental health and wellbeing.  

 At the day care unit at the hospice site in St John’s 
Wood, patients can access specialist nursing and 
medical care, benefit from treatments and therapies, 
meet with social workers and take part in workshops 
and activities. It is also an opportunity to meet other 
people who are living with life-limiting illness, have 
lunch and share experiences. 

 Care provided at the unit is tailored to each patient's 
individual needs and aims to ensure patients are 
supported physically, mentally, emotionally, 
practically and spiritually in as much as possible.  

 To do this, the services work as a multidisciplinary 
team (MDT) including doctors and nurses, therapists, 
social workers, bereavement counsellors, ambulance 
drivers and volunteers. The MDT will also work 
closely with other professionals involved in patient 
care such as GP, district nurse and hospital doctor. 

 
Services offered: 

 Out-patient clinic appointments (one-to-one): 
specialist nursing and medical care to support the 
monitoring and management of any pain and 
symptoms patients may have. They also provide 
interventions, such as drug therapy, infusions and 
blood transfusions. 

Page 182Page 182

https://www.stlukes-hospice.org/supporting-you/families-and-carers/bereavement-support/
https://www.stlukes-hospice.org/supporting-you/families-and-carers/bereavement-support/
https://www.stjohnshospice.org.uk/our-care/day-services


131 | P a g e  
 

 Physio and occupational therapies to help maintain 
function and mobility, enabling patients to live as 
independently and fully as possible. 

 Complementary therapies including massage, 
reflexology, reiki and acupuncture. These can help to 
promote wellbeing, a sense of relaxation and relieve 
some of a patients’ symptoms. These therapies are 
also available to family members and carers. 

 Emotional and practical support and advice from 
social workers, helping with any anxieties or 
concerns that patient or those close to them may 
have. This includes providing support with benefits, 
housing or financial matters. 

 Regular creative and physical activities including art, 
music and movement classes. 

 Transport to the day care unit via St John’s 
ambulance service for patients with reduced mobility 
or access issues.  

 
Lymphoedema care services: 

 A team of lymphoedema practitioners provide 
specialist treatment to help patients regain their 
quality of life, mobility and ease discomfort when 
living with the condition lymphoedema. They can also 
provide patients with the information to better 
understand the condition and the things they can do 
to manage it.  

 What the service offers (for patients in Hammersmith 
& Fulham, Kensington & Chelsea and Westminster): 
 Advice and support with skincare to help improve 

skin health and to reduce risk of infection 
(Cellulitis). 

 Advice on the use of compression garments such 
as sleeves or stockings to reduce/control swelling, 
prevent a deterioration of the patients’ condition, 
improve mobility and ease discomfort. 

 Information on exercises that a patient can do at 
home to promote lymphatic drainage in the 
affected area(s) and to improve mobility. 

 Manual Lymphatic Drainage (MLD) sessions for 
patients suffering from head and neck, breast or 
genital lymphoedema. 

 Signposts to additional support and resources 
available to help manage the condition, such as 
community care support. 

 
Bereavement support:  

 Services for adults and children to support them 
through bereavement after the loss of a loved one.  

Page 183Page 183

https://www.stjohnshospice.org.uk/our-care/therapies
https://www.stjohnshospice.org.uk/our-care/therapies
https://www.stjohnshospice.org.uk/our-care/social-and-welfare-support
https://www.stjohnshospice.org.uk/our-care/social-and-welfare-support
https://www.stjohnshospice.org.uk/our-care/lymphoedema-care
https://www.stjohnshospice.org.uk/our-care/bereavement-support


132 | P a g e  
 

 Group or individual adult bereavement support and 
counselling for family members, carers and friends.  

 This can include support for preparing for the loss of a 
loved one and finding ways of remembering them in 
the way that a person wishes.  

 The team includes a counsellor who specialises in 
adult bereavement as well as social workers who are 
also able to provide help with informal pre-
bereavement support and anticipatory grief.  

 Support for children - recognising that children and 
young people can find it particularly difficult to 
understand and cope with bereavement, support 
specifically tailored to children is offered. As well as 
one-to-one support, the service creates opportunities 
for them to meet up with peers who have also 
experienced loss. Guidance and support can also be 
provided to parents and carers, as well as support 
and training to teachers on how to best help children 
through this experience. This support is provided by a 
dedicated child bereavement specialist. 

 Specific support available: 
 Group or individual adult bereavement counselling 

sessions for family members, carers and friends, 
providing a safe space to talk about the 
experience of grief and bereavement with a 
trained counsellor. 

 Group outings where bereaved adults can meet 
up with other bereaved adults who have also 
experienced loss through palliative care. 

 One-to-one bereavement support and counselling 
for children and young people (up to 18 years old) 
at their homes, at school or in their dedicated 
children’s room. 

 Activity days and group outings where children 
can meet up with their peers who have also 
experienced the loss of a parent. 

 Support and guidance for parents and carers of 
bereaved children. 

 Specialist training and advice to schools and other 
organisations working with children facing 
bereavement. 

Royal 
Trinity 
Hospice 

Westminster, 
Kensington & 
Chelsea, 
Hammersmith 
& Fulham 

Living well and out-patient services: 

 Brand new support service launched in May 2023 
providing patients and those close to them with a 
range of free classes, and group activities aimed at 
supporting and enhancing day-to-day living.  

 This programme of support, care and activities is 
specifically for patients under Royal Trinity hospice’s 
care who are living at home or other locations within 
the community such as care homes, nursing homes 

Page 184Page 184

https://www.royaltrinityhospice.london/Pages/FAQs/Category/living-well-services


133 | P a g e  
 

and temporary accommodation. It is a programme for 
out-patients, but the activities take place on site at 
Royal Trinity Hospice.  

 It includes the following clinics: 
o Breathlessness group. 
o Fatigue management group. 
o Physiotherapy - the physiotherapy team can 

support patients to control their symptoms 
including; breathlessness management, pain, 
mobility issues, transfers, and help to increase 
exercise tolerance and muscle strengthening. 
The sessions are one-to-one and last up to an 
hour. The number of sessions will be decided 
with the patient by the therapist, based around 
their goals and needs. 

o Occupational therapy – one-to-one sessions 
with an occupational therapist to help provide 
information and techniques to improve safety, 
independence, and quality of day-to-day life. 
Discussing a range of solutions available can 
also help manage fatigue and anxiety. These 
sessions may be in addition to, or instead of 
other group activities led by the occupational 
therapy team. 

o Dietectic service – providing expert nutritional 
advice. 

o Relaxation group. 
o Move with Trinity exercise group - run by 

expert physiotherapists, the group supports 
patients to maintain and improve their activity 
and exercise tolerance, muscle strength, co-
ordination, balance, and posture as well as 
managing symptoms such as breathlessness, 
pain, and fatigue. At the group patients take 
part in a circuit of activities with graded 
exercises tailored for each patient.  

o Mindful movement group. 
o Complementary therapy - including massage, 

aromatherapy, reiki, reflexology and 
acupuncture.  

o Practical support for friends, families and 
carers - welfare benefits check clinic and carer 
clinic 

o Online well-being activities 
o See patient leaflet on provider website for 

more information about these clinics 
 
Care for families, carers and children: 

 Bereavement support service offering formal and 
informal group and individual support for family 

Page 185Page 185

https://www.royaltrinityhospice.london/practical-support-for-family-and-friends
https://www.royaltrinityhospice.london/practical-support-for-family-and-friends
https://www.royaltrinityhospice.london/Pages/FAQs/Category/activities
https://www.royaltrinityhospice.london/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=c0efaf9a-e746-484c-8b73-40064d592341
https://www.royaltrinityhospice.london/Listing/Category/bereavement-support


134 | P a g e  
 

members, friends, children, and carers through the 
emotional impact of grief following the death of a 
patient.  
 

Therapies team: 
• The therapies team offers everything from expertise 

and advice, to equipment to palliative rehabilitation. 
That might mean providing equipment to help people 
maintain their independence at home and maintain 
their access to everyday essentials like their bath or 
kitchen, or helping to rebuild strength, maintain their 
balance or manage their breathing.  

 
Psychological, spiritual, social, and practical needs – 
one-to-one support for bereaved people: 

 Trained counsellors and bereavement support 
volunteers provide support with a series of one-to-one 
counselling and bereavement support. This support 
can take different forms depending on what the 
patient needs and what the professionals think is 
best, in consultation with the patient. The idea is that 
whatever support the patient needs is tailored to their 
own experience and needs.  

 The one-to-one support they offer for people who 
have had a friend or family member die under Trinity’s 
care includes bereavement support, spiritual care 
support, social worker support, counselling, emotional 
support, and mindfulness. The number of sessions 
will depend on the professional seen and the 
approach that they take.  

 
Dementia care services:  

 There are a number of dementia services available 
for people who live in their own home or in a care 
home within Trinity's catchment area.  

 The service aims to ensure people living with 
dementia, and their families and friends, have the 
same access to specialist palliative and end-of-life 
care as those living with other progressive, life-limiting 
illnesses such as cancer. 

 The specialist service aims to provide dedicated 
support and advice to help people with dementia 
make decisions about their future care.  

 The services their community dementia team provide 
includes: 
 Advance care planning to help people make 

decisions and record their wishes for care in the 
future. 

 Support for families and friends who care for 
someone with dementia. 

Page 186Page 186

https://www.royaltrinityhospice.london/Pages/Category/support-for-children
https://www.royaltrinityhospice.london/dementia-care


135 | P a g e  
 

 Managing symptoms such as pain, distress and 
anxiety. 

 Advice and training for professionals who care for 
people in the later stages of dementia. 

 Liaising with other services and signposting. 

Marie 
Curie 
Hospice 
Hampstead 

Brent Out-patient services and day therapies:  

 Out-patient services and day therapies support 
patients to live in the best way they can with a 
terminal illness. On a patient’s first visit, they will see 
a doctor or clinical nurse specialist with whom the 
patient discusses their medical history, worries and 
concerns.  

 The team will help patients by working out the best 
care package for them and will review this regularly 
together to make sure it continues to suit patient 
needs. 

 Day therapies cover things like: 
o helping control symptoms 
o end-of-life care 
o Rehabilitation 
o emotional and spiritual support 
o family support 
o advance care planning. 

 
Out-patient clinics: 

 Doctor-led clinics - Doctor-led clinics are run by the 
hospice specialist palliative care doctors, in 
partnership with nurses. They help patients with: 

o expert advice on, and monitoring of, 
symptoms, which may include pain, 
breathlessness and fatigue 

o advance care planning 
o assessment for physiotherapy 
o referrals to other hospice day therapies, 

including physiotherapy 
o support with end-of-life care needs   

 
o liaison with other professionals involved in 

patient care, such as the medical or oncology 
team, community clinical nurses or GPs 

o reviewing care packages to make sure they 
continue to be right for the patient 

o support if patient is in remission, but has 
ongoing needs caused by their illness or 
treatment. 

 

 Nurse-led clinics - Run by clinical nurse specialists, 
these clinics help patients with: 

o an initial assessment of needs 
o controlling and managing symptoms 

Page 187Page 187

https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/help/hospice-care/hampstead#services


136 | P a g e  
 

o advice on medication changes 
o psychological support 
o advance care planning 
o end-of-life care 
o referrals to other day therapy services 
o support for end-of-life care needs 
o support if patient is in remission, but has 

ongoing needs caused by their illness or 
treatment 

o liaising with other professionals involved in a 
patients’ care, such as the medical or oncology 
team, community clinical nurses or GPs  

o reviewing care packages to make they 
continue to be right for the patient.    

 Carers' clinic - specialist nurses see carers of 
patients who are known to Marie Curie. The clinic 
supports carers by addressing their questions and 
concerns and signposting to other services. The clinic 
is nurse and social worker-led and offers face-to-face 
consultations. Referrals can be made for 
complementary therapies and further emotional 
support. 

 Physiotherapy - Physiotherapy helps patients 
maximise their physical fitness, strength and stamina 
to help them live as independently as possible. The 
physiotherapists will give advice and practical help to 
patients and their carers, beginning with a discussion 
about the patients’ abilities, limitations and what they 
want to achieve. Some of the things physiotherapy 
can help with are: 

o exercise programmes for muscle strength, joint 
flexibility, balance and coordination in the gym 

o breathlessness and fatigue management, 
including breathing exercises, exercise pacing 
and advice 

o pain relief - exercise advice and TENS 
machines   for managing pain 

o techniques for changing position, for example 
moving in bed, moving to a chair, walking 

o walking aids such as sticks and frames to 
make it easier for you to move around 
independently. 

 Occupational therapy - occupational therapists help 
patients with: 

o practical information and advice about how to 
live as independently as possible at home 

o referrals and liaising with their local community 
occupational therapist for a home assessment 
and provision of equipment and aids such as 

Page 188Page 188

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/transcutaneous-electrical-nerve-stimulation-tens/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/transcutaneous-electrical-nerve-stimulation-tens/


137 | P a g e  
 

rails, toileting equipment or bathroom 
equipment. 

 Social work and the family support team - help the 
patient, their family and carers. They give benefits 
advice, emotional support, help to liaise with 
community services and support with any other 
issues. 

 Counselling for adults - trained counsellors offer 
specialised emotional support and counselling for 
people living with serious illnesses. They're trained to 
be able to discuss topics such as depression and 
anxiety, coping with physical symptoms such as 
chronic pain, issues around end-of-life care and how 
to talk to family. 

 Counselling for children, young people and 
families - the children and young person’s counsellor 
provides emotional support for children and advice for 
families when a relative or loved one is seriously ill. 
They also provide bereavement support to children 
and young people. 

 Bereavement support – this service supports loved 
ones with the death of someone close, both before 
and after they die. Bereavement support at the 
hospice is available as both one-to-one sessions and 
group sessions, depending on patient needs. 

 Art therapy - when thoughts and feelings are difficult 
to put into words, many people find art therapy 
helpful. 

 Spiritual and religious care - open to all faiths, 
traditions and beliefs, the hospice chaplain offers 
compassionate listening and the chance for you to 
share thoughts and concerns in a non-judgemental 
environment. 

 Complementary therapies - a range 
of complementary therapies are offered at the 
hospice and can be used alongside conventional 
medicines. These include acupuncture, 
aromatherapy, craniosacral therapy, massage, 
reflexology, relaxation, reiki and sound baths. 

 Family support team for emotional practical and 
spiritual support - this team provides expert 
emotional, practical and spiritual support services to 
patients, their families and those close to them. It is 
made up of social workers and chaplains. The team 
offers one-to-one support sessions for adults, one-to-
one bereavement support sessions for children and 
therapeutic support sessions, such as help making 
memory jars, memory boxes and letter-writing. A 
hospice chaplain and volunteer chaplains can offer 
support if patients have concerns and thoughts about 

Page 189Page 189

https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/help/support/terminal-illness/wellbeing/complementary-therapies


138 | P a g e  
 

the bigger, deeper questions of life. The chaplains 
can contact religious leaders from many different faith 
communities to support the patient in the way that 
best suits them.  

Harlington 
Hospice 

Hillingdon Well-being services: 

 These services support the wellbeing of people living 
with serious or terminal illness and those close to 
them.  

 There are a range of free sessions and activities 
available at Lansdowne House, the Reg Hopkins 
Centre, Michael Sobell House, in patients’ home and 
online. 

 They offer a range of services including: 
o Lymphoedema services 
o Tripudio Movement Systems 
o Legs eleven group 
o Creative arts for well-being 
o Rehabilitation team – therapy input from allied 

health professionals 
o Relaxation class 
o Exercise class 
o Coping with fatigue group 
o Dementia carers groups 
o Complementary therapies, including massage 

and reiki 
o Workshops for carers 
o Spiritual support 
o Digital affairs support 

 
Psychological & Emotional Support services: 

 Harlington’s expertise in art psychotherapy, family 
therapy, counselling, palliative psychotherapy and 
patient & family support means they can work with 
people to have difficult conversations that lead to 
meaningful outcomes.  

 They listen to what is happening in the patients’ world 
and provide a safe space to explore any concerns 
they may have.  

 Often through this process, people find that feelings 
of anxiety and worry surrounding death begin to feel 
less overwhelming. 

 This includes support for children and young people 
facing the illness of someone important to them. And 
those who have been bereaved for any reason. 

  
Harlington’s Psychological & Emotional Support 
Services include: 

 Counselling - counselling is a talking therapy which 
can help a person to talk about the difficulties they are 
facing in a safe, confidential and non-judgmental 

Page 190Page 190

https://www.harlingtonhospice.org/wellbeing/
http://www.tripudiomovement.co.uk/
https://www.harlingtonhospice.org/counselling/


139 | P a g e  
 

space. A counsellor will help the person to process 
and explore these difficulties, so that they can gain a 
better understanding of themselves and how they 
cope with the issues they face. A counsellor does not 
give advice or tell a person what to do, but they can 
help someone develop their own way of coping and 
decision making. 

 Patient & Family Support and Palliative 
Psychotherapy - for those being admitted to the in-
patient unit (IPU), whether for symptom control, pain 
management or at the end-of-life, just coming through 
the doors of a hospice can feel overwhelming. The 
patient & family support team offer a calm 
understanding of the huge range and intensity of 
emotions that may be experienced. They also bring a 
broad experience of the common and complex issues 
a serious or terminal illness can bring 

 
Other services: 

 Palliative psychotherapy - Having a terminal 
diagnosis, dealing with ill health and facing the end-
of-life bring enormous and often overwhelming 
emotions. There is a loss of health, the loss of an 
imagined future and perhaps most painfully of all the 
reality of saying goodbye to family and loved ones. 
This is a lot for a person to deal with on their own. 
Palliative psychotherapy provides support to process 
these issues in a safe space with a therapist 
experienced in all aspects of end-of-life care. Some 
people ask ‘what is talking about it going to achieve’? 
The process of talking about experiences can 
empower a person to express their understanding of 
what is going on for themselves, and make sense of 
often incomprehensible feelings or situations. It can 
be an opportunity to grieve, to reflect on memories 
and relationships, or just to feel a little calmer and 
able to cope. The process can be individual but it can 
also involve family and loved ones to come to a 
shared understanding of being at the end-of-life. 

 Community palliative counselling - If a patients 
serious or terminal illness prevents them from 
accessing counselling at Michael Sobell House or 
Lansdowne House, face to face counselling is offered 
for patients and couples in their own home. The 
community palliative counsellor can visit and provide 
a space in which to safely explore the complex or 
overwhelming emotions which may arise for those 
with a diagnosis. To access this service, a patient 
must have a serious or terminal diagnosis, be unable 
to access counselling services due to immobility or 

Page 191Page 191

https://www.harlingtonhospice.org/patient-family-support/
https://www.harlingtonhospice.org/patient-family-support/


140 | P a g e  
 

severity of illness and be referred by the NHS 
community palliative care team. 

 Child & adolescent bereavement service (CABS) –  
Working alongside children, young people and 
families to navigate illness and grief. The child & 
adolescent bereavement service (CABS) offers 
support for children and young people facing the 
illness of someone important to them, or after 
someone has died. The impact that death and illness 
can have on children and young people’s studies, 
relationships and development into adulthood is well 
known. Each child or young person will express their 
grief and emotions differently. This may take the form 
of appearing to be coping fine or having changeable 
behaviours such as sadness, anger, night terrors, 
anxiety, guilt and physical pain, or difficulties 
concentrating or attending school. The CABS team 
are alongside them and their families to help them 
navigate these feelings, supporting each individual 
through what can be a painful and disorientating 
experience. Specifically, the team offer support to 
children and young people aged 4–17 years, and their 
families, who live in the London Borough of Hillingdon 
and have experienced bereavement or have 
someone close to them with a serious or terminal 
illness. This support can include: 

 Individual art therapy sessions 

 Group art therapy 

 End-of-life support and conversations 

 Family sessions 

 Parent support groups 

 Advice for families & professionals 

 Memorial events & creative workshops 

 Psychoeducation for parents and carers. 
 Bereavement counselling - Harlington’s 

Bereavement Counselling service is run through 
Hillingdon Mind and provides counselling to help 
support people through the difficult time after 
experiencing bereavement. 

 

Pembridge 
Palliative 
Care 
Services 
provided 
by Central 
London 
Community 

Westminster 
Hammersmith 
& Fulham 
Kensington 
and Chelsea 
South Brent 

Day hospice – providing specialist palliative care treatment, 
support and complementary therapies for patients who are 
able to visit the service site at St Charles Hospital from 
home. The multidisciplinary team consists of nurses, a 
healthcare assistant, massage therapists, an art teacher and 
a spiritual care advisor. Doctors and social workers are also 
available to help if needed. The following services are 
offered: 

Page 192Page 192

https://www.harlingtonhospice.org/cabs/
https://www.harlingtonhospice.org/bereavement-counselling/
https://clch.nhs.uk/application/files/4215/1551/3319/PHLeaflets_DH.pdf


141 | P a g e  
 

Healthcare 
NHS Trust  

 Symptom control - including medical assessments by 
nurses and doctors working with the palliative care 
service, including review of symptoms 
and medications. Ongoing monitoring of symptom 
control and effectiveness of treatment by the nursing 
staff and doctors. Patient education regarding 
symptoms and medication.  Non-pharmacological 
methods of aiding symptom control such as massage. 
Ambulatory bisphosphonate clinic (specific referral 
needed). 

 Nursing care.  

 Rehabilitation & respite - a range of complementary 
therapies (massage therapy) and support services 
are offered including arts & crafts, occupational 
therapy, spiritual support, emotional support, exercise 
and relaxation classes. 

 Psychological support - one-to-one time with nurses 
and a spiritual care advisor and social workers if 
needed.  
 

Pembridge also offers:  

 Specialist palliative care social work team - who 
support patients and their families across the various 
Pembridge Services. They work holistically, 
combining counselling and practical skills, to assist 
patients and their families to achieve what is most 
important to them. They can meet with patients at the 
Pembridge site or at their home and provide: 

o Counselling support to patient and those 
important to them (one to one or as a family 
unit). 

o Practical support and advice - information 
relating to: finances and benefits, advance 
care planning, wills, or help with care in the 
home. 

o Support for children and teenagers. 
o Bereavement support for adults, children, 

family and friends. 

 Spiritual support - all staff at Pembridge are trained 
in listening to and caring for spiritual needs. There is 
also a dedicated spiritual care advisor who offers 
appointments with patients and those important to 
them. 

 

Meadow 
House 
Hospice 
provided 
by London 
North West 

Hounslow  
Ealing 

Out-patient day service and well-being services:  

 Therapy services - Depending on what patients and 
families are experiencing, different team members 
can be involved. The therapy service accepts 
referrals from clinical nurse specialists or other 
specialist colleagues, from primary care or anyone 

Page 193Page 193

https://clch.nhs.uk/application/files/7115/1551/3521/PHLeaflets_SocialWorkTeam.pdf
https://clch.nhs.uk/application/files/3615/1551/3567/PHLeaflets_Spiritual.pdf
http://meadowhouse.lnwh.nhs.uk/our-services/therapy-services/


142 | P a g e  
 

University 
Healthcare 
NHS Trust 

else involved in the patient’s care. They do not offer a 
rehabilitation service, but work closely with the local 
rehabilitation service in Ealing (Enable), particularly 
when the patient has longer term needs. The physical 
changes brought on by serious illness can create 
problems with mobility, self-care, general strength, 
weight loss and loss of energy. The following can 
sometimes help patients and families to cope better 
with these challenges: home adaptations, extra 
equipment, walking aids and advice about diet and 
how to conserve energy. The Allied Health 
Professionals at Meadow House Hospice include: 
physiotherapists who can assess mobility, strength 
and safety; occupational therapists who can advise 
on practical matters such as dressing, bathing and 
how to cope with everyday tasks; dieticians who 
providing advice on diet and supplements. 

 Lymphoedema service - a nurse-led out-patient 
clinic service that takes place at the hospice site. It 
provides advice and therapy for lymphoedema. The 
treatment can include: 

o Manual lymph drainage – focussed massage 
to try to shift and reduce the fluid trapped in the 
tissues. 

o Bandaging and hosiery – special garments 
which put gentle pressure on the limbs to try to 
prevent re-accumulation of fluid in the tissues. 

 Bereavement service – offering one-to-one grief 
counselling via a carefully selected volunteer that has 
gone through extensive counselling training under 
professional guidance from bereavement service 
expert leads.  

 Day service – offering support including 
complimentary therapies (reflexology and massage) 
to patients who are able to come in from home to 
spend the day under the care of the day service team 
at the hospice. Day service is not suitable for patients 
who are significantly confused, who can only be 
moved by stretcher, or for those with acute medical 
problems The team include a doctor, nurses, 
volunteers, complementary therapists and chaplaincy.  

 Family support service - helping patients and 
families to cope with emotional, psychological, social 
and financial difficulties in the context of serious 
illness or as dying and death approach for their loved 
one. The service includes a benefits advisor, two 
social workers and a clinical psychologist. Patients 
and family members can request this support if they 
feel the need for counselling or non-medical advice or 
be referred by other hospice service teams.   

Page 194Page 194

http://meadowhouse.lnwh.nhs.uk/our-services/lymphoedema-service/
http://meadowhouse.lnwh.nhs.uk/our-services/bereavement-service/
http://meadowhouse.lnwh.nhs.uk/our-services/day-service/
http://meadowhouse.lnwh.nhs.uk/our-services/day-service/


143 | P a g e  
 

 

 Meadow house palliative care psychological 
support service Team email: lnwh-tr.cancer-
psychology@nhs.net (website in progress)  

 
 
 

 

Page 195Page 195

mailto:lnwh-tr.cancer-psychology@nhs.net
mailto:lnwh-tr.cancer-psychology@nhs.net


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 196



Request for Report to the North West London Joint Health Overview 

Scrutiny Committee 

12 September 2023 

Report Title: Consultation Proposal on the Future of the Gordon Hospital 

Report Author: Sally Milne / Toby Lambert  

Committee Date: 12 September 2023 

Report Deadline: 29th August 2023 

Purpose 

To provide an update on the consultation proposal on the future of the Gordon 
Hospital.  

 

Detail 

Background/Context: 

In 2020, the Covid-19 pandemic necessitated the temporary closure of the 
inpatient wards at the Gordon Hospital in Westminster. Inpatient provision for 
Westminster and the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea (RBKC) was 
consolidated at the St Charles Centre for Health and Wellbeing in RBKC, resulting 
in a significantly reduced number of inpatient beds.  A network of alternative, 
community-based services was put in place across the area to compensate for the 
reduction in inpatient beds.   

 

We are now working to go out to consultation on the future of acute MH services in 
Westminster and RBKC. We have been working with partners through a number of 
workshops to agree the options for consultation.  

 

Options appraisal process  

In order to develop the options for the consultation a series of workshops were 
held with partners to go through the process of options appraisal. Details of each 
workshop are: 

 Workshop one discussed the care model that we aspired to for our service 
users in Westminster and RBKC 

 Workshop 2 looked at configurations of inpatient facilities to review options 
for where the care could be delivered  

 Workshop 3 went through data to understand what is being delivered and 
the proposed options for consultation  

 A follow up data workshop was then held to run through data from partners 
and the costs of the options.  

 

A final workshop is being planned for the 13th September to share the outputs of 
the workshops and the options that will be taken to consultation.  

 

Consultation proposals 

 

Page 197

Agenda Item 6

Page 197



The services within the scope of the consultation: 

 Serve those people with a mental health problem who might require 
admission to an inpatient mental health bed 

 Serve the population living in the City of Westminster and the Royal 
Borough of Kensington and Chelsea.  The consultation also considers the 
potential impact on residents of the London Borough of Brent; a small 
number of Brent residents have, in the past, come to Westminster and/or 
Kensington & Chelsea 

 Are used by the diverse, urban communities living in the bi-borough. 

 

Inpatient services for these communities have been provided by CNWL at the 
Gordon Hospital (51 beds over 3 wards temporarily closed in 2020) and the St 
Charles Centre for Health and Wellbeing (67 beds over 4 wards). 

 

The consultation plan has been developed by and on behalf of both CNWL and 
NWL ICB. It will be led by the ICB Communications and Engagement Director and 
team, and be delivered according to these principles: 

 Through a structured process, with shared management across the system 
to ensure that the consultation aligns with other strategic programmes in 
Westminster and Kensington and Chelsea 

 Working with the networks of NHS organisations and relationships with local 
groups and communities 

 Encompassing both communications and engagement – to ensure that 
people are able to find out about the consultation and how to participate, 
those likely to be particularly impacted are reached through a range of 
relevant channels, and comments and feedback are considered in depth  

 With the active involvement of a Steering Group of communications and 
engagement specialists. 

 

The objectives of the consultation are: 

 To gather feedback from service users, staff, stakeholders and local 
residents, making it as easy as possible to comment through a choice of 
channels and reaching out effectively to ensure people are aware of the 
consultation and how they can contribute 

 While retaining flexibility for how people can participate and valuing all 
contributions, aim to secure feedback about our preferred consultation 
option– relevant to views on its respective strengths and weaknesses, how 
they will impact on services and service users, and issues relevant to 
implementation for each 

 Secure a mix of both quantitative feedback (e.g. through a questionnaire) 
and qualitative feedback (e.g. through noting discussion at meetings) to 
develop insight into participants’ views which are as rich and detailed as 
possible  

 Where rooted in the data, indicate where there is majority agreement and 
where they are differences of view held by different groups 

 Meeting statutory duties, ensure that inclusion in the consultation process is 
as broad as possible and that those individuals and groups most likely to be 

Page 198Page 198



impacted by the service change are fully engaged and their voices are 
particularly clearly heard 

 Capture all feedback from the consultation within a single analysis and 
report to enable the ICB’s decision to be fully informed. 

 

Information included  

There will be a variety of information made available to inform participants and 
enable them to make meaningful comments.  These will be hosted on the ICB 
website, with links from relevant partners, and will include: 

 Core consultation information and questionnaire, which will set out: 

 Summary of case for change and current service configuration 

 Preferred Consultation Option 

 Information about the process so far 

 How to contribute views, including schedule of events 

 Next steps following consultation 

 Main consultation document and summaries for download 

 Including materials available in accessible formats 

 Detailed background documents, including: 

 Travel time and other modelling data 

 Pre-consultation Equalities Impact Assessment 

 Pre-consultation Business Case (PCBC). 

 

The groups that we plan to consult with include: 

Geographic data analysis and mapping shows population density across North 
West London for the following characteristics: 

 Service users of both acute and community mental health services 

 Deprivation by locality 

 Distance from closest inpatient mental health service (current). 

 

Priority groups for consultation - equalities 

As required by law, the key groups for consultation are: 

 Users – or potential users - of adult acute mental healthcare in Westminster 
and Kensington and Chelsea 

 Users – or potential users – sharing protected characteristics under the 
Equality Act (or otherwise at risk of health inequality) who may be 
disproportionately impacted by the proposed changes.  

 

Following a structured Equality Impact Assessment, Integrated Impact 
Assessment, review by the London Clinical Senate and a workshop of local clinical 
leaders, the following groups have been identified as the highest priorities: 

 Younger adults 

 Older adults 

 Sex 

 People with mental health issues 

 People with physical disabilities 

Page 199Page 199



 People with neurodiversity 

 People with comorbidities 

 Gender reassignment 

 Pregnancy and maternity 

 Black and Black African people 

 Religion or belief 

 Carers 

 Families of service users 

 Deprived communities, including people who are unemployed 

 Homeless people 

 Substance misusers (including Wet hostel) 

 ESL and immigrant communities 

 Those sectioned by the police 

 Residents of Westminster and K&C 

 Staff. 
 

The Integrated Impact Assessment identified that within the area containing the 
southern half of Westminster City Council and the Royal Borough of Kensington 
and Chelsea, there are areas with high levels of deprivation are concentrated in 
these localities. Therefore, we will also be paying attention to engaging people in 
these areas who might face more challenges compared to other areas in 
Westminster and Kensington and Chelsea. These areas include: 

 

Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea 

Kensal Town 

 

Westminster City Council 

Church Street  

Pimlico South 

 

Other groups for consultation – service users, stakeholders, and residents 

In addition, other groups we would seek to prioritise for engagement, include 
stakeholders, and local organisations, plus networks and media who have been 
‘scoped in’ because they will carry information about the consultation. These 
include: 

 Anyone who is currently using acute mental health care services in 
Westminster or Kensington and Chelsea 

 Anyone who has previously used acute mental health care services in 
Westminster or Kensington and Chelsea 

 Families and carers of people who use, have used, or might use these 
mental health services 

 Residents of the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea, the City of 
Westminster and neighbouring areas who are eligible to use services in 
these boroughs 

 Professional representative bodies such as trade unions, local medical 
committees, and the Royal College of Psychiatrists 

Page 200Page 200



 Community representatives, including the voluntary sector 

 Local authorities. 

 Health and Social care partners including the ambulance service and NHS 
111.  

 

The consultation report will summarise: 

 The consultation response 

 Views on the preferred option, highlighting where justified by the data 
differences of views between different groups 

 Analysis of comments more broadly relevant to the proposals, such as 
views in the clinical model, issues for implementation of Option. 

 

The report will be published and will form an appendix to the Decision-making 
Business Case, and formally considered by the ICB. 

 

The consultation report will also inform the second Equality Impact Assessment 
(post-consultation). 

 

Next Steps: 

Key dates and next steps for the consultation are  

- 13th September - final pre-consultation workshop with partners  
- 19th September – Stage 2 Assurance panel with NHS England  
- 28th September – ICB Strategic Commissioning Committee for sign off  
- Early October – Launch of the Consultation  

 

When the NHS advances proposals for service change that significantly affect the 
residents of more than one local authority, the Local Authority (Public Health, 
Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 require the 
affected local authorities to form a Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
It is that JHOSC that must comment on the proposals, can require information 
from the NHS, and can make a decision (or not) to refer proposals to Secretary of 
State. We note that, following the JHOSC’s meeting on 18th July, officers of the 
NWL JHOSC have indicated that the NWL JHOSC is the correct vehicle for formal 
scrutiny of these proposals. At time of writing, the ICB is awaiting formal 
confirmation from the Chair on behalf of the eight boroughs confirming this, 
alongside confirmation from Westminster City Council and Kensington and 
Chelsea Royal Borough Council, as the local authorities whose residents are most 
affected by the proposals, that they are content with these arrangements.  

 

The consultation is currently planned to launch in October and run to January, It 
will be extended beyond the usual 12 weeks to take into account the winter holiday 
period. Regular updates will be shared with the agreed Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  

 

Member Request: Cllr Ketan Sheth, Committee Chair, 2023 

 

Page 201Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 202



Report to the North West London Joint Health Overview Scrutiny Committee 

12 September 2023 

Report Title: North West London Mental Health Strategy 

Report Author: Katie Horrell – Acting Programme Director (Mental Health, 
Learning Disabilities & Autism), North West London ICB 

Carolyn Regan – SRO, Mental Health, Learning Disabilities & 
Autism Programme and Chief Executive, West London NHS 
Trust 

Committee Date: 12 September 2023 

Report Deadline: 29 August 2023 

Purpose 
To provide an update on the progress to refresh the North West London Mental Health 
Strategy. 
 
Background and context 

A key part of the developing North West London Integrated Care Partnership strategy, is 
the commitment to providing the people who use mental health services with high-quality 
care as close to home as possible, by prioritising prevention of mental health crisis, 
strengthening alternatives to admission and shifting provision to a more community-based 
offer in line with national priorities. 
 
Our aim across North West London Integrated Care System (ICS) is, and always will be, 
to ensure that we provide the highest quality, compassionate, trauma-informed and most 
appropriate mental health care for people who need it across our boroughs. This includes 
increased access to integrated services in the community, inpatient facilities that meet 
modern standards of acute mental health care, supporting patient dignity and privacy, with 
ease of access where required. We follow the principles laid out in the Mental Health 
Capacity Act 2005 that mental health care should be in the least restrictive setting and 
acute inpatient care should only be used where there is no better alternative. 
 
Refreshing our mental health strategy 

We are taking a phased approach to refreshing our mental health strategy, first focusing 
on adult services (community and inpatient). To support the first phase, a Working Group 
with representation from Local Authorities, Borough-Based Partnerships, NHS Mental 
Health Providers, the VCSE, Service Users, ICS Programmes and ICB Core Teams has 
been established to: 

 Agree a shared understanding of need, prevalence and demand; 

 Agree a shared understanding of current provision;  

 Review and agree progress against previous/ existing strategies; and  

 Collectively set out our ambitions for fulfilling lives, further improving mental health 
services and closing our biggest treatment gaps, including a focus on innovation 
(e.g. digital) 

 
Through the Working Group we have discussed and clarified the scope of the work – to 
focus on adult community and inpatient services; whilst the stressors that may drive 
increase demand in mental health services are acknowledged, it is agreed that this work 
will not result in an overall health and wellbeing strategy and instead will reference existing 
strategies in place locally for promoting resilience and wellbeing.  
 

Page 203

Agenda Item 7

Page 203



Work has begun on understanding our shared understanding of need. The Working Group 
has reviewed data points from the Mental Health Joint Strategic Needs Assessment toolkit 
that could be analysed to demonstrate the mental health need of our adult population; 
suggestions of additional data points have been limited. Therefore, the data points below 
will be used to build a picture of need across the eight boroughs, at North West London 
level and with comparisons to London and England where possible:  

 Prevalence and incidence 

 Risk factors  

 Protective factors 

 Health and wellbeing 

 Activity within services 

 Quality and outcomes 
 
Through the Working Group we have gathered views on successes within adult mental 
health, identified gaps and also collected views on priorities. These have been used to 
inform the emerging themes of the strategy (below) that will be iterated through further 
engagement, along with understanding the impact of these from a resident’s point of view: 
 

1) We will work together in trusted partnership to build a supportive community 
environment that harnesses a broad range of roles, providers and sectors to 
enable care and support, recognising and advocating for the skills, expertise and 
benefit of the whole community. We will improve access to education, training, 
employment and broader health settings and interventions to promote good mental 
health for all. 
 

2) Organisations and services that support residents’ mental health, in both statutory 
and VCSE sector, will be equipped to meet the diverse health and social needs of 
the local population in a culturally effective manner. There will be a clear emphasis 
on prevention, early intervention, maximising independence and embedding 
strengths based approaches to both community and individual interventions. 
 

3) For people (including carers) in crisis or requiring an urgent response, they will be 
able to access a multi-agency response that supports a holistic psycho, social and 
welfare approach to preventing, supporting and managing the crisis. 
 

4) Care will be delivered in the least restrictive setting, but when hospital based care 
is required, it will be delivered in a timely way, by an expert team, within a 
therapeutic and compassionate environment.   
 

Further work also includes modelling demand and capacity of our adult mental health 
services – including community and inpatient beds – to understand what proportion of our 
local population need is accessing support (met demand) and what proportion is not 
(unmet demand), along with understanding our current capacity [including current level of 
investment] of services. Through the Working Group we will also be exploring how 
capacity can be optimised by understanding how productivity plans and innovation 
(including digital) can be used to maximise capacity. 
 
Approach to engagement  

NHS North West London, in partnership with Local Authorities and NHS provider trusts in 
our area, has an extensive outreach programme to hear from local residents and 
communities. This includes discussions in all eight boroughs, some on specific topics, and 
conversations via organised public events and social media. To inform the strategy the 
Working Group has reviewed comments and feedback from what our residents have been 
telling us with regard to mental health, their concerns and what matters to them through 
the outreach programme.  

Page 204Page 204



 
Insights reviewed from September 2022 to June 2023 highlighted broad concerns 
regarding residents’ mental health; anxiety, depression and despair came through in the 
majority of borough engagement events, particularly at the height of the cost of living 
crisis. Several themes have emerged in discussions with our residents: 
 

 Wider determinants of mental health – in particular housing issues, poverty and the 
impact of the pandemic, including the cost of living crisis. 

 Access to services – access to urgent mental health care, and delays in accessing 
GP appointments, which can exacerbate developing concerns, are areas of 
particular concern.  

 Further work is needed to offer services in non-traditional environments, 
understanding the importance of faith, and to support people for whom English is 
not their first language.  

 Perception of a “bed crisis” – issues include a reduction in inpatient beds, early 
discharge of patients, out of borough placements, and high levels of readmission. 

 Stigma – for many communities, there is a taboo around mental health which 
needs to be understood and addressed the system. 

 Isolation – many residents are experiencing isolation and loneliness, leading to or 
exacerbating mental health concerns. These include, but are not limited to, older 
people, those who are bereaved and carers. 

 
We have discussed further engagement approaches with the Making A Difference Alliance 
(Experts by Experience Group for North West London) and a series of bespoke 
engagement events (see Appendix) have been arranged where the aim is to share the 
approach and scope to the strategy work, share insights gathered so far and seek further 
input from local residents. These include: 

 Face to face drop in sessions in each borough (from late August to end of 
September)  

 A lunchtime and evening focus group (mid-September) 

 Individual engagement sessions with local community groups. 
 
Responses to local residents’ surveys have also been requested to provide another 
source of data and information to inform the strategy. 

 
Timeline 

A draft of the first phase of the strategy will be available in October which will include an 
understanding of need for our local population, progress against previous and existing 
strategies along with an outline strategic case and clinical model, including review of the 
national evidence base. The demand and capacity modelling will also be completed and 
the first draft will also set out our collective shared priorities for adult mental health 
services, focusing on how treatment gaps will be closed. 
 

Member Request: Cllr Ketan Sheth, Committee Chair, 2023 

 

  

Page 205Page 205



Appendix: Engagement events 

 

 

Page 206Page 206



 
 

Report to the North West London Joint Health Overview 
Scrutiny Committee – 12 September 2023 

North West London Joint Health Overview Scrutiny 
Committee Recommendations Tracker  
 

No. of Appendices: 

2  
Appendix 1: 2022/23 North West London JHOSC 
Recommendations and Information Requests 
Tracker 
Appendix 2: 2023/24 North West London JHOSC 
Recommendations and Information Requests 
Tracker 

Background Papers:  None 

Contact Officer(s): 
(Name, Title, Contact Details) 

Tom Pickup, Policy, Partnerships and Scrutiny 
Manager, Strategy and Partnerships,  
Communities and Regeneration 
Brent Council 
Tom.Pickup@brent.gov.uk 07553724213 
 

 
 
1.0 Purpose of the Report 
 
1.1  To present the latest 2022/23 and 2023/24 scrutiny recommendations tracker 

to the North West London Joint Health Overview Scrutiny Committee (NWL 
JHOSC). 

 
2.0 Recommendation(s)  
 
2.1  That:  
   
  The committee note the latest 2022/23 and 2023/24 scrutiny recommendations 

tracker municipal year in Appendix 1 and 2. 
 
3.0 Detail  
 
 
3.1      The North West London JHOSC, according to its Terms of Reference can 

make recommendations to the North West London Integrated Care System 
and its Integrated Care Board, NHS England, or any other appropriate outside 
body in relation to the plans for meeting the health needs of the population. 

 
3.2      The North West London JHOSC may not make executive decisions. 

Recommendations made by the committee therefore require consideration 
from the relevant NHS body. When the North West London JHOSC makes 
recommendations to NHS bodies, the relevant decision maker shall be 

Page 207

Agenda Item 8

Page 207

mailto:Tom.Pickup@brent.gov.uk


notified in writing, providing them with a copy of the committee’s 
recommendations and a request for response.  

 
3.3 The 2022/23 and 2023/24 North West London JHOSC Recommendations and 

Information Requests Tracker (attached in Appendix 1) provides a summary 
of scrutiny recommendations made during the previous municipal year. This 
tracks decisions made by NHS colleagues and gives the committee oversight 
over implementation progress. It also includes information requests, as 
captured in the minutes of its committee meetings.  

 
3.4 Updates to the tracker from the previous meeting are highlighted within the 

table. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 208Page 208



 
 

Appendix 1: 2022/23 North West London JHOSC Recommendations and Information Requests Tracker  
 
 

Meeting 
Date Item 

Recommendation 
/ Information 

Request 
Detail Response Status 

Information 
Request 

To receive details in writing about what 
the full business case may look like. 

 
Pre-consultation business case shared separately as a PDF.  

 

Information 
Request 

To receive details in writing of the 
consultation & engagement. 

A paper was brought to the December JHOSC meeting for 
members to review.  

 

Recommendation That the NHS considers the best strategy 
for the consultation to reach as many 
people as possible, utilising key partners 
across NW London. 

Complete. Consultation closed on the 21st Jan. Further 
information going to JHOSC w/c 30 Jan and discussion 
expected at March meeting. Final decision expected at ICB 
Board of 21 March. Consultation plan been to JHOSC 

 

Recommendation That the committee agrees to the NHS 
embarking on a full consultation that starts 
on the first week of September. 

Consultation began in October after being delayed by one 
month 

 

Recommendation That a clear reference is made to how the 
findings of the consultation will input into 
the business case. 

Complete. This is covered in the decision making business 
case that is going to JHOSC.  

 

Recommendation That the full business case is brought 
back to a later meeting. 

Agreed. Expected March meeting.   

8. Elective 
Orthopaedic 

Centre at 
Central 

Middlesex 
Hospital 

Recommendation That the NHS provide an effective 
communication strategy to clearly set out 
the pathway from primary to secondary 
care for patients and residents across NW 
London. 

Part addressed by the communication strategy within the 
winter plan and also picked up within the ‘we are general 
practice campaign’ discussions. The NHS runs frequent 
national and local campaigns on these issues. 

 

Information 
Request 

To receive in writing the detail of the 
engagement that has already taken place 
on this issue. 

PowerPoint shared separately.  

Information 
Request 

To receive projections and real time data 
of centres impact on a number of key 
performance indicators, and how it will 
impact local A&E services. 

The document above covers both information requests.  

7. 20 July 
2022 

9. Community 
Diagnostic 

Centres 
Recommendation That communications and messaging are 

clear for local communities; to make the 
distinction between the new diagnostic 

LNWUHT are apparently in contact with Cllr Crawford on the 
programme 

 

P
age 209

P
age 209



 
 

hub and existing diagnostic facilities at 
Ealing Hospital and other Community 
Diagnostic Centres clear. 

Recommendation That decisions made in regard to 
community diagnostic centres are made 
with consideration of new data. 

Complete. Public engagement is planned as part of the 
process of developing the centres and we are happy to work 
with councillors on this. 

 

Recommendation That NHS colleagues help to facilitate site 
visits to the Ealing Hospital and other 
Community Diagnostic Centres where 
appropriate. 

LNWUHT are apparently in contact with Cllr Crawford on the 
programme and site visits for local OSCs. Brent officer 
discussed site visit in early 2023.  

 

Recommendation That NHS colleagues are invited to 
relevant borough scrutiny committees 

Agreed.  

Recommendation That consideration is given to local 
authorities having a substantial role in the 
governance of the NWL ICS. 

Confirmed constitution has been amended to increase LA 
partner voting members from one to three.  

 

Recommendation That a robust plan is developed for 
tackling current waiting lists in NW 
London. 

Complete and covered in the performance reports shared by 
Rory.  

 

Recommendation That a framework is developed for 
monitoring performance of subcontractors 
in primary care. 

In progress.   

Recommendation That a financially focused paper is 
brought back to this committee for review 

Financial focused paper brought to October meeting.  

10. North West 
London 

Integrated 
Care System 

Update 

Recommendation That an Integrated Care System’s update 
remains a standing item on each agenda. 

This has been actioned.   

Information 
Request 

The committee has requested to receive 
the impact dashboard and timescales for 
implementation for health inequalities 
framework when available. 

Word document shared separately.  

Information 
Request 

The committee has requested information 
on variance between boroughs and wards 
on flu / COVID vaccination uptake. 

PowerPoint sent separately.  

North West 
London 
Health 

Inequalities 
Framework 

Information 
Request 

Information to be shared on pathways into 
NHS employment for volunteers. 

PowerPoint sent separately.  

P
age 210

P
age 210



 
 

Recommendation That NHS colleagues provide an annual 
update on health inequalities to monitor 
progress being made. 

Agreed. The inequalities framework is overseen by a steering 
group chaired jointly by an LA CEO (Niall Bolger) and Trust 
CEO (Carolyn Regan). They will be producing regular updates 
on progress. 

 

Recommendation That NHS colleagues commit to 
undertaking processes of benchmarking 
and utilising best practice in their 
approach to tackling health inequalities. 

Agreed and already happening as part of inequalities 
programme.  

 

Information 
Request 

To receive information on the current 
primary care performance data, and for it 
to be shared monthly. 

PowerPoint sent separately.  

11. 12 October 
2022 

12. Primary Care 
Strategy and 
Performance 

Information 
Request 

To receive financial implications on the 
use of the Additional reimbursable roles 
schemes. 

 
There is an acknowledged issue with our ARRS 
claims, which the Primary Care contracts team are 
working hard to address, equally there is an issue 
with the ARRS data on the NWRS system, this is 
because they allocate    ARRS roles  under the 
Patient Facing designation, consequently in part due 
to the low GP submissions, something we are 
addressing and the way the NWRS collates the roles, 
the NWRS data does not reflect the actual 
numbers.  At the end of Q2 it has for NWL  approx. 
157 FTE ARRS roles.  In fact we have 697.17 FTE 
as at the end of Q2. 
 
To mitigate the issue with robust workforce data for 
the ARRS roles, until we can rectify the above 
issues, the Primary Care workforce team does an 
internal scoping of the roles each quarter, this is 
cross referenced against the NWRS and the claims 
data .  This was initiated so we have accurate ARRS 
data and involves direct contact with the NWL PCN’s 
to collate the information.  This is to date the most 
robust ARRS data we hold.   The roles per borough 
are as below: 
 

- FTE/ Borough 
- 99.33: Brent 

 

P
age 211

P
age 211



 
 

- 54.60: Central 
- 93.10: Ealing 
- 99.17: Hammersmith and Fulham 
- 76.93: Harrow 
- 95.90: Hillingdon 
- 103.35: Hounslow 
- 74.81 West London 

697.19: Total 
Recommendation To recommend that JHOSC members are 

proactively consulted with and have 
oversight of stakeholder and public 
engagement activities to share with their 
networks. 

Community insight reports are published monthly on the ICB 
website 
https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/download_file/2981/182 

 

Recommendation To recommend that the workforce model 
is appropriately balanced in order to 
ensure that patients are receiving equity 
of care across NW London. 

Being covered in the NWL workforce paper at the December 
7, 2022, JHOSC meeting. 

 

Recommendation To recommend that wait times for a 
routine GP appointment are collected and 
shared with the committee. 

This will be published from 24/11 and can be found here:  
Appointments in General Practice, October 2022 - NDRS 
(digital.nhs.uk) 

 

Recommendation To recommend that the education and 
communication plan for navigating 
primary care systems is developed and 
shared when it becomes available. 

Is being developed and will be available early next year.  

Information 
Request 

For the committee to receive performance 
data from the trust board reports, and to 
receive data on a bi-monthly basis. The 
NWL ICS will take ownership for providing 
the data. 

We will share monthly performance reports which will include 
LAS information.  

 13. Accident and 
Emergency 
Pathways 
and 
Performance, 
including 
London 
Ambulance 
Service 
performance 

Recommendation To receive clear timescales and trajectory 
for when London Ambulance Service 
performance will improve. 

(From Daniel Elkeles) 
Demand and performance update  
 
Between September and November, London Ambulance 
Service has seen demand grow across our 111 and 999 
services. We have been at REAP (Resource Escalation Action 
Plan) level 4 since escalating to this level on 22 September. 
 

 

P
age 212

P
age 212

https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/download_file/2981/182
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/appointments-in-general-practice/october-2022
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/appointments-in-general-practice/october-2022


 
 

We have also been working hard to prepare for challenges to 
come by bringing together three strands of action to help us 
meet demand across the winter:  
 
1. The first of these is to recruit more staff. After recruiting 
1,074 new starters since 1 April this year as part of our biggest 
ever recruitment drive, we have already been able to increase 
the number of ambulances on the road by up to 20 to 30 a day. 
We are continuing our focus on recruiting and training more 
call handlers and dispatch staff for our emergency operations 
centres.  
 
2. The second set of actions relates to setting up more 
alternative care pathways to give our staff and volunteers 
further options to ensure patients receive the care they need. 
This is based on the success of schemes such as our six 
mental health response cars (where we team our paramedics 
with registered mental health nurses), which are now running 
across the capital.  
 
3. Lastly, we are recruiting many more clinicians to our 
emergency operations centres to ensure patients waiting for 
an ambulance are kept as safe as possible and our sickest 
patients are prioritised. As the Service is an early adopter of 
NHS England’s Category 2 segmentation pilot, our clinicians 
are in particular assessing these calls to ensure patients who 
are most in need receive the fastest response. This approach 
will not delay our response for patients who still require an 
ambulance. Instead, our expanded clinical team will be able to 
better direct people in need to the right care services for them.  
 
We are also continuing to work with our partners at integrated 
care systems and hospital trusts to address delays in patient 
handovers to emergency departments.  
 
As you will be aware, we have been working incredibly hard to 
move to a new Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) system, 
known as Cleric. Our new CAD is being used by staff in our 
emergency operations centres to assess and prioritise 999 

P
age 213

P
age 213



 
 

calls and to dispatch ambulance crews when they are needed. 
We are working with other trusts to help our transition to this 
new system and have set up processes to monitor patient 
safety and performance.  
 
The introduction of the new CAD has meant we have recently 
been putting the data we generate and record under a 
renewed level of forensic focus.  
 
This new level of scrutiny has revealed some anomalies that 
might be making some parts of our response time data 
unreliable and not reflective of our actual response times. This 
is not an issue with the new software but a general reporting 
issue and it is clear we need to look into our processes.  
 
As an open and honest organisation with a commitment to the 
highest quality patient care, at the Service we know that we 
have to take action to make sure we are recording data 
properly and are doing everything we can to reduce our 
response times. It is imperative that our patients and the 
communities we serve can also see a full and accurate picture 
of performance.  
 
To do this as quickly, fairly and transparently as possible, we 
have commissioned an independent review, in partnership 
with NHS England and our commissioners, which will be 
carried out by an expert external organisation that regularly 
works with the NHS. Independence and transparency are 
important to this process so that we can check we are doing 
the right things and can all have full confidence in our approach 
as we move forward.  
 
In the meantime, we have to continue delivering for patients by 
doing everything we can to improve our response times as we 
head towards winter. That will mean a renewed focus on 
Category 1 as well as Category 2 calls, getting the most 
effective mix of clinicians on the road, ensuring we have the 
vehicles available, and improving our processes for dispatch. 
 

P
age 214

P
age 214



 
 

14. Community 
based 
specialised 
palliative 
care 
improvement 
programme 

Recommendation To bring a paper summarising emerging 
findings from the Borough Based 
Partnership’s self-assessments tools to 
the committee 

Rory Hegarty has spoken with Jane Wheeler who confirmed 
this will be addressed at a future JHOSC meeting. 
 
This will be address within a paper to the committee on the 12 
September. 
 
Update: Status now green. 

 

Information 
Request 

To receive information on the meeting 
schedule and agendas of the ICB and 
other meetings in order to share with 
relevant stakeholders 

Rory to send as part of the regular fortnightly update including 
a key meetings grid. 

 15. North West 
London 
Integrated 
Care System 
Update Recommendation For the JHOSC to be aligned with the ICB 

in agenda forward planning. 
Fortnightly update from Rory should address this.   

16. West London 
Changes to 
Hope and 
Horizon 
wards 

Recommendation To recommend that a meeting is set up 
between Ealing and neighbouring 
authorities to ensure that information on 
this issue is shared across boroughs, and 
to notify members when this meeting is 
set up.   

 

Meeting took place 7 December 2022 at Royal Borough of 
Kensington & Chelsea 

 

Information 
Request 

To receive the data validation figures on 
waiting lists numbers, that the NWL 
system has sight of to be shared with the 
JHOSC. 

Monthly performance report is now being shared with JHOSC. 
 
Update: Status now green. 

 

Information 
Request 

To receive details of best practice in terms 
of Breast Screening uptake broken down 
by place for the NWL system.   

Sanjeet sending what they have for NWL wide but don’t have 
breakdown via borough currently but this is being worked on 
this year.  Liz forwarded on 20/01/22  

 

Information 
Request 

To receive data and information on best 
practice in elective recovery in regard to 
North West London. 

Elective recovery / elective care is now included in the 
performance reports.  

 

17. Elective 
Recovery 

and Cancer 
Care Backlog 

Recommendation To recommend that JHOSC members and 
community leaders are utilised to 
feedback and share messaging on Breast 
Screening and elective recovery with our 
communities. 

Rory supplied JHOSC with Sanjeet’s (Programme Director – 
Breast Screening Recovery Programme) contact details on 7th 
Dec - (sanjeet.johal@nhs.net) for any screening questions 
councillors might have. Sanjeet confirmed they are keen to 
share messages, key campaigns and pilot projects.    

 

7 
December 

2022 

18. Winter 
Planning 

Information 
Request 

To receive information on how additional 
winter funding will be used at a borough 

Sarah Bellman has shared the winter materials during 7th Dec 
JHOSC.  

 

P
age 215

P
age 215

mailto:sanjeet.johal@nhs.net


 
 

level, and what the impact of this funding 
will be for our residents. 

Information 
Request 

To receive more information on the 
collaboration between the ICS and Local 
Authorities on winter planning. 

Sarah Bellman has shared the winter plan covering this item. 
Liz to also share winter plan paper.    

 

Recommendation To recommend that JHOSC members and 
community leaders are utilised as a way 
of communicating messages to our 
communities and for the NWL ICS to 
review the opportunities to tackle 
inequalities together. 

Agreed: Sent winter messaging, performance report and 
involving chair and vice chair in discussions about ‘we are 
general practice campaign’.  

 

Recommendation To recommend that information on winter 
planning is distributed more widely than 
local authority communications teams. 

Complete: Sarah sent to JHOSC already and shared with 
leaders/CEO’s. Noted the recommendation for the future.  

 

19. North West 
London 

Workforce 
Strategy 

Information 
Request 

To receive information on how NHS NWL 
is tackling racism towards its staff as part 
of its workforce strategy. 

How NWL is tackling racism towards its staff as part of 
its workforce strategy: 
 

As part of the Great Places to Work portfolio, the Include 
(Workforce Inequalities) pillar has adopted a multi-dimensional 
approach to tackling racism across NWL ICS, which 
recognises disparity between white and Ethnic Minority staff in 
their experiences and senior-level representation. This is a 
data-driven approach, which draws on insights from the 
Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) to shape system-
wide interventions and seeks to address inequality through 
targeted interventions focused on organisational culture, 
leadership and structural processes.  

A current priority is reducing bias in the recruitment and 
selection process. To address this, we have rolled out the De-
Bias Recruitment Toolkit across the system, which is designed 
for recruiting managers and presents a set of measures to 
improve the fairness and diversity at each stage of the 
recruitment process. The embedding of these inclusive 
recruitment practices is intended to increase diversity of 
representation at senior levels.  

 

P
age 216

P
age 216



 
 

The ICS has also taken action to reduce the disparity between 
Ethnic Minority and white staff entering into formal disciplinary 
processes, by supporting system partners to adopt a just and 
restorative culture, focused on rebuilding relationships and 
learning from mistakes, in place of punitive action.  

At a senior level, this cultural change programme is 
complemented by the Building Leadership for Inclusion 
Initiative, soon to be delivered with the ICB Board, which will 
work with the Board members supporting them to undertake 
their role as inclusive leaders, in recognition of their individual 
and collective influence over organisational culture and 
structures. This programme has a particular focus on systemic 
racism and social justice.  

The Include (Workforce Inequalities) Programme has taken 
steps to ensure accountability for anti-racist actions at a local 
and system level, by establishing London’s first independent 
Inclusion Scrutiny Panel, which acts as a critical friend to the 
Staff Inclusion/Workforce Inequalities Programme Board. We 
are also fostering ‘Safe spaces’ across the system, through 
the establishment of Freedom to Speak up Guardians across 
Primary Care, and there has been dedicated work to 
empower staff networks and amplify staff voice to ensure it is 
captured and incorporated into system-wide decision making.  

Finally, the Include/Workforce Inequalities pillar also assures 
progression across the system against WRES action plans to 
ensure sustained improvements to address workforce 
inequalities throughout Trusts, Primary Care and the ICB. 
Work is underway to align actions with Local Authorities as 
well.  

 
Recommendation To recommend that tackling racism 

towards NHS staff to be included and 
highlighted as an explicit part of the NHS 
NWL workforce strategy. 

Bashir Arif has provided the paragraph above in response to 
the request from the JHOSC meeting for additional 
information relating to tackling racism. We include the points 

 

P
age 217

P
age 217



 
 

he has made within our strategy as part of our NWL People 
Plan.  
 
Please also note that organisations have their own policies 
that set out how racism is managed, whether it is from 
service users or visitors abusing staff through to incidents 
between employees. In summary, it is not tolerated and 
processes are in place to ensure full investigation and follow 
up action is implemented. 
 

Information 
Request 

To receive information on the proposed 
lengths of contracts as set out in the 
procurement update on 3.9 of the update 
report. 

These contracts are part of an overall single with different 
specifications for the services listed below – all of which ends 
of the 30 Sept 2023 except ADHD which is currently not 
commissioned with Harrow Health CIC. 
 
There are ongoing discussions with the ICB and Harrow 
Health CIC regarding the future commissioning of ADHD 
services, but no decision has been made yet. 

 

20. North West 
London 

Integrated 
Care System 

Update 
Recommendation To recommend that the committee is 

consulted with on plans for the upcoming 
primary care campaign. With a focus 
group of JHOSC members explored as 
one of the methods of delivering this 
consultation piece. 

The campaign has now launched which was done in 
partnership with the chair of the JHOSC.  
 
Update: status now green. 

 

21. 8 March 
2023 

Elective 
Orthopaedic 

Centre – 
Summary of 
Consultation 
and Proposal 

Recommendation To recommend that a specific travel plan 
is developed that addresses travel related 
concerns expressed in the consultation to 
reassure patients and stakeholders. 

We commissioned a detailed review of travel by public 
transport, helping to inform a three-step travel support 
solution, including the provision of free travel for patients 
unable to travel to or from the elective orthopaedic centre for 
their surgery independently or via an existing patient transport 
scheme and who would encounter a long, complex and/or 
costly journey by public transport. 
Our approach incorporated into the DMBC is to create a three-
step travel offer for elective orthopaedic centre patients: 
 
Step 1: Information – all patients 
Provide all patients with the latest information on the range of 
options for travel to and from Central Middlesex. The 
information will be provided proactively, fully accessible and 
available in whatever languages and formats are required. 

 

P
age 218

P
age 218



 
 

Step 2: Facilitation – all patients 
Provide all patients with practical support – via a team 
available by telephone or online – to help understand and book 
the different travel options and, wherever possible, to access 
additional support. 
Step 3: Patient transport – eligible patients 
For patients who are unable to travel to or from the elective 
orthopaedic centre for their surgery independently or via an 
existing patient transport scheme – and who would encounter 
a long, complex and/or or costly journey by public transport, 
we would provide transport – a car ambulance or taxi – free of 
charge. 
We will continue to collaborate with patients, community 
groups and local stakeholders to develop this approach. We 
currently anticipate that we would extend a transport offer to 
around a third of elective orthopaedic centre patients, including 
a small number of patients who currently have a complex 
journey to their local hospital and may not currently be eligible 
for support. 
While Central Middlesex is the most centrally located hospital 
in north west London but, wherever we place the centre, some 
patients will face longer journeys. We think the benefits of a 
single centre of excellence outweigh the inevitable downside 
of longer travel times for some patients. And we also believe 
we can significantly minimise the impact on affected patients. 
The transport solution is detailed in Chapter 4, section 4.3.1 of 
the DMBC. 

Recommendation To recommend that there should be 
monitoring of the quality of the elective 
orthopaedic services provided locally and 
at the centre located within Central 
Middlesex Hospital, to ensure that they 
are consistent and of the same standard. 

The DMBC sets out how patient access/waiting times will be 
monitored for the EOC and across the NWL acute provider 
collaborative. This approach will be expanded across quality, 
workforce, and patient experience at the NWL EOC 
partnership and through NWL APC clinical quality and equality 
governance. 
In the DMBC, we have developed a more detailed framework 
for monitoring achievement of the anticipated benefits of the 
proposal across the four acute providers and the wider ICB. It 
includes a revised and expanded set of key performance 
indicators (KPIs) with clearly designated owners and validated 

 

P
age 219

P
age 219



 
 

trajectories. This includes benefits under the following seven 
KPI themes: 
• Clinical outcomes and experience 
• Patient access 
• Productivity (Getting it Right First Time – GIRFT) 
• Cost-effectiveness 
• Transport 
• Patient satisfaction 
• Workforce 
There will also be detailed monitoring of benefits to ensure that 
local and national best practice benchmarks are achieved and 
feedback on cost-effectiveness, transport and patient 
experience. This will be undertaken through a gateway 
approach, with the programme required to pass through 
successfully each gateway before proceeding to the next. 
These KPIs will be reviewed by the Elective Orthopaedic 
Centre Management Board on a monthly basis within the 
governance model and through each gateway. 
The expected benefits realisation plan is detailed in Chapter 5, 
section 5.5 and Appendix C of the DMBC. Further detail on the 
design will be included in the Full Business Case (FBC) with 
continued development throughout the implementation period. 

Recommendation To recommend that more detail is 
supplied on how the NHS is implementing 
the consultation feedback on transport 
when this issue next comes back to 
JHOSC. 

The transport solution has been designed to provide 
information and facilitation to all patients attending the elective 
orthopaedic centre for their operations, with transport being 
made available at no charge for any patients facing a long, 
complex, or costly journey to the elective orthopaedic centre. 
Our implementation of the solution will be fully developed 
through the implementation phase in readiness for go live in 
November 2023. 
We have already identified the patients and stakeholders that 
are likely to be affected by this transport solution and have 
consequently incorporated them into our co-design approach. 
Following the approval of the FBC, patients and key 
stakeholders will be further involved in the development of the 
transport solution, including the patient portal, scheduling, 
tracking system, communication and governance. 
We will undertake pilot testing of the transport solution to 
ensure that it meets the requirements of patients, providers 

 

P
age 220

P
age 220



 
 

and other stakeholders while operating as intended. This will 
include collecting qualitative feedback from patients on their 
experience, reviewing patient attendance data, and uptake of 
the proposed solution. 
4 
The elective orthopaedic centre team including the care 
navigator roles will be aware of the travel support available to 
patients and the associated resources so that they feel 
confident about how to support patients to navigate their 
pathways. 
The development of travel information, facilitation and travel 
solution will be monitored through implementation and feature 
in the gateway assurance framework. The transport solution 
will be improved continuously through quality improvement 
initiatives based on feedback from stakeholders including 
JHOSC, emerging technology solutions, and as the elective 
orthopaedic centre is fully embedded in north west London’s 
health and care system. 
The implementation approach is detailed in Chapter 5, section 
5.8 of the DMBC and will expand on this through the 
development of a full business case and implementation plan, 
subject to approval of the DMBC by the NWL ICB on 21 March 
2023. 

Recommendation To recommend that a communications 
campaign for the elective orthopaedic 
centre is delivered in conjunction with 
local government and other stakeholders. 

Continued engagement and involvement with patients and 
carers, public, staff and local authorities is central to 
implementing the new model of care to better inform 
development of the elective orthopaedic centre and better 
allow continued improvement. 
We have built up a significant volume of insight over the past 
18 months about what patients and local communities in north 
west London want and need from inpatient orthopaedic care 
and wider MSK services. This has been established through 
the public and patient involvement activities that informed the 
development of the initial proposal for an elective orthopaedic 
centre and even more so through the formal public 
consultation on the proposal and the IIA. We are committed to 
continuing to build and respond to this insight, to inform both 
the continued development and implementation of the elective 

 

P
age 221

P
age 221



 
 

orthopaedic centre and supporting inpatient services and the 
related plans to improve community-based MSK services. 
It begins with ensuring we communicate proactively and 
openly with all of our audiences to raise awareness and 
understanding of what our services offer and what they 
involve, now and as they change. This will be an integrated 
approach across the APC hospitals and with community 
services. Patient information, including patient letters, will have 
a consistent approach in terms of content, terms, tone and 
branding, helping patients to experience our care as a joined-
up pathway even as they move between their home 
orthopaedic hospital and the elective orthopaedic centre. We 
will also ensure that information about travel support options, 
follow-up care and help with queries or concerns as well as 
feedback prompts are widely publicised and consistent. 
5 
We then see the diverse contacts and relationships we have 
made through the engagement and consultation work to date 
as being central to continued engagement and involvement on 
inpatient orthopaedic services and wider MSK care. We 
propose doing that in the following ways: 
• Inviting the 200 plus people who took part in the consultation 
and who gave us permission to keep them informed – as well 
as the community organisations who supported us with 
particularly in reaching individuals not generally engaged with 
our services – to take part in involvement activities through a 
regular email update about the project (and wider MSK service 
improvements). 
• Continuing to include lay partner roles in the governance 
structure for implementation (including oversight of ongoing 
involvement plans and patient and community feedback and 
experience indicators). 
• Developing an iterative plan, employing a variety of methods, 
for expanding our understanding of patient and community 
needs and views to inform the further development and 
implementation of the elective orthopaedic centre and related 
care pathways. The iterative plan (plus the insights and 
responses to those insights) to be overseen as part of the main 

P
age 222

P
age 222



 
 

project governance for implementation and for onward, 
continuous improvement: 
a) ad hoc co-design workshops for specific elements of 
implementation, for example, transport options 
b) patient panels – for feedback via email, for example, on 
patient information 
c) surveys 
d) focus groups 
e) continuing to triangulate existing sources of patient 
feedback and insight. 
The communications and engagement plan is detailed in 
Chapter 5, section 5.4 of the DMBC. 

Information 
Request 

To receive a response to the query 
regarding the disparity across North West 
London boroughs in the response rate to 
the quantitative survey. 

The NHS took an identical approach in each of our eight 
boroughs to holding engagement events and promoting the 
survey. There is no obvious reason why the response rate in 
some boroughs was higher than others; the only explanation 
more residents chose to respond in certain boroughs 

 

Information 
Request 

To share the final travel plan for visitors, 
patients and staff with the committee 
when it becomes available. 

Response from LNWH NHS Trust  
The travel plan for the Elective Orthopaedic Centre (EOC) is 
currently being co-designed with patients and remains on track 
with published timeline for the end of October 23.    
Following the approval of the Full Business Case in April 2023, 
we held a public engagement webinar on Tuesday 20 June. At 
this webinar we asked for members of the public to volunteer 
to be members of our transport working group. The working 
group meetings are underway (first meeting 5 July 2023) and 
includes both patients, councillors, residents and other 
stakeholders.  
We expect to share the output of the transport working group 
with the EOC partnership board in late summer.  

 

North West 
London 

Integrated 
Care System 

Update 

Information 
Request 

That NHS North West London provides 
comparisons to other London Integrated 
Care Systems’ performance on key 
metrics as part of the regular performance 
report sent to the committee. 

The performance report focuses on delivering improvements 
against the agreed ICS/programme ambitions.  These 
ambitions are based on national/regional benchmarks, plans 
and standards.   
In the performance report, we provide London and regional 
averages to all available metrics on the borough scorecard. 
Programmes also include specific benchmarks in the detailed 
report. 

 

P
age 223

P
age 223



 
 

Information 
Request 

To provide more information on the 
planning work being undertaken for the 
roll out of the Spring 2023 Covid booster. 

NWL Strategic Slides have been attached separately for the 
committee. 

 

Information 
Request 

To receive details on how the NHS will 
ensure that patients who need to be 
moved from the Butterworth centre will be 
moved seamlessly into alternative care. 

A letter to the Lead Members of Westminster and RBKC 
councils have been received, which outlines that all residents 
have been safely transferred to alternative accommodation 

 

Information 
Request 

To provide the JHOSC with the details of 
the final North West London workforce 
strategy when it becomes available. 

The Workforce strategy will be a section of the wider ICS 
Strategy.  
 
We are currently discussing and agreeing the key workforce 
programme priorities to ensure these align with the national 
long term workforce planned that was published at the end of 
June. 
 
This is a work in progress until September and we hope to 
share/update post September. 

 

Recommendation To recommend that the NHS work with 
the JHOSC to engage on a mental health 
specific estate strategy by bringing this 
item to a future JHOSC meeting. 

The scope of the mental health strategy is still being agreed 
and we will share when done. 
 

 

Recommendation To recommend that the NHS works with 
the JHOSC to shape the future public 
consultation on the Gordon Hospital. 

Plans for consultation in September now being discussed – will 
be ICB led, with CNWL support, and are happy to be advised 
by JHOSC on scrutiny arrangements. 

 

Inpatient 
Mental 

Health Bed 
Capacity 

across North 
West London 

Information 
Request 

To provide further information on the 
current spend by West London NHS Trust 
on mental health services across the 
three boroughs, the spend available per 
resident, and how the money was 
allocated so that the JHOSC can 
effectively scrutinise the future 
development of mental health services 
across North West London. 

In 2020/21, a strategic review of need, current provision and 
investment was undertaken to support future planning of adult 
and children and young people’s community mental health 
services over the remaining period of the NHS Long Term 
Plan. The wider aims of this review were to tackle inequalities, 
reduce inequity within and across boroughs, and ensure that 
future resource allocation is based on mental health need, with 
a consistent offer across North West London. Specifically to 
address the requirement that mental health services be better 
aligned to the needs of the population, to: (1) Improve 
outcomes in population health and healthcare; (2) Tackle 
inequalities in outcomes, experience and access; (3) Enhance 
productivity and value for money; and (4) Help the NHS 
support broader social and economic development. 

 

P
age 224

P
age 224



 
 

 
The review was based in investment made by the then eight 
CCGs in 2019/20 and showed that overall investment had 
been higher in inner boroughs on total investment, and on a 
per head of population (weighted by need); but a simple 
inner/outer borough narrative on investment masked service-
level variation. 
 
Variation existed both in terms of £ per person, as well as 
proportional split of funding across services (NB: the review 
did not account for any local authority funding). 
 
The review highlighted that an isolated view on investment did 
not take account of service provision, workforce or outcomes, 
and in particular need. To fully understand this picture would 
require more detailed analysis at a team level and that wide 
scale reapportionment based on a simple funding gap formula 
was not advocated. Further to this, the levers of a single ICS, 
enabled by a maturing provider collaborative offered routes to 
address this level of investment variability, also factoring in 
workforce, outcomes and service models. 
 
Looking ahead to 2023/24, and since the establishment of a 
North West London ICB, investment into mental health 
services is not formally reported on a borough (or previous 8 
CCG) footprint however, this will be provided following 
finalised agreement. Work is underway to detail how the 
recurrent £30.35m  
Is invested at a borough and service level. This will be in line 
with North West London’s financial strategy, which specifically, 
for mental health services means that the investment will: 

• Improve access and target investment to those 
communities with highest need; 

• Improve activity reporting, to understand the cost base 
and improve efficiency; 

• Reduce the cost of, and reliance on, treating patients 
outside North West London; and 

• Reduce service duplication by working as a system. 

P
age 225

P
age 225



 
 

 

Information 
Request 

To receive details on how the move 
towards community based mental health 
care will impact residents, referencing 
results from integrated impact 
assessments undertaken. 

Work is underway to refine North West London’s mental health 
strategy, in particular, continuing the shift to community based 
models of care and investing in alternatives to admission. Our 
aim across North West London ICS is, and always will be, to 
ensure that we provide the highest quality, compassionate, 
trauma-informed and most appropriate mental health care for 
people who need it across our boroughs. This includes 
inpatient facilities that meet modern standards of acute mental 
health care, supporting patient dignity and privacy, with ease 
of access where required. We follow the principle that mental 
health care should be in the least restrictive setting and acute 
inpatient care should always be an absolute last resort. 
 
In order to achieve this vision, North West London ICS 
maintains a focus on the following principles: 

1) Continuing the shift to community based models of 
care and investing in alternatives to admission; 

2) Ensuring a person-centred therapeutic environment 
and experience when an admission is needed, to 
enable reducing length of stay to the national average, 
and positive outcomes e.g. no readmissions; 

3) Eliminating adult acute inappropriate out of area 
placements; and 

4) Ensuring high quality estate. 
 
In early 2019, North West London ICS embarked on a journey 
to significantly transform community mental health services in 
order to respond to local needs and deliver the requirements 
of the NHS Long Term Plan. As an early implementer site, 
North West London ICS launched a new model of community 
mental health care which enabled more people to receive 
personalised care in the community, closer to home. 
Significant investment has been made over the past four years 
to support the transformation of community mental health 
services across North West London. This transformation 
complements North West London’s dedication to improving 

 

P
age 226

P
age 226



 
 

 
  

the record sharing and communication channels between 
primary and secondary mental health care. 
 
As part of this journey, North West London ICS has also re-
designed its crisis services to ensure appropriate community-
based crisis care (clinical and non-clinical alternatives), and 
reduce preventable admissions to inpatient services. 
Significant investment has been made over the past four years 
to expand crisis teams to provide 24/7 assessments within the 
community, and a range of community based and Voluntary, 
Community and Social Enterprise provided crisis alternatives 
to attendance at Accident & Emergency (A&E) Departments 
and admission to inpatient care were developed, providing 
non-clinical alternatives 

Information 
Request 

To receive feedback from patients and 
carers from West London NHS Trust’s 
enhanced engagement when available. 

Ealing adult mental health beds (westlondon.nhs.uk)  

P
age 227

P
age 227

https://www.westlondon.nhs.uk/EalingMHBeds


 
 

Appendix 2: 2023/24 North West London JHOSC Recommendations and Information Requests Tracker  
 

Meeting 
Date Item 

Recommendation 
/ Information 

Request 
Detail Response Status 

Information 
Request 

For the JHOSC to receive ongoing 
updates regarding extra capital funding for 
acute beds in relation to winter pressures 

Slides around this have been shared with wider council 
colleagues, as suggested by the JHOSC in July. We should 
have some more clarity on next steps later in September.  

 

Information 
Request 

For the JHOSC to receive more detail on 
horizontal and vertical working between 
community and acute settings and how 
this is working in practice across North 
West London. With a view to reviewing 
this working at a future meeting of the 
JHOSC.  

Response is to follow.  

18 July 
2023 Acute beds 

Information 
Request 

For the JHOSC to receive updates on the 
work undertaken by Acute Trust and the 
ICS to progress the work at delayed 
hospitals in the New Hospitals 
Programme. 

Imperial College Healthcare redevelopment update - 
August 2023 

Following the concerns we raised about the delays 
announced for our schemes (at St Mary’s, Charing Cross and 
Hammersmith hospitals), we hosted a visit at St Mary’s in 
July from Lord Markham, Parliamentary Under Secretary of 
State at the Department of Health and Social Care. We were 
able to show the minister the very damaging impact of our 
failing estate on patients and staff and set out the many 
benefits of our redevelopment plans, including for the local 
and national economy. We had a good discussion about the 
work we have underway to explore the feasibility of potential 
partnership opportunities that could accelerate the St Mary’s 
redevelopment, leveraging the value of the land that will be 
surplus to requirements once we have a new hospital on a 
less sprawling footprint. We are due to meet Lord Markham 
again in early autumn to update him on the outcome of this 
work.  

We have also had significant engagement with the New 
Hospital Programme team and we are currently working 
through a process with them to test our capacity and cost 

 P
age 228

P
age 228



 
 

modelling for all three of our schemes. We are still hoping to 
complete a first stage business case for Charing Cross and 
Hammersmith this autumn and, depending on the outcome of 
the St Mary’s partnership feasibility work, to secure first stage 
business case approval for St Mary’s by the end of the year. 
While there is still much to be clarified in terms of further 
process and decision making, progressing our business 
cases has to be a priority whatever route we take. 

Meanwhile, our estates team is working hard to delay any 
further major buildings failures for as long as possible. You 
may have seen the extensive scaffolding in place at Charing 
Cross and, more recently, St Mary’s. Works include an 
extensive weather-proofing programme for our oldest 
buildings at St Mary’s, roof repairs at Charing Cross and 
essential inpatient ward refurbishments across our sites to 
ensure we are able to maintain infection prevention and 
control standards.  

We are keen to continue to share our thinking and plans as 
they evolve. We also want to engage more broadly with our 
patients and local communities as soon as we have a little 
more clarity on next steps.  
 

Ophthalmolo
gy 

Information 
Request 

For the JHOSC to receive more details on 
the ongoing engagement work related to 
the standardisation of ophthalmology 
services. 

Engagement so far has been through a series of online and 
face to face sessions, supported by surveys. 

As part of the new community service the selected provider 
will be expected to work with the Integrated Care Board in 
undertaking focussed patient engagement, looking at 
experiences of using the service and opportunities to improve 
the service to better meet the needs of all of our 
communities. 

As we further develop the standardisation, the intention is to 
work with patient representatives to co-design pathways in 
partnership with primary and secondary care clinical 

 

P
age 229

P
age 229



 
 

stakeholders. These co-design workshops will be supported 
by targeted community engagement activities where co-
designed pathways will be introduced and feedback from our 
communities gathered to support further improvements. 

These activities will commence later this year and continue 
for the duration of this contract (i.e. 3 years) 

Information 
Request 

For the JHOSC to receive more 
information on how the standardisation of 
ophthalmology services will address 
health inequalities in North West London. 

Standardisation of our ophthalmology service will support the 
drive to address health inequalities in NW London by: 

• Ensuring that there is a standard service offering 
available to all NW London residents – in particular 
this includes ensuring that all NW London residents 
have access to a community ophthalmology service 

• Ensuring that residents are able to access primary 
eye care through the large number of optical 
practices available across NW London, which will 
make it more convenient for patients to access care 

The ICS will work in partnership with all of the key 
stakeholders in our communities, bringing them together with 
colleagues from primary and secondary care and public 
health to understand how we can better support communities 
in accessing eye care. 

 

Information 
Request 

For the JHOSC to receive baseline data 
on performance in ophthalmology 
services in order to measure performance 
in North West London against national 
and London standards. With a breakdown 
by paediatric and adult ophthalmology 
service performance. 

Data will be provided for future JHOSC meetings showing 
performance of North West London ophthalmology 
benchmarked locally and regionally.   

This reporting will commence when the community 
ophthalmology service is in place and will cover the complete 
pathway from initial optician appointment through to 
secondary care access and outcome. 

 

P
age 230

P
age 230



 
 

 
 

Recommendation To ensure that diagnostic capacity across 
North West London is properly linked to 
musculoskeletal services to best benefit 
residents across North West London. 

Recommendation has been taken to Diagnostic colleagues 
and will feedback to the JHOSC in due course.  

 Musculoskel
etal (MSK) 

Information 
Request 

For the JHOSC to receive baseline 
access wait times for musculoskeletal 
services and details on how the new 
service standards will improve waiting 
times for treatment. 

This is currently being collating this as part of the Community 
wait times work. This detail isn’t available for all boroughs yet 
but it will be shared with JHOSC once ready.  

 

P
age 231

P
age 231



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 232


	Agenda
	1 Agenda attached
	Agenda
	Agenda

	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Proposals for Consultation on the North West London wider review of Palliative Care
	5.2 20230821 NW London ICS CSPC Co-designing a new, improved model of care summary
	5.3 20230821 NW London ICS CSPC Co-designing a new, improved model of care infographic
	Default Section
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: Proposed model of care for community-based specialist palliative care for North West London


	5.4 20230821 NW London ICS CSPC Co-designing a new, improved model of care

	6 Consultation Proposals on the Future of the Gordon Hospital
	7 North West London Mental Health Strategy
	8 London Joint Health Overview Scrutiny Committee Recommendations Tracker


